CROWN CASTLE INTERNATIONAL CORP Form DEFM14A October 14, 2014 Table of Contents

UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

SCHEDULE 14A

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934

(Rule 14a-101)

Filed by the Registrant x

Filed by a Party other than the Registrant "

Check the appropriate box:

- " Preliminary Proxy Statement
- " Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2))
- x Definitive Proxy Statement
- " Definitive Additional Materials
- " Soliciting Material Pursuant to §240.14a-12

CROWN CASTLE INTERNATIONAL CORP.

(Name of Registrant as Specified In Its Charter)

(Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if other than the Registrant)

Payment of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):

X	No fee required.		
	Fee computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11.		
	(1)	Title of each class of securities to which transaction applies:	
	(2)	Aggregate number of securities to which transaction applies:	
	(3)	Per unit price or other underlying value of transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (set forth the amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it was determined):	
	(4)	Proposed maximum aggregate value of transaction:	
	(5)	Total fee paid:	
	Fee	paid previously with preliminary materials.	
	Check box if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the filing fo which the offsetting fee was paid previously. Identify the previous filing by registration statement number, or the form or schedule and the date of its filing.		
	(1)	Amount Previously Paid:	
	(2)	Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:	

(3) Filing Party:

(4) Date Filed:

October 14, 2014

To the holders of our common stock and, for informational purposes only, to the holders of our 4.50% Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock:

I am pleased to invite you to attend a special meeting of stockholders of Crown Castle International Corp., a Delaware corporation, or Crown Castle, which will be held on November 19, 2014 at 9:00 a.m., local time, at 1220 Augusta Drive, Suite 600, Houston, Texas 77057.

In September 2013, Crown Castle announced that it was commencing the steps necessary to qualify as a real estate investment trust, or REIT, for the taxable year beginning January 1, 2014. Prior to commencing its operations as a REIT, Crown Castle completed the steps necessary in order to operate in compliance with the REIT rules. We refer to the completion of these steps and the commencement of Crown Castle s operations as a REIT as the REIT conversion. Effective January 1, 2014, Crown Castle began operating as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

Although the REIT rules do not require the completion of the merger described below, we intend to complete the merger to facilitate our continued compliance with the REIT rules by ensuring the effective adoption of certain charter provisions that implement REIT-related ownership limitations and transfer restrictions related to our capital stock, subject to approval by the holders of Crown Castle common stock. In the merger, Crown Castle will merge with and into Crown Castle REIT Inc., a Delaware corporation, or CCR, and wholly owned subsidiary of Crown Castle, which was recently formed for the purpose of the merger. Effective at the time of the merger, CCR will be renamed Crown Castle International Corp. and will succeed to the assets, continue the business and assume the obligations of Crown Castle. In the merger, holders of Crown Castle common stock will receive a number of shares of CCR common stock equal to, and in exchange for, the number of shares of Crown Castle common stock such holders own. The holders of Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock will receive a number of shares of CCR Convertible Preferred Stock equal to, and in exchange for, the number of shares of Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock such holders own. We expect that, immediately following the completion of the merger, shares of CCR common stock will trade on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol CCI and that shares of CCR Convertible Preferred Stock will trade on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol CCI-PRA .

The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of common stock entitled to vote thereon is required for the adoption of the agreement and plan of merger, or the merger agreement. The holders of our Convertible Preferred Stock do not have the right to vote on the proposal to adopt the merger agreement and this proxy statement/prospectus is being mailed to such holders for informational purposes only. After careful consideration, on August 7, 2014, the board of directors, on a unanimous basis, approved and declared to be advisable the merger agreement, and hereby recommends that all holders of Crown Castle common stock entitled to vote thereon vote FOR the adoption of the merger agreement.

This proxy statement/prospectus is a prospectus of CCR as well as a proxy statement for Crown Castle and provides you with detailed information about the REIT conversion, the merger and the special meeting. We encourage you to carefully read this entire proxy statement/prospectus, including all its annexes and the documents referred to

as incorporated by reference into this proxy statement/prospectus, and we especially encourage you to read the section entitled <u>Risk Factors</u> beginning on page 17.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of the securities to be issued by CCR under this proxy statement/prospectus or passed upon the adequacy or accuracy of this proxy statement/prospectus. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

This proxy statement/prospectus is dated October 14, 2014 and is being first mailed to stockholders on or about October 15, 2014.

Sincerely,

J. Landis Martin

Chairman of the Board

NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

Wednesday, November 19, 2014

9:00 a.m.

1220 Augusta Drive, Suite 600

Houston, Texas 77057

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that a special meeting of stockholders of Crown Castle International Corp., a Delaware corporation, or Crown Castle, will be held on November 19, 2014 at 9:00 a.m., local time, at 1220 Augusta Drive, Suite 600, Houston, Texas 77057, for the following purposes:

- 1. to consider and vote upon a proposal to adopt the Agreement and Plan of Merger dated September 19, 2014 (as it may be amended from time to time), or the merger agreement, between Crown Castle and Crown Castle REIT Inc., a newly formed wholly owned subsidiary of Crown Castle, which is being implemented in connection with Crown Castle s conversion to a real estate investment trust, or REIT; and
- 2. to consider and vote upon a proposal to approve the adjournment of the special meeting, if necessary, to solicit additional proxies if there are not sufficient votes at the time of the special meeting to approve the proposal to adopt the merger agreement.

On August 7, 2014, the board of directors of Crown Castle approved and declared to be advisable the merger agreement, and hereby recommends that you vote FOR the proposals that are described in more detail in this proxy statement/prospectus.

Crown Castle reserves the right to cancel or defer the merger, even if the holders of Crown Castle common stock vote to adopt the merger agreement and the other conditions to the completion of the merger are satisfied or waived, if the board of directors of Crown Castle determines that the merger is no longer in the best interests of Crown Castle and its stockholders.

If you are a holder of record of Crown Castle common stock as of the close of business on October 6, 2014, the record date, you are entitled to notice of, and to vote those shares by proxy or at, the special meeting and at any adjournment or postponement of the special meeting. During the ten-day period before the special meeting, Crown Castle will keep a list of holders of Crown Castle common stock entitled to vote at the special meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof available for inspection during normal business hours at Crown Castle s offices in Houston, Texas, for any purpose germane to the special meeting. The list of holders of Crown Castle common stock will also be provided and kept at the location of the special meeting for the duration of the special meeting, and may be inspected by any holder of Crown Castle common stock who is present.

The holders of record of Crown Castle s Convertible Preferred Stock as of the record date are entitled to notice of the special meeting, but are not entitled to vote on the proposals at the special meeting and this proxy statement/prospectus is being mailed to such holders for informational purposes only.

Your vote is important. Whether or not you, as a holder of Crown Castle common stock, plan to attend the special meeting in person, please complete, sign, date and promptly return the enclosed proxy card in the enclosed envelope. You may also authorize a proxy to vote your shares by telephone or over the Internet as described in your proxy card. Holders of Crown Castle common stock who return proxy cards by mail or submit a proxy by telephone or over the Internet prior to the special meeting may nevertheless attend the special meeting, revoke their proxies and vote their shares at the special meeting.

We encourage you to read the attached proxy statement/prospectus carefully. If you have any questions or need assistance voting your shares, please call our proxy solicitor, Georgeson Inc., toll-free at (888) 658-3624.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

Donald J. Reid *Corporate Secretary*

Houston, Texas

October 14, 2014

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

This proxy statement/prospectus incorporates important business and financial information about Crown Castle International Corp. from other documents that are not included in or delivered with this proxy statement/prospectus. This information is available to you without charge upon your request. You can obtain the documents incorporated by reference into this proxy statement/prospectus by requesting them in writing or by telephone from Crown Castle, or Georgeson Inc., Crown Castle s proxy solicitor, at the following addresses and telephone numbers, as applicable:

Crown Castle International Corp.

Georgeson Inc.

1220 Augusta Drive

480 Washington Boulevard

Suite 600

26th Floor

Houston, Texas 77057

Jersey City, NJ 07310

(713) 570-3000

(888) 658-3624

Attn: Investor Relations

Crown Castle s filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, are also available through the investor relations section of Crown Castle s website at http://investor.crowncastle.com. Except for documents incorporated by reference into this proxy statement/prospectus, no information in, or that can be accessed through, Crown Castle s website is incorporated by reference into this proxy statement/prospectus, and no such information should be considered a part of this proxy statement/prospectus.

If you would like to request any documents, please do so by November 12, 2014 in order to receive them before the special meeting.

For more information, see the section entitled Where You Can Find More Information .

i

ABOUT THIS PROXY STATEMENT/PROSPECTUS

This proxy statement/prospectus constitutes a proxy statement of Crown Castle and has been mailed to you because you were a holder of Crown Castle common stock on the record date set by the board of directors of Crown Castle and were entitled to notice of a special meeting of Crown Castle stockholders or, for informational purposes only, because you were a holder of Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock on the record date. Only holders of Crown Castle common stock as of the record date are being asked to consider and vote at the special meeting upon the proposal to adopt the merger agreement and the proposal to approve the adjournment of the special meeting, if necessary, to solicit additional proxies if there are not sufficient votes at the time of the special meeting to approve the proposal to adopt the merger agreement. This proxy statement/prospectus also constitutes a prospectus of CCR, which is part of the registration statement on Form S-4 filed by CCR to register with the SEC the CCR common stock and the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock that holders of Crown Castle common stock and holders of Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock, respectively, will receive in connection with the merger if the merger agreement is adopted and the merger is completed. Accordingly, this proxy statement/prospectus is also being mailed for informational purposes only to holders of Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock.

You should rely only on the information contained in or incorporated by reference in this proxy statement/prospectus. We have not authorized anyone to provide you with additional or different information. We are not making an offer to exchange or sell (or soliciting any offer to buy) any securities, or soliciting any proxy, in any jurisdiction where it is unlawful to do so. You should assume that the information contained in this proxy statement/prospectus is accurate only as of the date on the front of this proxy statement/prospectus and that any information we have incorporated by reference is accurate only as of the date of the document incorporated by reference. Our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may have changed since these dates.

This proxy statement/prospectus does not contain all of the information set forth in the registration statement and the exhibits thereto. For further information with respect to CCR and the CCR common stock and the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock to be issued in connection with the merger, reference is made to the registration statement, including the exhibits thereto. See the section entitled Where You Can Find More Information .

When used in this proxy statement/prospectus, unless otherwise specifically stated or the context otherwise requires, the terms:

Company, Crown Castle, CCIC, we, our and us refer to Crown Castle and its subsidiaries with respection prior to the merger, and to CCR and its subsidiaries, including the taxable REIT subsidiaries, with respect to the period after the merger;

stockholders refers to the holders of Crown Castle capital stock with respect to the period prior to the merger, and to the holders of CCR capital stock with respect to the period after the merger;

common stock refers to Crown Castle common stock with respect to the period prior to the merger, and to CCR common stock with respect to the period after the merger;

Convertible Preferred Stock refers to 4.50% Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, Series A, par value \$0.01 per share, of Crown Castle with respect to the period prior to the merger, and to 4.50% Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, Series A, par value \$0.01 per share, of CCR with respect to the period after the merger; and

CCUSA and in the U.S. refer to our CCUSA segment and CCAL and in Australia refer to our CCAL segment.

As used herein, the term including and any variation thereof, means including without limitation. The use of the word or herein is not exclusive.

ii

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

The statements contained in, or incorporated by reference in, this proxy statement/prospectus include certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 with respect to the financial condition, results of operations, business strategies, operating efficiencies or synergies, competitive positions, growth opportunities for existing products, plans and objectives of management, markets for our stock and other matters that are based on management s expectations as of the filing date of this proxy statement/prospectus with the SEC. Statements contained in, or incorporated by reference in, this proxy statement/prospectus that are not historical facts are hereby identified as forward-looking statements for the purpose of the safe harbor provided by Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which we refer to as the Exchange Act, and Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, which we refer to as the Securities Act. In addition, words such as estimate, anticipate, project, plan, intend, believe, expect, likely, predicted, any variations of similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements include plans, projections and estimates and are found at various places throughout this proxy statement/prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference herein. Such forward-looking statements include (1) expectations regarding anticipated growth in the wireless communication industry, carriers investments in their networks, new tenant additions, non-renewals of customer contracts, including the impact of Sprint decommissioning its iDEN network, customer consolidation or ownership changes, or demand for our wireless infrastructure, (2) availability and adequacy of cash flows and liquidity for, or plans regarding, future discretionary investments including capital expenditures, (3) potential benefits of our discretionary investments, (4) anticipated growth in our future revenues, margins, Adjusted EBITDA and operating cash flows, (5) expectations regarding our capital structure and the credit markets, our availability and cost of capital or our ability to service our debt and comply with debt covenants and the benefits of any future refinancings, (6) expectations for sustaining capital expenditures, (7) the potential advantages, benefits or impact of, or opportunities created by, our REIT status, (8) our intention to pursue certain steps and corporate actions in connection with our REIT conversion, including our future inclusion of REIT-related ownership limitations and transfer restrictions related to our capital stock, including pursuant to the transactions described in this proxy statement/prospectus and (9) our dividend policy, including the timing, amount or growth of any dividends.

These forward-looking statements should, therefore, be considered in light of various risks, uncertainties, assumptions and other important factors, including those set forth or incorporated by reference in this proxy statement/prospectus. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from estimates or projections contained in the forward-looking statements include those factors described in the sections entitled Risk Factors beginning on page 17 of this proxy statement/prospectus and page 7 in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013, as updated by annual, quarterly and other reports and documents we file with the SEC, and that are incorporated by reference herein. Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary materially from those expected. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this proxy statement/prospectus or the date of the other documents incorporated by reference herein. Readers also should understand that it is not possible to predict or identify all such factors and that the risk factors as listed herein and in our filings incorporated by reference herein should not be considered a complete statement of all potential risks and uncertainties.

iii

Table of Contents

TABLE OF CONTENTS

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE REIT CONVERSION AND THE MERGER	Page 1
STRUCTURE OF THE TRANSACTION	9
SUMMARY	10
RISK FACTORS	17
VOTING AND PROXIES	28
BACKGROUND OF THE REIT CONVERSION AND THE MERGER	31
OUR REASONS FOR THE REIT CONVERSION AND THE MERGER	33
TERMS OF THE MERGER	35
DIVIDEND POLICY	39
OUR BUSINESS	40
POLICIES WITH RESPECT TO CERTAIN ACTIVITIES	50
REPORT OF CROWN CASTLE REIT INC. S INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM	53
CROWN CASTLE REIT INC. BALANCE SHEET	54
CROWN CASTLE REIT INC. NOTE TO THE BALANCE SHEET	55
SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA	56
MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS	58
DESCRIPTION OF CCR CAPITAL STOCK	85
COMPARISON OF RIGHTS OF STOCKHOLDERS OF CROWN CASTLE AND CCR	113
MATERIAL UNITED STATES FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS	114
LEGAL MATTERS	134
<u>EXPERTS</u>	134
PROPOSALS OF STOCKHOLDERS	135
WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION	136
ANNEX A: AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER	A-1
ANNEX B-1: FORM OF AMENDED AND RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION OF CROWN CASTLE REIT INC.	B1-1
ANNEX B-2: FORM OF AMENDED AND RESTATED BY-LAWS OF CROWN CASTLE REIT INC.	B2-1
ANNEX B-3: FORM OF CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATIONS OF 4.50% MANDATORY CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK, SERIES A, OF CROWN CASTLE REIT INC.	B3-1

12

iv

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE REIT CONVERSION AND THE MERGER

What follows are questions that you, as a stockholder of Crown Castle, may have regarding the REIT conversion, the merger and the special meeting of stockholders, which we refer to as the special meeting, and the answers to those questions. You are urged to carefully read this proxy statement/prospectus in its entirety because the information in this section may not provide all of the information that might be important to you with respect to the REIT conversion, the merger and the special meeting. Additional important information is contained in the annexes to, and the documents incorporated by reference into, this proxy statement/prospectus.

Crown Castle has taken all of the required steps necessary for the REIT conversion and commenced operating as a REIT effective January 1, 2014. Although the REIT rules do not require the completion of the merger, we intend to complete the merger to facilitate our continued compliance with the REIT rules by ensuring the effective adoption of the charter provisions that implement REIT-related ownership limitations and transfer restrictions related to our capital stock, subject to approval by the holders of Crown Castle common stock.

Q. What will happen in the merger?

A. Crown Castle will merge with and into CCR, a newly formed Delaware corporation that is wholly owned by Crown Castle. CCR will be the surviving entity in the merger and will succeed to the assets, continue the business and assume the obligations of Crown Castle. We refer to this transaction in this proxy statement/prospectus as the merger. Although the REIT rules do not require the completion of the merger, we intend to complete the merger, subject to approval by the holders of Crown Castle common stock, to facilitate our continued compliance with such rules, which, among other requirements, prohibit more than 50% of our capital stock from being owned by five or fewer individuals and require our capital stock to be beneficially owned by 100 or more persons, during certain periods of the taxable year. By merging Crown Castle with and into CCR, whose charter includes REIT-related provisions limiting the ownership and restricting the transfer of our capital stock, we will ensure the effective adoption of such provisions and facilitate our continued compliance with the REIT rules.

As a consequence of the merger:

the outstanding shares of common stock of Crown Castle, par value \$0.01 per share, which we refer to as the Crown Castle common stock, will convert into the same number of shares of common stock of CCR, par value \$0.01 per share, which we refer to as the CCR common stock;

the outstanding shares of Crown Castle s 4.50% Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, Series A, par value \$0.01 per share, which we refer to as the Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock, will convert into the same number of shares of CCR s 4.50% Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock of CCR, Series A, par value \$0.01 per share, which we refer to as the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock;

the existing board of directors and executive officers of Crown Castle immediately prior to the merger will be the board of directors and executive officers, respectively, of CCR immediately following the merger, and each director and executive officer will continue his or her directorship or employment, as the case may be,

with CCR under the same terms as his or her directorship or employment with Crown Castle;

effective at the time of the merger, CCR will be renamed Crown Castle International Corp. and will become the publicly traded New York Stock Exchange listed company that will succeed to the assets, continue the business and assume the obligations of Crown Castle;

the rights of the holders of CCR common stock will be governed by the amended and restated certificate of incorporation of CCR, which we refer to as the CCR Charter, and the amended and restated by-laws of CCR, which we refer to as the CCR By-Laws. The rights of holders of CCR Convertible Preferred Stock will be governed by the CCR Charter, the CCR By-Laws and Certificate of

1

Designations of 4.50% Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, Series A, of Crown Castle REIT Inc., which we refer to as the CCR Certificate of Designations. The CCR Charter is substantially similar to Crown Castle s amended and restated certificate of incorporation, which we refer to as the Crown Castle Charter, except that the CCR Charter includes REIT-related ownership limitations and transfer restrictions related to CCR capital stock to facilitate our continued compliance with the REIT rules. These ownership limitations and transfer restrictions could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a transaction or a change in control of us that might involve a premium price for our capital stock or otherwise be in the best interests of our stockholders. The CCR By-Laws and CCR Certificate of Designations are substantially similar to the amended and restated by-laws of Crown Castle, which we refer to as the Crown Castle By-Laws, and the Certificate of Designations of 4.50% Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, Series A, of Crown Castle International Corp., which we refer to as the Crown Castle Certificate of Designations, respectively;

there will be no change in the assets we hold or in the business we conduct; and

there will be no fundamental change to our discretionary capital allocation strategy or current operational strategy.

We have attached to this proxy statement/prospectus a copy of the merger agreement as Annex A, a copy of the form of the CCR Charter as Annex B-1, a copy of the form of the CCR By-Laws as Annex B-2 and a copy of the form of the CCR Certificate of Designations as Annex B-3.

Q. When and where is the special meeting?

A. The special meeting will be held on November 19, 2014 at 9:00 a.m., local time, at 1220 Augusta Drive, Suite 600, Houston, Texas 77057.

Q. Who can vote at the special meeting?

A. If you are a holder of record of Crown Castle common stock at the close of business on October 6, 2014, you may vote the shares of common stock that you hold on the record date at the special meeting. On or about October 15, 2014, we will begin mailing this proxy statement/prospectus to all persons entitled to notice of the special meeting.

The holders of record of Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock as of the record date are entitled to notice of the special meeting, but are not entitled to vote on the proposals at the special meeting and this proxy statement/prospectus is being mailed to such holders for informational purposes only.

Q. What will I be voting on at the special meeting?

A.

As a holder of Crown Castle common stock, you are entitled to, and requested to, vote on the proposal to adopt the merger agreement pursuant to which Crown Castle will be merged with and into CCR, a wholly owned subsidiary of Crown Castle, with CCR as the surviving entity. In addition, you are requested to vote on the proposal to approve the adjournment of the special meeting, if necessary, to solicit additional proxies if there are not sufficient votes at the time of the special meeting to approve the proposal to adopt the merger agreement. You are not being asked to vote on any element of the REIT conversion, which became effective for the taxable year beginning January 1, 2014 and was not conditioned upon stockholder approval of the merger.

Q. Why is my vote important?

A. If you, as a holder of Crown Castle common stock, do not submit a proxy or vote in person at the meeting, it will be more difficult for us to obtain the necessary quorum to hold the special meeting. In addition, your failure to submit a proxy or to vote in person will have the same effect as a vote against the adoption of the

2

merger agreement. If you hold your shares through a broker, bank or other nominee, your broker, bank or other nominee will not be able to cast a vote on the adoption of the merger agreement without instructions from you. Failure to provide voting instructions to your broker, bank or other nominee will have the same effect as a vote against adoption of the merger agreement.

Q. What constitutes a quorum for the special meeting?

A. A majority of the voting power of the outstanding shares of common stock entitled to vote at the special meeting, represented in person or by proxy, constitutes a quorum for the meeting.

Q. What vote is required?

A. The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of common stock entitled to vote thereon is required for the adoption of the merger agreement. The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the voting power of the shares of common stock present in person or represented by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote thereon is required to approve the adjournment of the special meeting, if necessary, to solicit additional proxies if there are not sufficient votes at the time of the special meeting to approve the proposal to adopt the merger agreement. As of the close of business on the record date, there were 333,859,388 shares of common stock outstanding and entitled to vote at the special meeting. Each share of outstanding common stock on the record date is entitled to one vote on each proposal submitted to you for consideration.

Q. How do I vote without attending the special meeting?

A. If you are a holder of common stock on the record date, you may cause your shares to be voted by completing, signing and promptly returning the proxy card in the self-addressed stamped envelope provided. You may also authorize a proxy to vote your shares by telephone or over the Internet as described in your proxy card. Authorizing a proxy by telephone or over the Internet or by mailing a proxy card will not limit your right to attend the special meeting and vote your shares in person. Those holders of Crown Castle common stock as of the record date who choose to submit a proxy by telephone or over the Internet must do so no later than 11:59 p.m., Eastern Time, on November 18, 2014.

If your shares are held by a broker, bank or other nominee, please follow the voting instructions provided by your bank, broker or other nominee to ensure that your shares are represented at the special meeting.

Q. Can I attend the special meeting and vote my shares in person?

A. Yes. All stockholders are invited to attend the special meeting. Holders of record of Crown Castle common stock at the close of business on the record date are invited to attend and vote at the special meeting. If your shares are held by a broker, bank or other nominee, then you are not the holder of record. Therefore, to vote at the special meeting, you must bring the appropriate documentation from your broker, bank or other nominee confirming

your beneficial ownership of the shares.

- Q. If my shares are held in street name by my broker, bank or other nominee, will my broker, bank or other nominee vote my shares for me without my instruction?
- A. No. If your shares are held in street name by your broker, bank or other nominee, you should follow the directions provided by your broker, bank or other nominee. Your broker, bank or other nominee will vote your shares *only* if you provide instructions on how you would like your shares to be voted. Failure to provide voting instructions to your broker, bank or other nominee will have the same effect as a vote against adoption of the merger agreement.

3

Q. Can I change my vote after I have mailed my signed proxy card?

A. Yes. You can change your vote at any time before your proxy is voted at the special meeting. To revoke your proxy, you must either (1) timely notify the secretary of Crown Castle in writing, (2) timely mail a new proxy card dated after the date of the proxy you wish to revoke, (3) timely submit a later dated proxy, by telephone or over the Internet by following the instructions on your proxy card or (4) attend the special meeting and vote your shares in person. Merely attending the special meeting will not constitute revocation of your proxy. If your shares are held through a broker, bank or other nominee, you should contact your broker, bank or other nominee to change your vote.

Q. Who will be the board of directors and executive officers after the merger?

A. The existing board of directors and executive officers of Crown Castle immediately prior to the merger will be the board of directors and executive officers, respectively, of CCR immediately following the merger, and each director and executive officer will continue his or her directorship or employment, as the case may be, with CCR under the same terms as his or her directorship or employment with Crown Castle.

Q. Do any of our directors and executive officers have any interests in the merger that are different from mine?

A. No. Our directors and executive officers own shares of our common stock, restricted stock awards and restricted stock units and, to that extent, their interest in the merger is the same as that of the other holders of shares of our common stock, restricted stock awards and restricted stock units.

Q. Will I have to pay U.S. federal income taxes as a result of the merger?

A. No. You will not recognize gain or loss for U.S. federal income tax purposes as a result of the exchange of shares of Crown Castle common stock for shares of CCR common stock or shares of Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock for CCR Convertible Preferred Stock in the merger. However, if we are not a domestically controlled qualified investment entity—within the meaning of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, and you are a non-U.S. person who owns or has owned more than 5% of the outstanding Crown Castle common stock or Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock, it may be necessary for you to comply with reporting and other requirements of the Treasury regulations in order to achieve nonrecognition of gain on the exchange of Crown Castle common stock for CCR common stock or the exchange of Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock in the merger.

The U.S. federal income tax treatment of holders of Crown Castle common stock, CCR common stock, Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock and CCR Convertible Preferred Stock depends in some instances on determinations of fact and interpretations of complex provisions of U.S. federal income tax law for which no clear precedent or authority may be available. In addition, the tax consequences to any particular holder of Crown Castle common stock, CCR common stock, Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock or CCR Convertible Preferred Stock will depend on that holder s particular tax circumstances. We urge you to consult your tax advisor, particularly if you are a non-U.S.

person, regarding the specific tax consequences, including the federal, state, local and foreign tax consequences, to you in light of your particular investment in, or the tax circumstances of acquiring, holding, exchanging or otherwise disposing of, Crown Castle common stock, CCR common stock, Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock or CCR Convertible Preferred Stock.

Q. Am I entitled to appraisal rights?

A. No. Under Delaware law, you are not entitled to any statutory appraisal rights in connection with the merger.

4

Q. How does the board of directors recommend I vote on the merger proposal?

A. The board of directors of Crown Castle believes that the merger is advisable and in the best interests of Crown Castle and its stockholders. The board of directors unanimously recommends that you vote FOR the adoption of the merger agreement.

Q. When is the merger expected to be completed?

A. We expect to complete the merger no later than December 31, 2014. However, we reserve the right to cancel or defer the merger, even if the holders of Crown Castle common stock vote to adopt the merger agreement and the other conditions to the completion of the merger are satisfied or waived, if the board of directors determines that the merger is no longer in the best interests of Crown Castle and its stockholders.

Q. When was the REIT conversion effective?

A. We commenced operating as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes, effective January 1, 2014. You are not being asked to vote on the REIT conversion and the REIT conversion was not contingent upon stockholder approval of the merger.

Q. What actions were necessary for Crown Castle to elect REIT status?

A. In September 2013, Crown Castle announced that it was commencing the steps necessary to qualify as a REIT for the taxable year beginning January 1, 2014. Prior to commencing its operations as a REIT, Crown Castle completed the steps necessary in order to operate in compliance with the REIT rules. We refer to the completion of these steps and the commencement of Crown Castle s operations as a REIT as the REIT conversion.

In connection with the REIT conversion, our small cell operations are currently conducted through one or more taxable REIT subsidiaries, which we refer to as TRSs. Additionally, we have included our tower operations in Australia and certain other assets and operations in TRSs. A TRS is a subsidiary of a REIT that is treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes and may be subject to regular U.S. corporate taxes on its taxable income. Please see the section entitled Material United States Federal Income Tax Considerations Taxation as a REIT Effect of Subsidiary Entities Taxable REIT Subsidiaries beginning on page 119 for a more detailed description of the requirements and limitations regarding our use of TRSs.

Effective January 1, 2014, Crown Castle commenced operations as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. You are not being asked to vote on the REIT conversion. You are being asked to vote on the merger agreement described below.

O. What is a REIT?

A. A REIT is a company that qualifies for special treatment for U.S. federal income tax purposes because, among other things, it derives most of its income from real estate-based sources and makes a special election under the Code. Crown Castle is operating as a REIT that principally invests in, and derives most of its income from the ownership, operation and leasing of, shared wireless infrastructure.

A corporation that qualifies as a REIT will generally be entitled to a deduction for dividends that it pays and therefore will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax to the extent of such deductions.

We continue to pay U.S. federal income tax on earnings from certain assets or operations held through TRSs, which currently include our small cell business, our tower operations in Australia and certain other assets and operations. Our foreign assets and operations (including our tower operations in Puerto Rico and Australia) most likely will be subject to foreign income taxes in the jurisdictions in which such assets and operations are located, regardless of whether they are included in a TRS or not.

Q. What are our reasons for the REIT conversion?

A. We completed the REIT conversion primarily for the following anticipated benefits:

To increase long-term stockholder value: As a REIT, we believe we will be able to increase the long-term value of our common stock and benefit from a lower cost of capital compared to a regular C corporation as a result of increased cash flows and distributions;

To return capital to stockholders: We believe our stockholders will benefit from our establishment of regular cash distributions, resulting in a yield-oriented stock; and

To expand our base of potential stockholders: By becoming a company that makes regular distributions to its stockholders, our stockholder base may expand to include investors attracted by yield, which may improve the liquidity of our common stock and provide a broader stockholder base.

To review the background of, and the reasons for, the REIT conversion in greater detail, and the related risks, see the sections entitled Background of the REIT Conversion and the Merger beginning on page 31. Our Reasons for the REIT Conversion and the Merger beginning on page 33 and Risk Factors beginning on page 17.

Q. What are our reasons for the merger?

A. Although the REIT rules do not require the completion of the merger, we intend to complete the merger, subject to approval by the holders of Crown Castle common stock, to facilitate our continued compliance with such rules, which, among other requirements, prohibit more than 50% of our capital stock from being owned by five or fewer individuals and require our capital stock to be beneficially owned by 100 or more persons, during certain periods of the taxable year. By merging Crown Castle with and into CCR, whose charter includes REIT-related provisions limiting the ownership and restricting the transfer of our capital stock, we will ensure the effective adoption of such provisions and facilitate our continued compliance with the REIT rules.

To review the background of, and the reasons for, the merger in greater detail, and the related risks, see the sections entitled Background of the REIT Conversion and the Merger beginning on page 31, Our Reasons for the REIT Conversion and the Merger beginning on page 33 and Risk Factors beginning on page 17.

Q. What will I receive in connection with the merger? When will I receive it?

A. Shares of CCR common stock

At the time of the completion of the merger, holders of Crown Castle common stock will receive a number of shares of CCR common stock equal to, and in exchange for, the number of shares of Crown Castle common stock that such holders then own.

Shares of CCR Convertible Preferred Stock

At the time of the completion of the merger, the holders of Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock will receive a number of shares of CCR Convertible Preferred Stock equal to, and in exchange for, the number of shares of Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock that such holders then own.

Q. Did the REIT conversion change Crown Castle's current operational strategy?

A. The REIT conversion did not change our current strategy of translating anticipated demand for wireless infrastructure into growth in our cash flows and long-term stockholder value. We measure long-term stockholder value as the combined growth in our per share results and dividends to common stockholders. The key elements of our strategy continue to be:

Organically grow the cash flows from our wireless infrastructure. We seek to maximize the site rental cash flows derived from our wireless infrastructure by co-locating additional tenants on our wireless

6

infrastructure through long-term contracts as our customers deploy and improve their wireless networks. We seek to maximize new tenant additions or modifications of existing installations, which we collectively refer to as new tenant additions, through our focus on customer service and deployment speed. Due to the relatively fixed nature of the costs to operate our wireless infrastructure (which tend to increase at approximately the rate of inflation), we expect increases in cash rental receipts from new tenant additions and the related subsequent impact from contracted escalations to result in growth in our operating cash flows. We believe there is considerable additional future demand for our existing wireless infrastructure based on its location and the anticipated growth in the wireless communications industry. Substantially all of our wireless infrastructure can accommodate additional tenancy, either as currently constructed or with appropriate modifications to the structure, which we expect to have high incremental returns.

Allocate capital efficiently. We seek to allocate our available capital, including the net cash provided by our operating activities, in a manner that will increase long-term stockholder value, such as through the payment of dividends to common stockholders. Our historical discretionary investments have included the following (in no particular order):

purchasing shares of our common stock from time to time;

acquiring or constructing wireless infrastructure;

acquiring land interests under towers;

making improvements and structural enhancements to our existing wireless infrastructure; or

purchasing, repaying or redeeming our debt.

Our long-term strategy is based on our belief that additional demand for our wireless infrastructure will be created by the expected continued growth in the wireless communications industry, which is predominately driven by the demand for wireless data services by consumers. We believe that additional demand for wireless infrastructure will create future growth opportunities for us. We believe that such demand for our wireless infrastructure will continue, will result in organic growth of our cash flows due to new tenant additions on our existing wireless infrastructure and will create other growth opportunities for us, such as demand for new wireless infrastructure.

Q. What are some of the risks associated with the REIT conversion?

A. The risks, uncertainties and assumptions associated with our REIT conversion include:

Future dividend payments to our stockholders will reduce the availability of our cash on hand available to fund future discretionary investments, and may result in a need to incur indebtedness or issue equity

securities to fund growth opportunities. In such event, the then current economic, credit market or equity market conditions may impact the availability or cost of such financing, which could hinder our ability to grow our per share results of operations.

Qualifying and remaining qualified to be taxed as a REIT involves highly technical and complex provisions of the Code. Failure to remain qualified as a REIT would result in our inability to deduct dividends to stockholders when computing our taxable income, which would reduce our available cash.

Complying with REIT requirements, including the 90% distribution requirement, may limit our flexibility or cause us to forgo otherwise attractive opportunities, including certain discretionary investments and potential financing alternatives.

If we fail to pay scheduled dividends on the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock, in cash, common stock, or any combination of cash and common stock, we will be prohibited from paying dividends on our common stock, which may jeopardize our status as a REIT.

We have limited experience operating as a REIT. Our failure to successfully operate as a REIT may adversely affect our financial condition, cash flow, the per share trading price of our common stock or our ability to satisfy debt service obligations.

7

REIT ownership limitations and transfer restrictions may prevent or restrict you from engaging in certain transfers of our capital stock.

We could fail to qualify for taxation as a REIT as a result of limitations on our ability to declare and pay dividends to stockholders as a result of restrictive covenants in our debt instruments and the terms of our Convertible Preferred Stock.

The present U.S. federal income tax treatment of REITs is subject to change, possibly with retroactive effect, by legislative, judicial or administrative action at any time, and any such change might adversely affect our REIT status or benefits. To review the risks associated with the REIT conversion, see the sections entitled Our Reasons for the REIT Conversion and the Merger beginning on page 33 and Risk Factors beginning on page 17.

Q. What do I need to do now?

A. You should carefully read and consider the information contained in this proxy statement/prospectus, including its annexes and the documents referred to as incorporated by reference into this proxy statement/prospectus. They contain important information about what the board of directors of Crown Castle considered in evaluating and approving the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby, including the merger.

You should then complete and sign your proxy card and return it in the enclosed envelope as soon as possible so that your shares will be represented at the special meeting, or submit your proxy by telephone or over the Internet in accordance with the instructions on your proxy card. If your shares are held through a broker, bank or other nominee, you should receive a separate voting instruction form with this proxy statement/prospectus.

Q. Should I send in my stock certificates now?

A. No. After the merger is completed, holders of Crown Castle common stock will receive written instructions from the exchange agent on how to exchange their certificates representing shares of Crown Castle common stock for certificates representing shares of CCR common stock. Please do not send in your Crown Castle stock certificates with your proxy.

Q. Where will my CCR common stock and CCR Convertible Preferred Stock be publicly traded?

A. CCR will apply to list the new shares of CCR common stock and CCR Convertible Preferred Stock on the New York Stock Exchange, or the NYSE. We expect that, immediately following the completion of the merger, CCR common stock will trade under the symbol CCI and CCR Convertible Preferred Stock will trade under the symbol CCI-PRA.

Q. Will a proxy solicitor be used?

A. Yes. We have engaged Georgeson Inc. to assist in the solicitation of proxies for the special meeting and estimate we will pay Georgeson Inc. a fee of approximately \$13,000. We have also agreed to reimburse Georgeson Inc. for certain costs and expenses incurred in connection with the proxy solicitation and to indemnify Georgeson Inc. against certain losses, claims, damages, costs, fees, expenses and liabilities. In addition, our officers and employees may request the return of proxies by telephone or in person, but no additional compensation will be paid to them.

Q. Whom should I call with questions?

A. You should call Georgeson Inc., our proxy solicitor, toll-free at (888) 658-3624 with any questions about the merger, or to obtain additional copies of this proxy statement/prospectus or additional proxy cards.

8

STRUCTURE OF THE TRANSACTION

The following diagrams summarize the corporate structure of Crown Castle International Corp. before and after the merger.

- (1) A TRS is a taxable REIT subsidiary that is treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes and may be subject to regular U.S. corporate taxes on its taxable income.
- (2) A QRS is a qualified REIT subsidiary.
- (3) Recently formed for the purpose of effecting the merger.
- (4) Former stockholders of Crown Castle International Corp.
- (5) Effective at the time of the merger, Crown Castle REIT Inc. will be renamed Crown Castle International Corp.

9

SUMMARY

This summary highlights selected information from this proxy statement/prospectus and may not contain all of the information that is important to you. You are urged to carefully read this entire proxy statement/prospectus and the other documents to which this proxy statement/prospectus refers to fully understand the REIT conversion and the merger. In particular, you should read the annexes attached to this proxy statement/prospectus, including the merger agreement, which is attached as Annex A. You also should read the form of CCR Charter, attached as Annex B-1, the form of CCR By-Laws, attached as Annex B-2, and the form of CCR Certificate of Designations, attached as Annex B-3, because these documents will govern your rights as a holder of CCR common stock or a holder of CCR Convertible Preferred Stock following the merger, as applicable. See the section entitled Where You Can Find More Information in this proxy statement/prospectus. For a discussion of the risk factors that you should carefully consider, see the section entitled Risk Factors beginning on page 17. Most items in this summary include a page reference directing you to a more complete description of that item.

Crown Castle has taken all of the required steps necessary for the REIT conversion and commenced operating as a REIT effective January 1, 2014.

The Companies

Crown Castle International Corp.

1220 Augusta Drive, Suite 600

Houston, Texas 77057

(713) 570-3000

Crown Castle owns, operates and leases shared wireless infrastructure, including: (1) towers and other structures, such as rooftops, which we collectively refer to as towers, and to a lesser extent, (2) distributed antenna systems, or DAS, a type of small cell network, or small cells, and (3) interests in land under third party towers in various forms, which we refer to as third party land interests. Unless the context otherwise suggests or requires, references herein to wireless infrastructure include towers, small cells and third party land interests. As of June 30, 2014, we owned, leased or managed approximately 40,000 towers in the United States, including Puerto Rico, which we collectively refer to as the U.S., and approximately 1,800 towers in Australia. As of June 30, 2014, we owned, including fee interests and perpetual easements, land and other property interests, including rooftops, which we collectively refer to as land, on which approximately one-third of our site rental gross margin is derived, and we leased, subleased, managed or licensed the land interests on which approximately two-thirds of our site rental gross margin is derived. Our customers include many of the world s major wireless communication companies, including Sprint, AT&T, T-Mobile and Verizon Wireless in the U.S., and Telstra, Optus and a joint venture between Vodafone and Hutchison in Australia.

Our core business is providing access, including space or capacity, to our towers, and to a lesser extent, to our small cells and third party land interests, which we refer to as our site rental business, via long-term contracts in various forms, including license, sublease and lease agreements, which we collectively refer to as contracts. Our wireless infrastructure can accommodate multiple customers for antennas and other equipment necessary for the transmission of signals for wireless communication devices. We seek to increase our site rental revenues by adding more tenants on our wireless infrastructure, which we expect to result in significant incremental cash flows due to our relatively fixed operating costs. Site rental revenues represented approximately 83% of our consolidated net revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2014.

Our tower portfolios consist primarily of towers in various metropolitan areas. As of June 30, 2014, approximately 56% and 71% of our towers in the U.S. were located in the 50 and 100 largest U.S. basic trading areas, respectively, with a significant presence in each of the top 100 U.S. basic trading areas.

10

As part of our effort to provide comprehensive wireless infrastructure solutions, we offer certain network services relating to our wireless infrastructure, consisting of customer equipment installation or subsequent augmentations, which we collectively refer to as installation services, and additional site development services relating to existing or new antenna installations on our wireless infrastructure.

Crown Castle REIT Inc.

1220 Augusta Drive, Suite 600

Houston, Texas 77057

(713) 570-3000

Crown Castle REIT Inc. is a wholly owned subsidiary of Crown Castle and was organized in Delaware on May 27, 2014. Effective at the time of the merger described below, CCR will be renamed Crown Castle International Corp. Prior to the merger, CCR will conduct no business other than that incident to the merger. Following the merger, CCR will succeed to the assets, continue the business and assume the obligations of Crown Castle.

General

In September 2013, Crown Castle announced that it was commencing the steps necessary to qualify as a REIT for the taxable year beginning January 1, 2014. Prior to commencing its operations as a REIT, Crown Castle completed the steps necessary in order to operate in compliance with the REIT rules. We refer to the completion of these steps and the commencement of Crown Castle s operations as a REIT as the REIT conversion. Effective January 1, 2014, Crown Castle began operating as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

Although the REIT rules do not require the completion of the merger, we intend to complete the merger, subject to approval by the holders of Crown Castle common stock, to facilitate our continued compliance with such rules, which, among other requirements, prohibit more than 50% of our capital stock from being owned by five or fewer individuals and require our capital stock to be beneficially owned by 100 or more persons, during certain periods of the taxable year. By merging Crown Castle with and into CCR, whose charter includes REIT-related provisions limiting the ownership and restricting the transfer of our capital stock, we will ensure the effective adoption of such provisions and facilitate our continued compliance with the REIT rules. Effective at the time of the merger, CCR will be renamed Crown Castle International Corp. and will succeed to the assets, continue the business and assume the obligations of Crown Castle. As a REIT, CCR will generally be entitled to a deduction for dividends that it pays and therefore will not be subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax on its net taxable income that is distributed to its stockholders. This treatment substantially eliminates the federal double taxation, or taxation once at the corporate level and again at the stockholder level, that generally results from investment in a regular C corporation. However, as explained more fully below, we continue to pay U.S. federal income tax on earnings from certain assets or operations held through TRSs, which currently include our small cell business, our tower operations in Australia and certain other assets and operations. Our foreign assets and operations (including our tower operations in Puerto Rico and Australia) most likely will be subject to foreign income taxes in the jurisdictions in which such assets and operations are located, regardless of whether they are included in a TRS or not.

We are distributing this proxy statement/prospectus to the holders of common stock in connection with the solicitation of proxies by the board of directors for the approval of the proposal to adopt the merger agreement and the proposal to approve the adjournment of the special meeting, if necessary, to solicit additional proxies if there are not sufficient votes at the time of the special meeting to approve the proposal to adopt the merger agreement. This proxy

statement/prospectus is also being distributed for informational purposes only, to the holders of Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock. A copy of the merger agreement is attached to this proxy statement/prospectus as Annex A.

Crown Castle s board of directors reserves the right to cancel or defer the merger, even if holders of Crown Castle common stock vote to adopt the merger agreement and the other conditions to the completion of the merger are satisfied or waived, if it determines that the merger is no longer in the best interests of Crown Castle and its stockholders.

Board of Directors and Executive Officers of CCR

The existing board of directors and executive officers of Crown Castle immediately prior to the merger will be the board of directors and executive officers, respectively, of CCR immediately following the merger, and each director and executive officer will continue his or her directorship or employment, as the case may be, with CCR under the same terms as his or her directorship or employment with Crown Castle.

Interests of Directors and Executive Officers in the Merger

Our directors and executive officers own shares of our common stock, restricted stock awards and restricted stock units and, to that extent, their interest in the REIT conversion and the merger is the same as that of the other holders of shares of our common stock, restricted stock awards and restricted stock units.

Regulatory Approvals (See page 37)

We are not aware of any federal, state or local regulatory requirements that must be complied with or approvals that must be obtained prior to completion of the merger pursuant to the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby, other than compliance with applicable federal and state securities laws, the filing of a certificate of merger as required under the Delaware General Corporation Law, or the DGCL, and various state governmental authorizations.

Comparison of Rights of Stockholders of Crown Castle and CCR (See page 113)

The rights of holders of Crown Castle common stock are currently governed by the DGCL, the Crown Castle Charter and the Crown Castle By-Laws. If the merger agreement is adopted by the holders of Crown Castle common stock and the merger is completed, holders of Crown Castle common stock will become holders of CCR common stock and the rights of holders of CCR common stock will be governed by the DGCL, the CCR Charter and the CCR By-Laws. As described below, some important differences exist between the rights of holders of Crown Castle common stock and the rights of holders of CCR common stock.

The rights of holders of Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock are currently governed by the DGCL, the Crown Castle Charter, the Crown Castle By-Laws and the Crown Castle Certificate of Designations. If the merger agreement is adopted by the holders of Crown Castle common stock and the merger is completed, holders of Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock will become holders of CCR Convertible Preferred Stock and the rights of the holders of Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock will be governed by the DGCL, the CCR Charter, the CCR By-Laws and the CCR Certificate of Designations. Some important differences exist between the rights of holders of Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock and the rights of holders of CCR Convertible Preferred Stock.

The major difference between your rights as a holder of Crown Castle common stock and your rights as a holder of CCR common stock or between your rights as a holder of Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock and your rights as a holder of CCR Convertible Preferred Stock is that, to facilitate continued compliance with the REIT rules, the CCR Charter generally prohibits any person (as defined in the CCR Charter) from beneficially or constructively owning, or being deemed to beneficially or constructively own by virtue of the attribution provisions of the Code,

more than 9.8%, by value or number of shares, whichever is more restrictive,

12

of the outstanding shares of CCR common stock, or 9.8% in aggregate value of the outstanding shares of all classes and series of our capital stock, including CCR common stock and any shares of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock. In addition, the CCR Charter provides for certain other ownership limitations and transfer restrictions. These limitations and restrictions are subject to waiver or modification by the board of directors of CCR. For more detail regarding these differences, see the sections entitled Description of CCR Capital Stock and Comparison of Rights of Stockholders of Crown Castle and CCR.

The forms of the CCR Charter, CCR By-Laws and CCR Certificate of Designations are attached as Annex B-1, Annex B-2 and Annex B-3, respectively.

Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Merger (See page 114)

It is a condition to the closing of the merger that we receive an opinion from our special tax counsel, Cravath, Swaine & Moore LLP, to the effect that the merger will be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes as a reorganization under Section 368(a)(1)(F) of the Code. Accordingly, we expect for U.S. federal income tax purposes that:

no gain or loss will be recognized by Crown Castle or CCR as a result of the merger;

with respect to the conversion of shares of Crown Castle common stock into CCR common stock:

you will not recognize any gain or loss upon the conversion of your shares of Crown Castle common stock into CCR common stock;

the tax basis of the shares of CCR common stock that you receive pursuant to the merger in the aggregate will be the same as your adjusted tax basis in the shares of Crown Castle common stock being converted in the merger; and

the holding period of shares of CCR common stock that you receive pursuant to the merger will include your holding period with respect to the shares of Crown Castle common stock being converted in the merger, assuming that your Crown Castle common stock was held as a capital asset at the effective time of the merger.

With respect to the conversion of shares of Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock into CCR Convertible Preferred Stock:

you will not recognize any gain or loss upon the conversion of your shares of Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock into CCR Convertible Preferred Stock;

the tax basis of the shares of CCR Convertible Preferred Stock that you receive pursuant to the merger in the aggregate will be the same as your adjusted tax basis in the shares of Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock being converted in the merger; and

the holding period of shares of CCR Convertible Preferred Stock that you receive pursuant to the merger will include your holding period with respect to the shares of Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock being converted in the merger, assuming that your Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock was held as a capital asset at the effective time of the merger.

The U.S. federal income tax treatment of holders of Crown Castle common stock, CCR common stock, Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock and CCR Convertible Preferred Stock depends in some instances on determinations of fact and interpretations of complex provisions of U.S. federal income tax law for which no clear precedent or authority may be available. In addition, the tax consequences to any particular holder of Crown Castle common stock, CCR common stock, Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock or CCR Convertible Preferred Stock will depend on that holder s particular tax circumstances. For example, if we are not a

domestically controlled qualified investment entity—within the meaning of the Code, then in the case of a non-U.S. stockholder that owns or has owned in excess of 5% of outstanding Crown Castle common stock or Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock, it may be necessary for that person to comply with reporting requirements for him or her to achieve the nonrecognition of gain, carryover tax basis and tacked holding period described above. We urge you to consult your tax advisor, particularly if you are a non-U.S. person, regarding the specific tax consequences, including the federal, state, local and foreign tax consequences, to you in light of your particular investment in, or tax circumstances of acquiring, holding, exchanging or otherwise disposing of, Crown Castle common stock, CCR common stock, Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock or CCR Convertible Preferred Stock.

Qualification of CCR Following the REIT Conversion (See page 116)

We have taken all steps necessary in order to operate in compliance with the REIT rules. Effective January 1, 2014, Crown Castle began operating as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As a REIT, we are permitted to deduct dividends paid to our stockholders, allowing the income represented by such dividends not to be subject to taxation at the entity level and to be taxed, if at all, only at the stockholder level. Nevertheless, the income of our TRSs, which hold certain of our operations, is subject, as applicable, to federal corporate income tax and to foreign income taxes where those operations are conducted. Our small cells are currently included in one or more wholly owned TRSs. On August 29, 2014, we received a favorable private letter ruling from the Internal Revenue Service, or IRS, which provides that the real property portion of our small cells and the related rents qualify as real property and rents from real property, respectively, under the rules governing REITs. We are evaluating the impact of this private letter ruling and, subject to board approval, we expect to take appropriate action to include the qualifying portion of our small cells as part of the REIT, effective the beginning of 2015. Additionally, we have included in TRSs our tower operations in Australia and certain other assets and operations.

Our ability to qualify as a REIT depends upon our continuing compliance with various requirements, including requirements related to the nature of our assets, the sources of our income and our distribution levels. If we were to fail to continue to qualify as a REIT, we would be subject to U.S. federal income tax at regular corporate rates. As a REIT, we continue to be subject to certain federal, state, local and foreign taxes on our income and property.

We have received opinions from our special tax counsel, Cravath, Swaine & Moore LLP and Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP, whom we refer to as our Special Tax Counsel, to the effect that we will be organized in conformity with the requirements for qualification as a REIT under the Code, and that our proposed method of operation will enable us to meet and continue to meet the requirements for qualification and taxation as a REIT under the Code. The opinions of our Special Tax Counsel are conditioned upon the assumption that the CCR Charter, the CCR By-Laws, our licenses and all other applicable legal documents have been and will be complied with by all parties to those documents, upon the accuracy and completeness of the factual matters described in this proxy statement/prospectus and upon representations made by us as to certain factual matters relating to our and CCR s organization and operations and our manner of operation. The opinions of our Special Tax Counsel are based upon the law as it exists today, but the law may change in the future, possibly with retroactive effect. Given the highly complex nature of the rules governing REITs, the ongoing importance of factual determinations, and the possibility of future changes in our circumstances, no assurance can be given by our Special Tax Counsel or us that we will so qualify for any particular year. The opinions of our Special Tax Counsel as to our qualification as a REIT are expressed as of the date issued. Our Special Tax Counsel have no obligation to advise us or our stockholders of any subsequent change in the matters stated, represented or assumed, or of any subsequent change in the applicable law. Also, the opinions of our Special Tax Counsel are not binding on either the IRS or a court, and either could take a position different from that expressed by our Special Tax Counsel.

Recommendation of the Board of Directors (See page 29)

The board of directors of Crown Castle has, on a unanimous basis, approved and declared to be advisable the merger agreement, and hereby recommends that all holders of Crown Castle common stock entitled to vote thereon vote FOR the proposal to adopt the merger agreement, which will facilitate our continued compliance with the REIT rules by ensuring the effective adoption of the charter provisions that implement REIT-related ownership limitations and transfer restrictions related to our capital stock. The board of directors of Crown Castle also unanimously recommends that all holders of Crown Castle common stock entitled to vote thereon vote FOR the proposal to approve the adjournment of the special meeting, if necessary, to solicit additional proxies if there are not sufficient votes at the time of the special meeting to approve the proposal to adopt the merger agreement.

Date, Time, Place and Purpose of Special Meeting (See page 28)

The special meeting will be held on November 19, 2014 at 9:00 a.m., local time, at 1220 Augusta Drive, Suite 600, Houston, Texas 77057 to consider and vote upon the proposals described in the notice of special meeting.

Stockholders Entitled to Vote (See page 28)

The board of directors has fixed the close of business on October 6, 2014 as the record date for the determination of holders of record of Crown Castle common stock entitled to receive notice of, and to vote those shares by proxy or at, the special meeting. As of October 6, 2014, there were 333,859,388 shares of common stock outstanding and entitled to vote and 872 holders of record.

The holders of record of Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock as of the record date are entitled to notice of the special meeting, but are not entitled to vote on the proposals at the special meeting and this proxy statement/prospectus is being mailed to such holders for informational purposes only.

Vote Required (See page 28)

The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of common stock entitled to vote thereon is required for the adoption of the merger agreement. Accordingly, abstentions and broker non-votes , if any, will have the effect of a vote against the proposal to adopt the merger agreement.

The Crown Castle board of directors reserves the right to cancel or defer the merger, even if the holders of Crown Castle common stock vote to adopt the merger agreement and the other conditions to the completion of the merger are satisfied or waived, if the board of directors determines that the merger is no longer in the best interests of Crown Castle and its stockholders.

The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the voting power of the shares of common stock present in person or represented by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote thereon is required to approve the adjournment of the special meeting, if necessary, to solicit additional proxies if there are not sufficient votes at the time of the special meeting to approve the proposal to adopt the merger agreement.

No Appraisal Rights (See page 37)

Under the DGCL, you will not be entitled to any statutory appraisal rights in connection with the merger.

Shares Owned by Crown Castle s Directors and Executive Officers

As of October 6, 2014, the directors and executive officers of Crown Castle and their affiliates owned and were entitled to vote 2,660,122 shares of Crown Castle common stock, or 0.8% of the shares outstanding on that date entitled to vote with respect to each of the proposals. We currently expect that each director and executive

officer of Crown Castle will vote the shares of Crown Castle common stock beneficially owned by such director or executive officer FOR adoption of the merger agreement and FOR the proposal to approve the adjournment of the special meeting, if necessary, to solicit additional proxies if there are not sufficient votes at the time of the special meeting to approve the proposal to adopt the merger agreement.

Historical Market Price of Common Stock and Convertible Preferred Stock

Crown Castle s common stock and Convertible Preferred Stock are listed and traded on the NYSE under the symbols CCI and CCI-PRA , respectively.

The following table sets forth for the calendar periods indicated the high and low sale prices per share of common stock, the high and low sale prices per share of Convertible Preferred Stock, the declared dividend per share of common stock and the declared dividend per share of Convertible Preferred Stock as reported by the NYSE. On September 6, 2013, the last full trading day prior to the public announcement of the proposed REIT conversion, the closing sale price of common stock was \$70.55 as reported by the NYSE. On October 9, 2014, the latest practicable date before the printing of this proxy statement/prospectus, the closing sale price per share of common stock on the NYSE was \$80.52 per share and the closing sale price per share of Convertible Preferred Stock was \$104.30 per share. You should obtain a current stock price quotation for our common stock and our Convertible Preferred Stock.

	Common Stock Dividend			Convertible Preferred Stock Dividend		
	High	Low	Declared	High	Low	Declared
Year Ending December 31, 2014	J			J		
Fourth Quarter (through October 9, 2014)	\$81.76	\$79.36	\$	\$ 106.26	\$ 104.18	\$
Third Quarter	81.00	72.53	0.35	105.39	97.73	1.1250
Second Quarter	77.95	71.29	0.35	105.02	98.40	1.1250
First Quarter	76.54	68.44	0.35	102.75	95.54	1.1250
Year Ended December 31, 2013						
Fourth Quarter	\$77.22	\$69.87	\$	\$ 103.50	\$ 97.35	\$ 1.1625
Third Quarter	78.00	66.73				
Second Quarter	81.16	66.95				
First Quarter	75.50	66.13				
Year Ended December 31, 2012						
Fourth Quarter	\$72.30	\$63.42	\$			\$
Third Quarter	66.11	57.60				
Second Quarter	59.26	51.86				
First Quarter	55.99	44.62				

It is expected that, immediately following the completion of the merger, CCR common stock and CCR Convertible Preferred Stock will be listed and traded on the NYSE in the same manner as shares of Crown Castle common stock and Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock currently trade on that exchange. The current price of Crown Castle common stock and Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock may not be indicative of the market price of CCR common stock or CCR Convertible Preferred Stock following the merger.

Prior to 2014, we did not pay cash dividends on our common stock. In the first quarter of 2014, our board of directors initiated a quarterly cash dividend on our common stock. For each of the first three quarters of 2014, the dividend

declared on our common stock was \$0.35 per share. The declaration, amount and payment of any future dividends, however, are subject to the determination of our board of directors based on then-current or anticipated future conditions, including our earnings, net cash provided by operating activities, capital requirements, financial condition, our relative market capitalization, our existing NOLs or other factors deemed relevant by our board of directors. See the section entitled Dividend Policy .

RISK FACTORS

In addition to the other information in this proxy statement/prospectus, you should carefully consider the specific factors discussed below, together with all the other information contained in this proxy statement/prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference herein. For a further discussion of the risks, uncertainties and assumptions relating to our business, please see the discussion under the caption Risk Factors included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, as updated by annual, quarterly and other reports and documents we file with the SEC, which are incorporated by reference into this proxy statement/prospectus. The risks described below are not the only risks that we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also impair our business operations. Any of these risks may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Risks Relating to Our Business

Our business depends on the demand for wireless communications and wireless infrastructure, and we may be adversely affected by any slowdown in such demand. Additionally, a reduction in carrier network investment may materially and adversely affect our business (including reducing demand for new tenant additions or network services).

Demand for our wireless infrastructure depends on the demand for antenna space from our customers, which, in turn, depends on the demand for wireless voice and data services by their customers. The willingness of our customers to utilize our wireless infrastructure, or renew or extend existing contracts on our wireless infrastructure, is affected by numerous factors, including:

consumer demand for wireless services;

availability or capacity of our wireless infrastructure or associated land interests;

location of our wireless infrastructure;

financial condition of our customers, including their availability or cost of capital;

willingness of our customers to maintain or increase their capital expenditures;

increased use of network sharing, roaming, joint development or resale agreements by our customers;

mergers or consolidations among our customers;

changes in, or success of, our customers business models;

governmental regulations, including local or state restrictions on the proliferation of wireless infrastructure;

cost of constructing wireless infrastructure;

technological changes, including those affecting (1) the number or type of wireless infrastructure or other communications sites needed to provide wireless communications services to a given geographic area or (2) the obsolescence of certain existing wireless networks; or

our ability to efficiently satisfy our customers service requirements.

A slowdown in demand for wireless communications or our wireless infrastructure may negatively impact our growth or otherwise have a material adverse effect on us. If our customers or potential customers are unable to raise adequate capital to fund their business plans, as a result of disruptions in the financial and credit markets or otherwise, they may reduce their spending, which could adversely affect our anticipated growth or the demand for our wireless infrastructure or network services.

Historically, the amount of our customers network investment is cyclical and has varied based upon the various matters described in these risk factors. Changes in carrier network investment typically impact the demand for our wireless infrastructure. As a result, changes in carrier plans such as delays in the implementation

17

of new systems, new technologies, including with respect to the use of small cells, or plans to expand coverage or capacity may reduce demand for our wireless infrastructure. Furthermore, the wireless communication industry could experience a slowdown or slowing growth rates as a result of numerous factors, including a reduction in consumer demand for wireless services or general economic conditions. There can be no assurances that weakness or uncertainty in the economic environment will not adversely impact the wireless communications industry, which may materially and adversely affect our business, including by reducing demand for our wireless infrastructure or network services. In addition, a slowdown may increase competition for site rental customers or network services. A wireless communications industry slowdown or a reduction in carrier network investment may materially and adversely affect our business.

A substantial portion of our revenues is derived from a small number of customers, and the loss, consolidation or financial instability of any of our limited number of customers may materially decrease revenues or reduce demand for our wireless infrastructure and network services.

For the first half of 2014, approximately 89% of our consolidated revenues were derived from Sprint, AT&T (after giving effect to AT&T s acquisition of Leap Wireless (completed in March 2014)), T-Mobile and Verizon Wireless, which represented 26%, 26%, 21% and 16%, respectively, of our consolidated revenues for such period. The loss of any one of our large customers as a result of consolidation, merger, bankruptcy, insolvency, network sharing, roaming, joint development, resale agreements by our customers or otherwise may result in (1) a material decrease in our revenues, (2) uncollectible account receivables, (3) an impairment of our deferred site rental receivables, wireless infrastructure assets, site rental contracts and customer relationships intangible assets, or (4) other adverse effects to our business. We cannot guarantee that contracts with our major customers will not be terminated or that these customers will renew their contracts with us. In addition to our four largest customers in the U.S., we also derive a portion of our revenues and anticipated future growth from customers offering or contemplating offering emerging wireless services; such customers are smaller or have less financial resources than our four largest customers, have business models which may not be successful, or may require additional capital. See also the section entitled Our Business The Company .

Such consolidation among our customers will likely result in duplicate or overlapping parts of networks, for example where they are co-residents on a tower, which may result in the termination or non-renewal of customer contracts and impact revenues from our wireless infrastructure. We expect that any termination of customer contracts as a result of this potential consolidation would be spread over multiple years as existing contracts expire. In addition, consolidation may result in a reduction in such customers—future capital expenditures in the aggregate because their expansion plans may be similar. Wireless carrier consolidation could decrease the demand for our wireless infrastructure, which in turn may result in a reduction in our revenues or cash flows. See note 17 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, which is incorporated by reference herein, for a discussion of recently completed customer consolidations. See the section entitled

Management as Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. General Overview—for further than the property of the part of of the par

Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations General Overview for further discussion of our customers network enhancement deployments and any related non-renewal of customer contracts.

Our substantial level of indebtedness could adversely affect our ability to react to changes in our business, and the terms of our debt instruments and Convertible Preferred Stock limit our ability to take a number of actions that our management might otherwise believe to be in our best interests. In addition, if we fail to comply with our covenants, our debt could be accelerated.

As a result of our substantial indebtedness:

we may be more vulnerable to general adverse economic or industry conditions;

we may find it more difficult to obtain additional financing to fund discretionary investments or other general corporate requirements or to refinance our existing indebtedness;

18

we are or will be required to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flows from operations to the payment of principal or interest on our debt, thereby reducing the available cash flows to fund other projects, including the discretionary investments discussed in the section entitled Our Business;

we may have limited flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business or in the industry;

we may have a competitive disadvantage relative to other companies in our industry with less debt;

we may be adversely impacted by changes in interest rates;

we may be required to issue equity securities or securities convertible into equity or sell some of our assets, possibly on unfavorable terms, in order to meet payment obligations;

we may be limited in our ability to take advantage of strategic business opportunities, including wireless infrastructure development or mergers and acquisitions; or

we could fail to qualify for taxation as a REIT as a result of limitations on our ability to declare and pay dividends to stockholders as a result of restrictive covenants in our debt instruments and the terms of our Convertible Preferred Stock.

Currently we have debt instruments in place that limit in certain circumstances our ability to incur indebtedness, pay dividends, create liens, sell assets, or engage in certain mergers and acquisitions, among other things. In addition, the credit agreement governing the 2012 Credit Facility contains financial maintenance covenants. Our ability to comply with these covenants or to satisfy our debt obligations will depend on our future operating performance. If we violate the restrictions in our debt instruments or fail to comply with our financial maintenance covenants, we will be in default under those instruments, which in some cases would cause the maturity of a substantial portion of our long-term indebtedness to be accelerated. Furthermore, if the limits on our ability to pay dividends prevent us from satisfying our REIT distribution requirements, we could fail to qualify for taxation as a REIT. If these limits do not jeopardize our qualification for taxation as a REIT but nevertheless prevent us from distributing 100% of our REIT taxable income, we will be subject to federal corporate income tax, and potentially a nondeductible excise tax, on the retained amounts. If our operating subsidiaries were to default on the debt, the trustee could seek to foreclose the collateral securing such debt, in which case we could lose the wireless infrastructure and the revenues associated with the wireless infrastructure.

Crown Castle and Crown Castle Operating Company, which we refer to as CCOC, are holding companies that conduct all of their operations through their subsidiaries. Accordingly, Crown Castle and CCOC s respective sources of cash to pay interest or principal on their outstanding indebtedness are distributions relating to their respective ownership interests in their subsidiaries from the net earnings and cash flows generated by such subsidiaries or from proceeds of debt or equity offerings. Earnings and cash flows generated by their subsidiaries are first applied by such subsidiaries to conduct their operations, including servicing their respective debt obligations, after which any excess cash flows generally may be paid to such holding company, in the absence of any special conditions such as a continuing event of default. However, their subsidiaries are legally distinct from the holding companies and, unless they guarantee such debt, have no obligation to pay amounts due on their debt or to make funds available to us for

such payment.

We have a substantial amount of indebtedness. In the event we do not repay or refinance such indebtedness, we could face substantial liquidity issues and might be required to issue equity securities or securities convertible into equity securities, or sell some of our assets to meet our debt payment obligations.

We have a substantial amount of indebtedness (approximately \$11.6 billion as of June 30, 2014), which we will need to refinance or repay. See the section entitled Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Liquidity and Capital Resources for a tabular presentation of our contractual debt maturities. There can be no assurances we will be able to refinance our indebtedness (1) on commercially reasonable terms, (2) on terms, including with respect to interest rates, as favorable as our current debt, or (3) at all.

19

Economic conditions and the credit markets have historically experienced, and may continue to experience, periods of volatility, uncertainty, or weakness. Any renewed financial turmoil, worsening credit environment, weakening of the general economy, or further uncertainty could impact the availability or cost of debt financing, including with respect to any refinancing of the obligations described above or on our ability to draw the full amount of our \$1.5 billion revolving credit facility, which we refer to as the 2012 Revolver, that, as of September 15, 2014, had \$1.2 billion of undrawn availability.

If we are unable to refinance or renegotiate our debt, we cannot guarantee that we will be able to generate enough cash flows from operations or that we will be able to obtain enough capital to service our debt or fund our planned capital expenditures. In such an event, we could face substantial liquidity issues and might be required to issue equity securities or securities convertible into equity securities, or sell some of our assets to meet our debt payment obligations. Failure to refinance indebtedness when required could result in a default under such indebtedness. If we incur additional indebtedness, any such indebtedness could exacerbate the risks described above.

Sales or issuances of a substantial number of shares of our common stock may adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

Future sales or issuances of a substantial number of shares of our common stock or other equity related securities may adversely affect the market price of our common stock. As of October 6, 2014, we had 333.9 million shares of common stock outstanding. In addition, we reserved 12.5 million and 13.4 million, respectively, of shares of common stock for issuance under our various stock compensation plans and our Convertible Preferred Stock. The dividends on our Convertible Preferred Stock may also be paid in cash or, subject to certain limitations, shares of common stock or any combination of cash and shares of common stock.

In addition, a small number of stockholders own a significant percentage of our outstanding common stock. If any one of these stockholders, or any group of our stockholders, sells a large quantity of shares of our common stock, or the public market perceives that existing stockholders might sell a large quantity of shares of our common stock, the market price of our common stock may significantly decline.

As a result of competition in our industry, including from some competitors with significantly more resources or less debt than we have, we may find it more difficult to achieve favorable rental rates on our new or renewing customer contracts.

Our growth is dependent on entering into new customer contracts as well as renewing or renegotiating customer contracts when existing customer contracts terminate. We face competition for site rental customers from various sources, including:

other independent wireless infrastructure owners or operators, including towers, rooftops, water towers, small cells, broadcast towers or utility poles;

wireless carriers that own and operate their own wireless infrastructure and lease antenna space to other wireless communication companies; or

new alternative deployment methods in the wireless communication industry.

Certain wireless carriers own and operate their own towers and small cells, and certain of such carriers are larger or have greater financial resources than we have. Our small cell operations may have different competitors than our traditional site rental business, including other owners of small cells or fiber, some of which have larger networks or greater financial resources than we have. Competition in our industry may make it more difficult for us to attract new customers, maintain or increase our gross margins, or maintain or increase our market share.

20

The business model for our small cell operations contains certain differences from our traditional site rental business, resulting in different operational risks. If we do not successfully operate that business model or identify or manage those operational risks, such operations may produce results that are less than anticipated.

The business model for our small cell operations contains certain differences from our traditional tower operations, including differences relating to customer contract terms, landlord demographics, ownership of certain network assets, operational oversight requirements (including requirements for service level agreements regarding network performance and maintenance), applicable laws and initial gross margins (although long-term gross margins are expected to be similar). While our small cell operations have certain risks that are similar to our tower operations, they also have certain operational risks that are different from our traditional site rental business, including the (1) use of competitive local exchange carrier, which we refer to as CLEC, status, (2) use of public rights-of-way, (3) use of poles owned solely by, or jointly with, third parties, or (4) risks relating to overbuilding. In addition, the rate at which wireless carriers adopt small cells may be lower or slower than we anticipate. Our small cell operations will also expose us to different safety or liability risks or hazards than our traditional site rental business as a result of numerous factors, including the location or nature of the assets involved. Because small cells are comparatively new technologies and are continuing to evolve, there may be other risks related to small cells of which we are not yet aware.

New technologies may significantly reduce demand for our wireless infrastructure or negatively impact our revenues.

Improvements in the efficiency of wireless networks could reduce the demand for our wireless infrastructure. For example, signal combining technologies that permit one antenna to service multiple frequencies and, thereby, multiple customers may reduce the need for our wireless infrastructure. In addition, other technologies, such as WiFi, femtocells, other small cells, or satellite (such as low earth orbiting) and mesh transmission systems may, in the future, serve as substitutes for, or alternatives to, leasing that might otherwise be anticipated or expected on wireless infrastructure had such technologies not existed. Any significant reduction in wireless infrastructure leasing demand resulting from the previously mentioned technologies or other technologies may negatively impact our revenues or otherwise have a material adverse effect on us.

New wireless technologies may not deploy or be adopted by customers as rapidly or in the manner projected.

There can be no assurances that new wireless services or technologies will be introduced or deployed as rapidly or in the manner projected by the wireless or broadcast industries. In addition, demand or customer adoption rates for such new technologies may be lower or slower than anticipated for numerous reasons. As a result, growth opportunities or demand for our wireless infrastructure as a result of such technologies may not be realized at the times or to the extent anticipated.

If we fail to retain rights to our wireless infrastructure, including the land interests under our towers, our business may be adversely affected.

Our property interests relating to the land interests on which our towers reside consist of leasehold and sub-leasehold interests, fee interests, easements, licenses and rights-of-way. A loss of these interests may interfere with our ability to conduct our business or generate revenues. For various reasons, we may not always have the ability to access, analyze, or verify all information regarding titles or other issues prior to purchasing wireless infrastructure. Further, we may not be able to renew ground leases on commercially viable terms. Our ability to retain rights to the land interests on which our towers reside depends on our ability to purchase such land, including fee interests and perpetual easements, or renegotiate or extend the terms of the leases relating to such land. Approximately 12% of our site rental gross

margins for the six months ended June 30, 2014 are derived from towers where the leases for the land interests under such towers have final expiration dates of less than ten years. If we are unable to retain rights to the land interests on which our towers reside, our business may be adversely affected.

21

Approximately 54% of our towers are leased or subleased or operated and managed under master leases, subleases or other agreements with Sprint, T-Mobile and AT&T. We have the option to purchase these towers at the end of their respective lease terms; we have no obligation to exercise such purchase options. We may not have the required available capital to exercise our right to purchase some or all of these towers at the time these options are exercisable. Even if we do have available capital, we may choose not to exercise our right to purchase these towers or some or all of the T-Mobile or AT&T towers for business or other reasons. In the event that we do not exercise these purchase rights, or are otherwise unable to acquire an interest that would allow us to continue to operate these towers after the applicable period, we will lose the cash flows derived from such towers, which may have a material adverse effect on our business. In the event that we decide to exercise these purchase rights, the benefits of the acquisition of these towers may not exceed the costs, which could adversely affect our business. Additional information concerning these towers and the applicable purchase options for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 is as follows:

Approximately 16% of our towers are leased or subleased or operated and managed for an initial period of 32 years (through May 2037) under master leases, subleases or other agreements with Sprint. We have the option to purchase in 2037 all (but not less than all) of the leased and subleased Sprint towers from Sprint for approximately \$2.3 billion.

Approximately 15% of our towers are leased or subleased or operated and managed under a master prepaid lease or other related agreements with T-Mobile for a weighted-average term of approximately 28 years, weighted on site rental gross margin. We have the option to purchase the leased and subleased towers from T-Mobile at the end of the respective lease or sublease terms for aggregate option payments of approximately \$2.0 billion, which payments, if exercised, would be due between 2035 and 2049. In addition, through the T-Mobile Acquisition (as defined below), there are another approximately 1% of our towers subject to a lease and sublease or other related arrangements with AT&T. We have the option to purchase these towers that we do not otherwise already own at the end of their respective lease terms for aggregate option payments of up to approximately \$405 million, which payments, if exercised, would be due between 2018 and 2032 (less than \$10 million would be due before 2025).

Approximately 22% of our towers are leased or subleased or operated and managed under a master prepaid lease or other related agreements with AT&T for a weighted-average term of approximately 28 years, weighted on site rental gross margin. We have the option to purchase the leased and subleased towers from AT&T at the end of the respective lease or sublease terms for aggregate option payments of approximately \$4.2 billion, which payments, if exercised, would be due between 2032 and 2048.

Under master lease or master prepaid lease arrangements we have with T-Mobile, Sprint and AT&T, certain of our subsidiaries lease or sublease, or are otherwise granted the right to manage and operate, towers from bankruptcy remote subsidiaries of such carriers. If one of these bankruptcy remote subsidiaries nevertheless becomes a debtor in a bankruptcy proceeding and is permitted to reject the underlying ground lease, our subsidiaries could lose their interest in the applicable sites. If our subsidiaries were to lose their interest in the applicable sites or if the applicable ground leases were to be terminated, we would lose the cash flow derived from the towers on those sites, which may have a material adverse effect on our business. We have similar bankruptcy risks with respect to sites that we operate under management agreements.

Our network services business has historically experienced significant volatility in demand, which reduces the predictability of our results.

The operating results of our network services business for any particular period may vary significantly and should not necessarily be considered indicative of longer-term results for this activity. Our network services business may be adversely impacted by various factors including competition, economic weakness or uncertainty, our market share, or changes in the type or volume of work performed.

The expansion or development of our business, including through acquisitions, increased product offerings or other strategic growth opportunities, may cause disruptions in our business, which may have an adverse effect on our business, operations or financial results.

We seek to expand and develop our business, including through acquisitions (a recent example of which is the transaction with AT&T in December 2013 that provides us exclusive rights to lease, operate or otherwise acquire towers that, as of June 30, 2014, comprise approximately 23% of our towers, which we refer to as the AT&T Acquisition), increased product offerings, or other strategic growth opportunities. In the ordinary course of our business, we review, analyze and evaluate various potential transactions or other activities in which we may engage. Such transactions or activities could cause disruptions in, increase risk or otherwise negatively impact our business. Among other things, such transactions and activities may:

disrupt our business relationships with our customers, depending on the nature of or counterparty to such transactions and activities;

direct the time or attention of management away from other business operations toward such transactions or activities, including integrations;

fail to achieve revenue or margin targets, operational synergies or other benefits contemplated;

increase operational risk or volatility in our business; or

result in current or prospective employees experiencing uncertainty about their future roles with us, which might adversely affect our ability to retain or attract key managers or other employees.

For example, the integration of the towers from the AT&T Acquisition is a significant undertaking and requires significant resources, as well as attention from our management team. In addition, the integration of these towers into our operations requires certain one-time costs for tasks such as tower visits and audits and ground and tenant lease verification. If we fail to successfully or efficiently integrate the towers from the AT&T Acquisition, we may not realize the benefits we expect from the AT&T Acquisition, and our business, financial condition, or results of operations may be adversely affected.

If we fail to comply with laws or regulations which regulate our business and which may change at any time, we may be fined or even lose our right to conduct some of our business.

A variety of federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations apply to our business, including those discussed in the section entitled. Our Business. Failure to comply with applicable requirements may lead to civil penalties or require us to assume indemnification obligations or breach contractual provisions. We cannot guarantee that existing or future laws or regulations, including state and local tax laws, will not adversely affect our business, increase delays or result in additional costs. These factors may have a material adverse effect on us.

If radio frequency emissions from wireless handsets or equipment on our wireless infrastructure are demonstrated to cause negative health effects, potential future claims could adversely affect our operations, costs or revenues.

The potential connection between radio frequency emissions and certain negative health effects, including some forms of cancer, has been the subject of substantial study by the scientific community in recent years. We cannot guarantee that claims relating to radio frequency emissions will not arise in the future or that the results of such studies will not be adverse to us.

Public perception of possible health risks associated with cellular or other wireless communications may slow or diminish the growth of wireless companies, which may in turn slow or diminish our growth. In particular, negative public perception of, and regulations regarding, these perceived health risks may slow or diminish the market acceptance of wireless communications services. If a connection between radio frequency emissions and possible negative health effects were established, our operations, costs, or revenues may be materially and adversely affected. We currently do not maintain any significant insurance with respect to these matters.

Certain provisions of our certificate of incorporation, by-laws and operative agreements, and domestic and international competition laws may make it more difficult for a third party to acquire control of us or for us to acquire control of a third party, even if such a change in control would be beneficial to our stockholders.

We have a number of anti-takeover devices in place that will hinder takeover attempts or may reduce the market value of our common stock. Our anti-takeover provisions include:

a staggered board of directors, which is currently being phased out but will not be fully declassified until 2016;

the authority of the board of directors to issue preferred stock without approval of the holders of our common stock; and

advance notice requirements for director nominations or actions to be taken at annual meetings. In addition, if the merger is completed, the REIT-related ownership limitations and transfer restrictions in the CCR Charter could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a transaction or a change in control of us that might involve a premium price for our capital stock or otherwise be in the best interest of our stockholders.

Our by-laws permit special meetings of the stockholders to be called only upon the request of our Chief Executive Officer or a majority of the board of directors, and deny stockholders the ability to call such meetings. Such provisions, as well as the provisions of Section 203 of the DGCL, may impede a merger, consolidation, takeover, or other business combination or discourage a potential acquirer from making a tender offer or otherwise attempting to obtain control of us.

In addition, domestic or international competition laws may prevent or discourage us from acquiring wireless infrastructure in certain geographical areas or impede a merger, consolidation, takeover, or other business combination or discourage a potential acquirer from making a tender offer or otherwise attempting to obtain control of us.

We may be adversely affected by exposure to changes in foreign currency exchange rates relating to our operations in Australia.

Our Australian operations expose us to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. For the six months ended June 30, 2014, approximately 4% of our consolidated net revenues were denominated in Australian dollars. See Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Consolidated Results of Operations Comparison of Operating Segments for a discussion of the change in the Australian dollar to U.S. dollar exchange rate. We have not historically engaged in significant hedging activities relating to our Australian operations, and we may suffer future losses as a result of changes in currency exchange rates.

Risks Relating to Our REIT Election

Future dividend payments to our common stockholders will reduce the availability of our cash on hand available to fund future discretionary investments, and may result in a need to incur indebtedness or issue equity securities to fund growth opportunities. In such event, the then current economic, credit market or equity market conditions may impact the availability or cost of such financing, which could hinder our ability to grow our per share results

of operations.

In the first quarter of 2014, our board of directors initiated a quarterly cash dividend on our common stock. For each of the first three quarters of 2014, the dividend declared on our common stock was \$0.35 per share, and, if paid in the same amount in each quarter of 2014, will result in an annual aggregate payment of approximately \$470 million. See the section entitled Dividend Policy . Effective January 1, 2014, we commenced operating as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. To qualify and be taxed as a REIT, we will generally be required to distribute at least 90% of our REIT taxable income after the utilization of any available NOLs (determined without regard to the dividends paid deduction and excluding net capital gain) each year to our stockholders. As a result, we anticipate making distributions to holders of our common stock in the form of dividends in the future.

We have historically invested our cash from operations in discretionary investments such as (in no particular order): purchasing our common stock, acquiring or constructing wireless infrastructure, acquiring land interests under towers, improving or structurally enhancing our existing wireless infrastructure, or purchasing, repaying or redeeming our debt. Alternative means of accessing cash to fund future discretionary investments similar to those we have historically made, including through the credit or equity markets, either (1) may not be available to us or (2) may not be accessible by us at terms that would result in the investment of the net proceeds raised yielding incremental growth in our per share operating results. As a result, future dividend payments may hinder our ability to grow our per share results of operations or otherwise adversely affect our ability to execute our business plan.

Qualifying and remaining qualified to be taxed as a REIT involves highly technical and complex provisions of the Code. Failure to remain qualified as a REIT would result in our inability to deduct dividends to stockholders when computing our taxable income, which would reduce our available cash.

On January 1, 2014, we began operating as a REIT for federal tax purposes. As a REIT, we will generally be entitled to a deduction for dividends that we pay and therefore will not be subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax on our net taxable income that is distributed to our stockholders.

We have received opinions from our Special Tax Counsel to the effect that we are organized in conformity with the requirements for qualification and taxation as a REIT under the Code, and that our proposed method of operation will enable us to meet the requirements for qualification and taxation as a REIT commencing with our taxable year ending December 31, 2014. It must be emphasized that the opinions of Special Tax Counsel are based on various assumptions relating to our organization and operation, and are conditioned upon fact-based representations and covenants made by our management regarding our organization, assets, and income, and the present and future conduct of our business operations. The opinions we received are expressed as of the date issued. You should be aware that opinions of counsel are not binding on the IRS, and no assurance can be given that the IRS will not challenge the conclusions set forth in such opinions. While we intend to operate so that we qualify as a REIT, given the highly complex nature of the rules governing REITs, the ongoing importance of factual determinations, and the possibility of future changes in our circumstances, no assurance can be given by Special Tax Counsel or by us that we will qualify as a REIT for any particular year.

If, in any taxable year, we fail to qualify for taxation as a REIT and are not entitled to relief under the Code, then:

we will not be allowed a deduction for dividends paid to stockholders in computing our taxable income;

we will be subject to federal and state income tax, including any applicable alternative minimum tax, on our taxable income at regular corporate rates; and

if such failure to qualify occurs after the effective date of our election to be taxed as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we would be disqualified from re-electing REIT status for the four taxable years following the year during which we were so disqualified.

Although we may have NOLs available to reduce any taxable income, to the extent our NOLs have been utilized or are otherwise unavailable, any such corporate tax liability could be substantial, would reduce the amount of cash available for other purposes and might necessitate the borrowing of additional funds or the liquidation of some investments to pay any additional tax liability. Accordingly, funds available for investment would be reduced.

Under the Code, no more than 25% of the value of the assets of a REIT may be represented by securities of one or more TRSs or other non-qualifying assets. This limitation may affect our ability to make additional investments in non-REIT qualifying operations or assets, or in any operations held through TRSs. The net income of our TRSs is not required to be distributed to us, and income that is not distributed to us generally will

not be subject to the REIT income distribution requirement. However, there may be limitations on our ability to accumulate earnings in our TRSs and the accumulation or reinvestment of significant earnings in our TRSs could result in adverse tax treatment. In particular, if the accumulation of cash in our TRSs causes the fair market value of our securities in our TRSs or certain other non-qualifying assets to exceed 25% of the fair market value of our assets at the end of any quarter, then we may fail to qualify as a REIT.

Complying with REIT requirements, including the 90% distribution requirement, may limit our flexibility or cause us to forgo otherwise attractive opportunities, including certain discretionary investments and potential financing alternatives.

To qualify and be taxed as a REIT, we will generally be required to distribute at least 90% of our REIT taxable income after the utilization of any available NOLs (determined without regard to the dividends paid deduction and excluding net capital gain) each year to our stockholders. Our determination as to the timing or amount of future dividends will be based on a number of factors, including investment opportunities around our core business and the availability of our existing NOLs of approximately \$2.2 billion, of which approximately \$1.9 billion is available to offset REIT taxable income. We commenced declaring regular quarterly cash dividends to our common stockholders beginning with the first quarter of 2014. See the section entitled Dividend Policy . Any such dividends, however, are subject to the determination of our board of directors based on then-current and anticipated future conditions, including our earnings, net cash provided by operating activities, capital requirements, financial condition, our relative market capitalization, our existing NOLs, or other factors deemed relevant by our board of directors.

To the extent that we satisfy the 90% distribution requirement, but distribute less than 100% of our REIT taxable income (after the application of available NOLs, if any), we will be subject to federal corporate income tax on our undistributed taxable income. In addition, we will be subject to a 4% nondeductible excise tax if the actual amount that we pay out to our stockholders for a calendar year is less than a minimum amount specified under the Code.

From time to time, we may generate REIT taxable income greater than our cash flow as a result of differences in timing between the recognition of taxable income and the actual receipt of cash or the effect of nondeductible capital expenditures, the creation of reserves or required debt or amortization payments. If we do not have other funds available in these situations, we could be required to borrow funds on unfavorable terms, sell assets at disadvantageous prices, or distribute amounts that would otherwise be invested in future acquisitions to make distributions sufficient to enable us to pay out enough of our taxable income to satisfy the REIT dividend requirement and to avoid corporate income tax and the 4% excise tax in a particular year. These alternatives could increase our costs or reduce our equity. Thus, compliance with the REIT requirements may hinder our ability to grow, which could adversely affect the value of our common stock. Furthermore, the REIT dividend requirements may increase the financing we need to fund capital expenditures, future growth, or expansion initiatives, which would increase our total leverage.

In addition to satisfying the distribution test, to remain qualified as a REIT for tax purposes, we will need to continually satisfy tests concerning, among other things, the sources of our income, the nature and diversification of our assets and the ownership of our capital stock. Compliance with these tests will require us to refrain from certain activities and may hinder our ability to make certain attractive investments, including the purchase of non-qualifying assets, the expansion of non-real estate activities, or investments in the businesses to be conducted by our TRSs, and to that extent, limit our opportunities and our flexibility to change our business strategy. Furthermore, acquisition opportunities in domestic or international markets may be adversely affected if we need or require the target company to comply with some REIT requirements prior to completing any such acquisition. In addition, our conversion to a REIT may result in investor pressures not to pursue growth opportunities that are not immediately accretive.

Moreover, if we fail to comply with certain asset ownership tests, at the end of any calendar quarter, we must correct the failure within 30 days after the end of the calendar quarter or qualify for certain statutory relief

provisions to avoid losing our REIT qualification. As a result, we may be required to liquidate assets in adverse market conditions or forgo otherwise attractive investments. These actions may reduce our income and amounts available for distribution to our stockholders.

If we fail to pay scheduled dividends on the Convertible Preferred Stock, in cash, common stock, or any combination of cash and common stock, we will be prohibited from paying dividends on our common stock, which may jeopardize our status as a REIT.

The terms of the Convertible Preferred Stock provide that, unless accumulated dividends have been paid or set aside for payment on all outstanding Convertible Preferred Stock for all past dividend periods, no dividends may be declared or paid on our common stock. If that were to occur, the inability to pay dividends on our common stock might jeopardize our status as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. See note 9 to our condensed consolidated financial statements included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2014, which is incorporated by reference herein.

We have limited experience operating as a REIT. Our failure to successfully operate as a REIT may adversely affect our financial condition, cash flow, the per share trading price of our common stock, or our ability to satisfy debt service obligations.

We have limited operating history as a REIT. In addition, our senior management team has limited experience operating a REIT. We cannot assure you that our past experience will be sufficient to operate our company successfully as a REIT, including our ability to remain qualified as a REIT. Failure to maintain REIT status could adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations, cash flow, or ability to satisfy debt service obligations.

REIT ownership limitations and transfer restrictions may prevent or restrict you from engaging in certain transfers of our capital stock.

In order for us to continue to satisfy the requirements for REIT qualification, our capital stock must be beneficially owned by 100 or more persons during at least 335 days of a taxable year of 12 months or during a proportionate part of a shorter taxable year (other than the first year for which an election to be a REIT has been made). Also, not more than 50% of the value of the outstanding shares of our capital stock may be owned, directly or indirectly, by five or fewer individuals (as defined in the Code to include certain entities such as private foundations) during the last half of a taxable year (other than the first taxable year for which an election to be a REIT has been made). Crown Castle intends to merge with and into CCR to facilitate our continued compliance with the REIT rules by ensuring the effective adoption of the charter provisions that implement REIT-related ownership limitations and transfer restrictions that generally prohibit any person (as defined in the CCR Charter) from beneficially or constructively owning, or being deemed to beneficially or constructively own by virtue of the attribution provisions of the Code, more than 9.8%, by value or number of shares, whichever is more restrictive, of the outstanding shares of CCR common stock, or 9.8% in aggregate value of the outstanding shares of all classes and series of our capital stock, including CCR common stock and any shares of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock. In addition, the CCR Charter provides for certain other ownership limitations and transfer restrictions. Under applicable constructive ownership rules, any shares of capital stock owned by certain affiliated owners generally would be added together for purposes of the ownership limitations. These ownership limitations and transfer restrictions could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a transaction or a change in control of CCR that might involve a premium price for CCR capital stock or otherwise be in the best interest of its stockholders.

If holders of Crown Castle common stock do not approve the proposal to adopt the merger agreement, we may not be able to satisfy the REIT-related ownership limitations on a continuing basis, which could cause us to fail to qualify as

a REIT.

VOTING AND PROXIES

This proxy statement/prospectus is furnished in connection with the solicitation of proxies by the board of directors of Crown Castle for use at the special meeting of stockholders to be held on November 19, 2014, or any adjournments or postponements thereof.

Date, Time and Place of the Special Meeting

The special meeting will be held on November 19, 2014 at 9:00 a.m., local time, at 1220 Augusta Drive, Suite 600, Houston, Texas, 77057.

Purpose of the Special Meeting

The purposes of the special meeting are:

to consider and vote upon a proposal to adopt the Agreement and Plan of Merger dated September 19, 2014 (as it may be amended from time to time), between Crown Castle International Corp. and Crown Castle REIT Inc., a newly formed wholly owned subsidiary of Crown Castle, which is being implemented in connection with Crown Castle s conversion to a REIT; and

to consider and vote upon a proposal to approve the adjournment of the special meeting, if necessary, to solicit additional proxies if there are not sufficient votes at the time of the special meeting to approve the proposal to adopt the merger agreement.

Stockholder Record Date for the Special Meeting

Crown Castle s board of directors has fixed the close of business on October 6, 2014 as the record date for determining which holders of record of Crown Castle common stock are entitled to notice of, and to vote those shares by proxy or at, the special meeting and at any adjournment or postponement of the special meeting. On the record date, there were 333,859,388 shares of common stock outstanding, held by approximately 872 holders of record.

During the ten-day period before the special meeting, Crown Castle will keep a list of holders of Crown Castle common stock entitled to vote at the special meeting available for inspection during normal business hours at Crown Castle s offices in Houston, Texas, for any purpose germane to the special meeting. The list of holders of Crown Castle common stock will also be provided and kept at the location of the special meeting for the duration of the special meeting, and may be inspected by any stockholder who is present.

Quorum

A quorum is necessary for the transaction of business at the special meeting. A majority of the voting power of the outstanding shares of common stock entitled to vote at the special meeting, represented in person or by proxy, constitutes a quorum at the special meeting. For the purpose of determining the presence of a quorum, abstentions will be included in determining the number of shares of common stock present and entitled to vote at the special meeting; however, because brokers, banks or other nominees are not entitled to vote on the proposal to adopt the merger agreement absent specific instructions from the beneficial owner (as more fully described below), shares held by brokers, banks or other nominees for which instructions have not been provided will not be included in the number of

shares represented in person or by proxy and entitled to vote at the special meeting for the purpose of establishing a quorum. At the special meeting, each share of common stock is entitled to one vote on all matters properly submitted to the Crown Castle stockholders.

Vote Required for Each Proposal

Proposal Number One: The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of common stock entitled to vote thereon is required for the adoption of the merger agreement.

28

Proposal Number Two: The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the voting power of the shares of common stock present in person or represented by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote thereon is required to approve the proposal to adjourn the special meeting, if necessary, to solicit additional proxies if there are not sufficient votes at the time of the special meeting to approve the proposal to adopt the merger agreement.

The Crown Castle board of directors unanimously recommends that all holders of Crown Castle common stock entitled to vote thereon vote FOR each of the proposals.

Proxies

If you are a holder of record of common stock on the record date, you may cause your shares to be voted by completing, signing and promptly returning the proxy card in the self-addressed stamped envelope provided. You may also authorize a proxy to vote your shares by telephone or over the Internet as described in your proxy card. Authorizing a proxy to vote your shares by telephone or over the Internet will not limit your right to attend the special meeting and vote your shares in person. Those holders of Crown Castle common stock as of the record date who choose to submit a proxy by telephone or over the Internet must do so no later than 11:59 p.m., Eastern Time, on November 18, 2014. All shares of Crown Castle common stock represented by properly executed proxy cards received before or at the special meeting and all proxies properly submitted by telephone or over the Internet will, unless the proxies are revoked, be voted in accordance with the instructions indicated on those proxy cards, telephone or Internet submissions. If no instructions are indicated on a properly executed proxy card, the shares will be voted FOR each of the proposals. You are urged to indicate how to vote your shares, whether you do so by proxy card, by telephone or over the Internet.

If a properly executed proxy card is returned or properly submitted by telephone or over the Internet and the holder of Crown Castle common stock has abstained from voting on one or more of the proposals, the common stock represented by the proxy will be considered present at the special meeting for purposes of determining a quorum, but will not be considered to have been voted on the abstained proposals. For the proposal to adopt the merger agreement and the proposal to approve the adjournment of the special meeting, if necessary, to solicit additional proxies if there are not sufficient votes at the time of the special meeting to approve the proposal to adopt the merger agreement, abstentions have the same effect as a vote against that proposal.

If your shares are held in an account at a broker, bank or other nominee, you must instruct them on how to vote your shares. If an executed proxy card is returned by a broker, bank or other nominee holding shares that indicates that the broker, bank or other nominee does not have discretionary authority to vote on the proposals, the shares will not be considered present at the meeting for purposes of determining the presence of a quorum, and will not be considered to have been voted on the proposals. Under applicable rules and regulations of the NYSE, brokers, banks and other nominees have the discretion to vote on routine matters, but do not have the discretion to vote on non-routine matters. The proposal to adopt the merger agreement is a non-routine matter. Accordingly, your broker, bank or other nominee will vote your shares only if you provide instructions on how to vote by following the information provided to you by your broker, bank or other nominee. If you do not provide voting instructions, your shares will be considered broker non-votes because the broker, bank or other nominee will not have discretionary authority to vote your shares. Therefore, your failure to provide voting instructions to the broker, bank or other nominee will have the same effect as a vote against adoption of the merger agreement.

Revoking Your Proxy

You can change your vote at any time before your proxy is voted at the special meeting. To revoke your proxy, you must either (1) timely notify the secretary of Crown Castle in writing, (2) timely mail a new proxy card dated after the

date of the proxy you wish to revoke, (3) timely submit a later dated proxy, by telephone or over the Internet by following the instructions on your proxy card, or (4) attend the special meeting and vote your shares in person. Merely attending the special meeting will not constitute revocation of your proxy. If your shares are held through a broker, bank or other nominee, you should contact your broker, bank or other nominee to change your vote.

Adjournment or Postponement

Although it is not currently expected, the special meeting may be adjourned, if necessary, to solicit additional proxies if there are not sufficient votes at the time of the special meeting to approve the proposal to adopt the merger agreement. In that event, Crown Castle may ask the holders of Crown Castle common stock to vote upon the proposal to approve the adjournment of the special meeting to solicit additional proxies, but not the proposal to adopt the merger agreement. If the holders of Crown Castle common stock approve this proposal, we could adjourn the special meeting and use the time to solicit additional proxies to approve the proposal to adopt the merger agreement.

Additionally, at any time prior to convening the special meeting, we may seek to postpone the meeting if a quorum is not present at the meeting or as otherwise permitted by the Crown Castle Charter and the Crown Castle By-Laws or as otherwise permitted by applicable law.

Solicitation of Proxies

Crown Castle will bear all expenses incurred in connection with the printing and mailing of this proxy statement/prospectus. Crown Castle will also request banks, brokers and other nominees holding shares of common stock beneficially owned by others to send this proxy statement/prospectus to, and obtain proxies from, the beneficial owners and will, upon request, reimburse the holders for their reasonable expenses in so doing. Solicitation of proxies by mail may be supplemented by telephone and other electronic means and personal solicitation by the officers or employees of Crown Castle. No additional compensation will be paid to officers or employees for those solicitation efforts.

Crown Castle has engaged Georgeson Inc. to assist in the solicitation of proxies for the special meeting and estimates it will pay Georgeson Inc. a fee of approximately \$13,000. Crown Castle has also agreed to reimburse Georgeson Inc. for certain costs and expenses incurred in connection with the proxy solicitation and to indemnify Georgeson Inc. against certain losses, claims, damages, costs, fees, expenses and liabilities.

Other Matters

As of the date of this proxy statement/prospectus, Crown Castle is not aware of any other business to be acted on at the special meeting. However, if any other matters are properly presented at the special meeting, or any adjournment or postponement of the special meeting, the persons appointed as proxies or their substitutes will have discretion to vote or act on the matter according to their best judgment.

30

BACKGROUND OF THE REIT CONVERSION AND THE MERGER

As part of an ongoing strategic review of our business, our board of directors and senior management have been focused on the careful evaluation of our allocation of capital to enhance long-term stockholder value through a variety of strategies, including regularly considering available tax planning strategies. We historically have had significant NOLs in federal and state taxing jurisdictions. Generally, for federal and state income tax purposes, NOLs can be carried forward and used for up to 20 years, and the tax years will remain subject to examination by the IRS until three years after the applicable NOLs are used or expire. As we expected to exhaust our available NOLs over the course of the next several years, senior management believed that an analysis of the feasibility of Crown Castle converting to a REIT for federal and, where applicable, state income tax purposes should be undertaken and presented to the board of directors. In June 2013, senior management began consulting with representatives of Cravath, Swaine & Moore LLP and Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP, our Special Tax Counsel, whom we retained to assist us in analyzing the legal and regulatory issues and the tax implications of a possible conversion to a REIT.

On September 5, 2013, at a special meeting of the board of directors, the board of directors and senior management, together with representatives of our Special Tax Counsel, discussed, among other things, the rationale for the potential REIT conversion, the potential dividends that might be paid in connection with operating as a REIT, the REIT qualification tests (including the asset and income tests), the REIT-related opinions that would be required from counsel, the potential impact of the REIT conversion on Crown Castle s international operations, a private letter ruling request regarding certain of Crown Castle s operations (including its small cell business), the possible formation or designation of taxable REIT subsidiaries (including for its small cell business and Australian operations), the utilization of, and impact of the potential REIT conversion on, its NOLs, the potential need to seek stockholder approval of certain REIT-related corporate actions and the potential timing of the REIT conversion. After discussion, the board of directors unanimously directed senior management to take all necessary steps to position Crown Castle to operate in compliance with the REIT requirements as of January 1, 2014, subject to final board approval.

On September 9, 2013, we issued a press release announcing that we were commencing the steps necessary to qualify as a REIT.

On September 20, 2013, at a special meeting of the board of directors, the board of directors and senior management discussed the initiation of a quarterly dividend, to begin in the first quarter of 2014.

On October 17, 2013, at a special meeting of the board of directors, the board of directors approved a plan to initiate a quarterly cash dividend of \$0.35 per share to the holders of our common stock beginning in the first quarter of 2014, subject to certain conditions, which decision was made separate from, but in connection with, the REIT conversion.

Throughout the fourth quarter of 2013, senior management met regularly and reviewed various considerations relating to the potential REIT conversion, including valuation perspectives, balance sheet considerations and the impact of a REIT conversion on Crown Castle s ability to grow and to continue to access the capital markets.

In November 2013, we submitted a private letter ruling request to the IRS with respect to a number of REIT qualification matters related to our small cell business.

On December 16, 2013, at a special meeting of the board of directors, the board of directors and senior management, together with representatives of our Special Tax Counsel, reviewed and discussed the rationale for the REIT conversion, the steps that had been taken to date in connection with the potential REIT conversion, the potential dividends that would be paid in connection with operating as a REIT, the REIT qualification tests (including the asset and income tests) and the REIT-related opinions that would be required from counsel. In addition, senior management

stated that it was in favor of the REIT conversion and recommended that the board of directors approve the REIT conversion.

After a discussion and review of the benefits, detriments and procedural requirements specified above in connection with the proposed REIT conversion with senior management and representatives of our Special Tax Counsel, the board of directors unanimously approved resolutions directing senior management to take all necessary steps in order to operate Crown Castle in compliance with the REIT requirements beginning January 1, 2014.

On January 6, 2014, we issued a press release announcing that we had commenced operating as a REIT, effective January 1, 2014.

On May 29, 2014, at a regularly scheduled meeting of the strategy committee of the board of directors (at which meeting all directors of the board were in attendance), the directors and senior management reviewed and discussed the proposed merger and the potential terms of the CCR Charter. On May 30, 2014, at a regularly scheduled meeting of the board of directors, after further discussion, the board of directors, on a unanimous basis, determined that it was advisable and in the best interests of Crown Castle and its stockholders to pursue the merger, and preliminarily approved the merger, subject to the board of directors approval of the final form, terms and conditions of the merger agreement prior to its execution and the consummation of the merger.

On August 7, 2014, at a regularly scheduled meeting of the board of directors, the directors and senior management reviewed and discussed the proposed merger and the terms of the merger agreement. Representatives of Cravath, Swaine & Moore LLP were present and reviewed, among other things, the board of directors fiduciary duties under Delaware law with the directors. After discussion and review of the terms and conditions thereof, the board of directors, on a unanimous basis, approved the merger agreement and, after determining that the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement were advisable and in the best interests of Crown Castle and its stockholders, unanimously recommended that Crown Castle s stockholders vote their shares in favor of adopting the merger agreement at the special meeting.

On August 29, 2014, we received a favorable private letter ruling from the IRS, which provides that the real property portion of our small cells and the related rents qualify as real property and rents from real property, respectively, under the rules governing REITs. We are evaluating the impact of this private letter ruling and, subject to board approval, we expect to take appropriate action to include the qualifying portion of our small cells as part of the REIT, effective the beginning of 2015.

Although we have been operating as a REIT effective January 1, 2014, we believe that the merger of Crown Castle into CCR is in the best interests of Crown Castle and its stockholders, as it facilitates our continued compliance with the REIT rules by ensuring the effective adoption of certain charter provisions that implement REIT-related ownership limitations and transfer restrictions related to our capital stock.

32

OUR REASONS FOR THE REIT CONVERSION AND THE MERGER

Reasons for the REIT Conversion

The Crown Castle board of directors has unanimously approved the REIT conversion and the related transactions. In reaching this determination, the board of directors consulted with senior management and our Special Tax Counsel. The factors considered by the board of directors in reaching its determination included, the following:

To increase stockholder value: As a REIT, we believe we will be able to increase the long-term value of our common stock and benefit from a lower cost of capital compared to a regular C corporation as a result of increased cash flows and distributions;

To return capital to stockholders: We believe our stockholders will benefit from our establishment of regular cash distributions, resulting in a yield-oriented stock; and

To expand our base of potential stockholders: By becoming a company that makes regular distributions to its stockholders, our stockholder base may expand to include investors attracted by yield, which may provide a broader stockholder base and improve the liquidity of our common stock.

The Crown Castle board of directors also considered, among others, the following potentially negative factors:

the potential limitations imposed on our activities under the REIT structure;

the need to comply with the complicated REIT qualification provisions, which may hinder our ability to make certain attractive investments, including investments in the businesses to be conducted by our TRSs;

the requirement to pay dividends in order to comply with the REIT rules, which will limit our ability to retain earnings as we will be required each year to distribute to our stockholders at least 90% of our REIT taxable income after the utilization of our NOLs (determined without regard to the dividends paid deduction and by excluding any net capital gain);

concerns regarding investor perception and the potential changes to our stockholder base; and

the REIT-related ownership limitations and transfer restrictions in the CCR Charter, which have the potential effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a transaction or a change in control of us that might involve a premium price for our capital stock or otherwise be in the best interest of our stockholders.

In addition, the Crown Castle board of directors considered the potential risks discussed in Risk Factors Risks Relating to Our REIT Election .

Reasons for the Merger

The Crown Castle board of directors has unanimously determined that the merger is fair to, and in the best interests of, Crown Castle and its stockholders. In reaching this determination, the board of directors consulted with senior management and our Special Tax Counsel. In reaching its determination, the board of directors considered various factors, including the fact that although the REIT rules do not require the completion of the merger, the merger would facilitate our continued compliance with such rules, which, among other requirements, prohibit more than 50% of our capital stock from being owned by five or fewer individuals and require our capital stock to be beneficially owned by 100 or more persons, during certain periods of the taxable year. The board also considered that by merging Crown Castle with and into CCR, whose charter includes REIT-related provisions limiting the ownership and restricting the transfer of our capital stock, the merger would ensure the effective adoption of such provisions and facilitate our continued compliance with the REIT rules.

Table of Contents

The Crown Castle board of directors also considered, among others, the potentially negative factor that the REIT-related ownership limitations and transfer restrictions in the CCR Charter have the potential effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a transaction or a change in control of us that might involve a premium price for our capital stock or otherwise be in the best interest of our stockholders.

The foregoing discussions do not include all of the information and factors considered by the board of directors. After considering these factors, the Crown Castle board of directors weighed the advantages against the disadvantages and potential risks of the REIT conversion and the merger and concluded that the advantages outweighed the disadvantages and potential risks. In view of the wide variety of factors considered by the board of directors, the board of directors did not find it practicable to quantify or otherwise assign relative weights to the particular factors considered, but conducted an overall analysis of the information presented to and considered by it in reaching its determination. Please see the sections entitled Background of the REIT Conversion and the Merger and Risk Factors Risks Relating to Our REIT Election for more information.

34

TERMS OF THE MERGER

The following is a summary of the material terms of the merger agreement. For a complete description of all of the terms of the merger, you should refer to the copy of the merger agreement that is attached to this proxy statement/prospectus as Annex A and incorporated herein by reference. You should carefully read the merger agreement in its entirety as it is the legal document that governs the merger.

Structure and Completion of the Merger

CCR is currently a wholly owned subsidiary of Crown Castle. The merger agreement provides that Crown Castle will merge with and into CCR, at which time the separate corporate existence of Crown Castle will cease and CCR will be the surviving entity of the merger. Upon the effectiveness of the merger, the outstanding shares of Crown Castle common stock will be converted into the same number of shares of CCR common stock and the outstanding shares of Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock will be converted into the same number of shares of CCR Convertible Preferred Stock. Effective at the time of the merger, CCR will change its name to Crown Castle International Corp. and will succeed to the assets, continue the business and assume the obligations of Crown Castle.

On August 7, 2014, the board of directors of Crown Castle and the board of directors of CCR approved the merger agreement. The merger will become effective at the time the certificate of merger is submitted for filing and accepted by the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware in accordance with the DGCL or at such later time as specified in the certificate of merger. We anticipate that the merger will be completed no later than December 31, 2014, following the adoption of the merger agreement by the holders of Crown Castle common stock at the special meeting and the satisfaction or waiver of the other conditions to the merger as described in the section entitled Conditions to Completion of the Merger . However, the board of directors of Crown Castle reserves the right to cancel or defer the merger, even if the holders of Crown Castle common stock vote to adopt the merger agreement and the other conditions to the completion of the merger are satisfied or waived, if it determines that the merger is no longer in the best interests of Crown Castle and its stockholders.

Exchange of Stock Certificates

Surrender of Certificates. Computershare Inc. will act as exchange agent for the merger. As soon as reasonably practicable after the completion of the merger, Computershare Inc. will mail to each registered holder of a certificate representing shares of Crown Castle common stock a letter of transmittal containing instructions for surrendering each holder s certificate. Holders who properly submit a letter of transmittal and surrender their certificates to the exchange agent will receive a certificate representing shares of CCR common stock (or evidence of shares in uncertificated form) equal to that number of shares reflected in the surrendered certificate. The surrendered certificates will thereafter be cancelled. Upon the effectiveness of the merger, each certificate representing shares of Crown Castle common stock will be deemed for all purposes to evidence a right to receive a certificate representing the same number of shares of CCR common stock until such certificate is exchanged for a certificate (or evidence of shares in uncertificated form) representing an equal number of shares of CCR common stock. If you currently hold shares of Crown Castle common stock in uncertificated form, you will receive a notice of the completion of the merger and your shares of CCR common stock received in connection with the merger will continue to exist in uncertificated form.

Lost Certificates. If any Crown Castle certificate is lost, stolen or destroyed, the owner of the certificate must provide an appropriate affidavit of that fact to the exchange agent and, if required by CCR or the exchange agent, post a reasonable bond as indemnity against any claim that may be made against CCR or the exchange agent with respect to such lost certificate, as may be satisfactory to the exchange agent.

Stock Transfer Books. At the completion of the merger, Crown Castle will close its stock transfer books, and no subsequent transfers of Crown Castle capital stock will be recorded on such books.

Other Effects of the Merger

We expect the following to occur in connection with the merger:

Organizational Documents of CCR. The CCR Charter and CCR By-Laws will be amended in connection with the merger. Copies of the form of the CCR Charter and CCR By-Laws are set forth in Annex B-1 and Annex B-2, respectively, of this proxy statement/prospectus. See also the section entitled Description of CCR Capital Stock .

Directors and Executive Officers. The existing board of directors and executive officers of Crown Castle immediately prior to the merger will be the board of directors and executive officers, respectively, of CCR immediately following the merger, and each director and executive officer will continue his or her directorship or employment, as the case may be, with CCR under the same terms as his or her directorship or employment with Crown Castle.

Stock Incentive Plans. CCR will assume the Crown Castle International Corp. 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan and the Crown Castle International Corp. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan, which we refer to collectively as the Plans, and each, a Plan, and all rights of participants to acquire shares of Crown Castle common stock under any Plan and related award agreements will be converted into rights to acquire shares of CCR common stock in accordance with the terms of the Plans and related agreements on the same terms and conditions applicable prior to the merger. Any Crown Castle common stock subject to forfeiture restrictions and other terms of any Plan and related award agreements converted to CCR common stock at the time of the merger shall remain subject to the forfeiture restrictions and other such terms of such Plan and agreements.

Dividends and Distributions. Crown Castle s obligations with respect to any dividends or distributions to the stockholders of Crown Castle that have been declared by Crown Castle but not paid prior to the completion of the merger will be assumed by CCR.

Listing of CCR common stock and CCR Convertible Preferred Stock. We expect that, immediately following the completion of the merger, the CCR common stock will trade on the NYSE under the symbol CCI and that the shares of CCR Convertible Preferred Stock will trade on the NYSE under the symbol CCI-PRA.

Conditions to Completion of the Merger

The board of directors of Crown Castle has the right to cancel or defer the merger, even if the holders of Crown Castle common stock vote to adopt the merger agreement and the other conditions to the completion of the merger are satisfied or waived, if it determines that the merger is no longer in the best interests of Crown Castle and its stockholders. The merger will require the satisfaction or, where permitted, waiver, of the following conditions:

adoption of the merger agreement by the requisite vote of the stockholders of Crown Castle and CCR;

receipt by Crown Castle from its tax counsel of an opinion to the effect that the merger qualifies as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a)(1)(F) of the Code and that each of Crown Castle and CCR is a party to a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(b) of the Code;

CCR will have amended and restated its certificate of incorporation to read in substantially the form attached hereto as Annex B-1;

CCR will have amended and restated its By-Laws to read substantially in the form attached hereto as Annex B-2;

CCR will have filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware a Certificate of Designations of 4.50% Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock of Crown Castle REIT Inc. in substantially the form attached hereto as Annex B-3;

approval for listing on the NYSE of CCR common stock, subject to official notice of issuance;

36

approval for listing on the NYSE of CCR Convertible Preferred Stock, subject to official notice of issuance;

the effectiveness of the Registration Statement, of which this proxy statement/prospectus is a part, without the issuance of a stop order or initiation of any proceeding seeking a stop order by the SEC;

the determination by the board of directors of Crown Castle, in its sole discretion, that no legislation or proposed legislation with a reasonable probability of being enacted would have the effect of substantially (a) impairing the ability of CCR to qualify as a REIT, (b) increasing the federal tax liability of Crown Castle or CCR resulting from the REIT conversion or (c) reducing the expected benefits to CCR resulting from the REIT conversion; and

receipt of all governmental approvals and third-party consents to the merger, except for consents as would not reasonably be expected to materially and adversely affect the business, financial condition or results of operations of CCR.

Termination of the Merger Agreement

The merger agreement provides that it may be terminated and the merger abandoned at any time prior to its completion, before or after adoption of the merger agreement by the holders of Crown Castle common stock, by either:

the mutual written consent of the board of directors of Crown Castle and the board of directors of CCR; or

the board of directors of Crown Castle in its sole discretion.

We have no current intention of abandoning the merger subsequent to the special meeting if approval by the holders of Crown Castle common stock is obtained and the other conditions to the merger are satisfied or waived. However, the board of directors of Crown Castle reserves the right to cancel or defer the merger, even if the holders of Crown Castle common stock vote to adopt the merger agreement and the other conditions to the completion of the merger are satisfied or waived, if it determines that the merger is no longer in the best interests of Crown Castle and its stockholders.

Regulatory Approvals

We are not aware of any federal, state, local or foreign regulatory requirements that must be complied with or approvals that must be obtained prior to completion of the merger pursuant to the merger agreement, other than compliance with applicable federal and state securities laws, the filing of a certificate of merger as required under the DGCL and various state governmental authorizations.

Absence of Appraisal Rights

Pursuant to Section 262(b) of the DGCL, the stockholders of Crown Castle will not be entitled to any statutory appraisal rights in connection with the merger.

Restrictions on Sales of CCR Common Stock and CCR Convertible Preferred Stock Issued Pursuant to the Merger

The shares of CCR common stock and CCR Convertible Preferred Stock to be issued in connection with the merger will, subject to the restrictions on the transfer and ownership of CCR capital stock set forth in the CCR Charter, be freely transferable under the Securities Act, except for shares issued to any holder who may be deemed to be an affiliate of CCR for purposes of Rule 144 under the Securities Act. Persons who may be deemed to be affiliates include individuals or entities that control, are controlled by, or under the common control with, CCR and may include the executive officers, directors and significant stockholders of CCR.

Accounting Treatment of the Merger

For accounting purposes, the merger of Crown Castle with and into CCR will be treated as a transfer of assets and exchange of shares between entities under common control. The accounting basis used to initially record the assets and liabilities in CCR is the carryover basis of Crown Castle. Stockholder s equity of CCR will be that carried over from Crown Castle.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Prior to 2014, we did not pay cash dividends on our common stock. It has been our policy to utilize all of our net cash provided by operating activities to engage in discretionary investments such as those discussed in the section entitled Our Business . In the first quarter of 2014, our board of directors initiated a quarterly cash dividend on our common stock. For each of the first three quarters of 2014, the dividend declared on our common stock was \$0.35 per share. The declaration, amount and payment of any future dividends, however, are subject to the determination of our board of directors based on then-current or anticipated future conditions, including our earnings, net cash provided by operating activities, capital requirements, financial condition, our relative market capitalization, our existing NOLs, or other factors deemed relevant by our board of directors. In addition, our ability to pay dividends is limited by the terms of our debt instruments and our Convertible Preferred Stock under certain circumstances.

Effective January 1, 2014, we commenced operating as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. To qualify and be taxed as a REIT, we will generally be required to distribute at least 90% of our REIT taxable income after the utilization of our NOLs (determined without regard to the dividends paid deduction and excluding net capital gain) each year to our stockholders. Our determination as to the timing and amount of future dividends will be based on a number of factors, including investment opportunities around our core business and the availability of our existing NOLs of approximately \$2.2 billion, of which approximately \$1.9 billion is available to offset REIT taxable income. See the section entitled Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations General Overview .

For information regarding risk factors that could materially adversely affect our actual results of operations, please see the section entitled Risk Factors .

39

OUR BUSINESS

Set forth below is a description of the business of Crown Castle. Crown Castle REIT Inc., or CCR, a wholly owned subsidiary of Crown Castle, was incorporated in Delaware on May 27, 2014. Effective at the time of the merger, CCR will be renamed Crown Castle International Corp. and will succeed to the assets, continue the business and assume the obligations of Crown Castle.

Overview

We own, operate and lease shared wireless infrastructure, including: (1) towers, and to a lesser extent, (2) small cells and (3) third party land interests. Our core business is providing access, including space or capacity, to our towers, and to a lesser extent, to our small cells and third party land interests via long-term contracts. Our wireless infrastructure can accommodate multiple customers for antennas or other equipment necessary for the transmission of signals for wireless communication devices. We seek to increase our site rental revenues by adding more tenants on our wireless infrastructure, which we expect to result in significant incremental cash flows due to our relatively fixed operating costs.

Effective January 1, 2014, we commenced operating as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. See the section entitled Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations General Overview REIT Election .

Certain information concerning our business as of June 30, 2014 is as follows:

We owned, leased or managed approximately 40,000 towers in the U.S. and approximately 1,800 towers in Australia.

Approximately 56% and 71% of our towers in the U.S. are located in the 50 and 100 largest U.S. basic trading areas, or BTAs, respectively. Our towers have a significant presence in each of the top 100 BTAs in the U.S.

We owned, including fee interests and perpetual easements, land and other property interests, including rooftops, which we collectively refer to as land, on which approximately one-third of our site rental gross margin is derived, and we leased, subleased, managed or licensed, which we collectively refer to as leased, the land interests on which approximately two-thirds of our site rental gross margin is derived. The leases for the land interests under our towers had an average remaining life of approximately 30 years, weighted based on site rental gross margin.

Certain information concerning our customers and site rental contracts as of and for the six months ended June 30, 2014 is as follows:

Approximately 89% of our consolidated revenues were derived from Sprint, AT&T (after giving effect to AT&T s acquisition of Leap Wireless (completed in March 2014)), T-Mobile and Verizon Wireless, which represented 26%, 26%, 21% and 16%, respectively, of our consolidated revenues for such period.

Site rental revenues represented 83% of our consolidated net revenues.

Our site rental revenues are of a recurring nature, and typically in excess of 90% have been contracted for in a prior year, excluding the impact of current year acquisitions.

Our site rental revenues typically result from long-term contracts with (1) initial terms of five to 15 years, (2) multiple renewal periods at the option of the tenant of five to ten years each, (3) limited termination rights for our customers, and (4) contractual escalations of the rental price.

Exclusive of renewals at the customers option, our customer contracts have a weighted-average remaining life of approximately seven years and represent \$22 billion of expected future cash inflows.

40

As part of our effort to provide comprehensive wireless infrastructure solutions, we offer certain network services relating to our wireless infrastructure, consisting of installation services and additional site development services relating to existing or new antenna installations on our wireless infrastructure.

Strategy

Our strategy is to translate anticipated demand for our wireless infrastructure into growth in our cash flows and long-term stockholder value. We measure long-term stockholder value as the combined growth in our per share results and dividends to common stockholders. The key elements of our strategy are to:

Organically grow the cash flows from our wireless infrastructure. We seek to maximize the site rental cash flows derived from our wireless infrastructure by co-locating additional tenants on our wireless infrastructure through long-term contracts as our customers deploy and improve their wireless networks. We seek to maximize new tenant additions through our focus on customer service and deployment speed. Due to the relatively fixed nature of the costs to operate our wireless infrastructure (which tend to increase at approximately the rate of inflation), we expect increases in cash rental receipts from new tenant additions and the related subsequent impact from contracted escalations to result in growth in our operating cash flows. We believe there is considerable additional future demand for our existing wireless infrastructure based on its location and the anticipated growth in the wireless communications industry. Substantially all of our wireless infrastructure can accommodate additional tenancy, either as currently constructed or with appropriate modifications to the structure, which we expect to have high incremental returns.

Allocate capital efficiently. We seek to allocate our available capital, including the net cash provided by our operating activities, in a manner that will increase long-term stockholder value, such as through the payment of dividends to common stockholders. Our historical discretionary investments have included the following (in no particular order):

purchasing shares of our common stock from time to time;

acquiring or constructing wireless infrastructure;

acquiring land interests under towers;

making improvements and structural enhancements to our existing wireless infrastructure; or

purchasing, repaying or redeeming our debt.

Our long-term strategy is based on our belief that additional demand for our wireless infrastructure will be created by the expected continued growth in the wireless communications industry, which is predominately driven by the demand for wireless data services by consumers. We believe that additional demand for wireless infrastructure will create future growth opportunities for us. We believe that such demand for our wireless infrastructure will continue,

will result in organic growth of our cash flows due to new tenant additions on our existing wireless infrastructure, and will create other growth opportunities for us, such as demand for new wireless infrastructure.

First Half 2014 Industry Highlights and Company Developments

As discussed in the section entitled Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, we commenced operating as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes effective January 1, 2014. Our small cells are currently included in one or more wholly owned TRSs. On August 29, 2014, we received a favorable private letter ruling from the IRS, which provides that the real property portion of our small cells and the related rents qualify as real property and rents from real property, respectively, under the rules governing REITs. We are evaluating the impact of this private letter ruling and, subject to board approval, we expect to take appropriate action to include the qualifying portion of our small cells as part of the REIT, effective the beginning of 2015. Additionally, we have included in TRSs our tower operations in Australia and certain other assets and operations. Those TRS assets and operations will continue to be subject, as applicable, to federal

and state corporate income taxes or to foreign taxes in the jurisdictions in which such assets and operations are located. Our foreign assets and operations (including our tower operations in Puerto Rico and Australia) most likely will be subject to foreign income taxes in the jurisdictions in which such assets and operations are located, regardless of whether they are included in a TRS or not.

During the first half of 2014, consumer demand for wireless data services continued to grow. This growth in wireless data services is driven by increased mobile video, mobile internet usage and machine-to-machine applications. We expect that consumers—growing wireless voice and data consumption will likely result in wireless carriers focusing on improving network quality and capacity by adding additional antennas or other equipment for the transmission of their services to wireless infrastructure in an effort to improve customer retention or satisfaction. All four of the major U.S. wireless carriers are in various stages of deploying 4G long-term evolution, or LTE, networks, which has translated into additional demand for our wireless infrastructure.

In April 2014, we issued \$850.0 million of senior notes due in April 2022, which we refer to as the 4.875% Senior Notes. The net proceeds from the offering were approximately \$839 million, after the deduction of associated fees. We utilized the net proceeds from the 4.875% Senior Notes offering to (1) repay \$300.0 million of the January 2010 Tower Revenue Notes with an anticipated repayment date in January 2015 and (2) redeem all of the previously outstanding 7.125% senior notes, which we collectively refer to as the 2014 Refinancings. For more information about the 2014 Refinancings, see note 4 to our condensed consolidated financial statements included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2014.

The Company

Virtually all of our operations are located in the U.S. and Australia. We conduct substantially all of our operations through subsidiaries of CCOC, including (1) certain subsidiaries which operate our wireless infrastructure portfolios in the U.S. and (2) a 77.6% owned subsidiary that operates our Australia tower portfolio. For more information about our operating segments, as well as financial information about the geographic areas in which we operate, see note 10 to our condensed consolidated financial statements included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2014, and note 17 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, which are incorporated by reference herein, and the section entitled Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations .

CCUSA

Site Rental. The core business of CCUSA is providing access to our wireless infrastructure. We predominately provide access to wireless carriers under long-term contracts for their antennas which transmit a variety of signals related to wireless voice and data. We believe our wireless infrastructure is integral to our customers networks and their ability to serve their customers.

We acquired ownership interests or exclusive rights to approximately 90% of our towers in CCUSA from the four largest U.S. wireless carriers (or their predecessors) through transactions consummated since 1999, including transactions with (1) AT&T in 2013, (2) T-Mobile in 2012, (3) Global Signal Inc., or Global Signal, in 2007, which had originally acquired the majority of its towers from Sprint, (4) companies now part of Verizon Wireless during 1999 and 2000, and (5) companies now part of AT&T during 1999 and 2000. Our small cells were primarily acquired through the acquisitions of NextG Networks, Inc. in 2012, which we refer to as the NextG Acquisition, and NewPath Networks, Inc. in 2010.

We generally receive monthly rental payments from tenants, payable under long-term contracts. We have existing master lease agreements with most U.S. wireless carriers, including Sprint, AT&T, T-Mobile and Verizon Wireless; such agreements provide certain terms (including economic terms) that govern contracts on our towers entered into by such carriers during the term of their master lease agreements. Over the last several

years, we have negotiated up to 15-year terms for both initial and renewal periods for certain of our customers, which often included fixed escalations. We continue to endeavor to negotiate with our existing customer base for longer contractual terms, which often may contain fixed escalation rates.

Our customer contracts have historically had a high renewal rate. With limited exceptions, the customer contracts may not be terminated prior to the end of their current term. In general, each customer contract which is renewable will automatically renew at the end of its term unless the customer provides prior notice of its intent not to renew. See note 16 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, which is incorporated by reference herein, for a tabular presentation of the minimum rental cash payments due to us as of December 31, 2013 by tenants pursuant to contract agreements without consideration of tenant renewal options.

The average monthly rental payment of a new tenant added to wireless infrastructure can vary based on (1) aggregate customer volume, (2) the different regions in the U.S. or (3) the physical size, weight and shape of the antenna installation and related equipment. With respect to our small cells, the amount of the monthly payments can also be influenced by similar factors, as well as the amount or cost of (1) installation, (2) fiber strands, (3) equipment at the site or (4) any prepaid rent received. We also routinely receive rental payment increases in connection with contract amendments, pursuant to which our customers add additional antennas or other equipment to wireless infrastructure on which they already have equipment pursuant to pre-existing contract agreements. In some cases, we have effectively pre-sold, via a firm contractual commitment, a significant portion of the modification of the existing installations relating to certain LTE upgrades in exchange for an increase in the future contracted revenue above that of a typical escalation over a period of time, typically a three or four year period. See the section entitled Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations General Overview .

Approximately two-thirds of our direct site operating expenses consist of lease expenses and the remainder includes property taxes, repairs and maintenance, employee compensation or related benefit costs, or utilities. Our cash operating expenses tend to escalate at approximately the rate of inflation, partially offset by reductions in cash lease expenses from our purchases of land interests. As a result of the relatively fixed nature of these expenditures, the co-location of additional tenants is achieved at a low incremental operating cost, resulting in high incremental operating cash flows. Our wireless infrastructure portfolio requires minimal sustaining capital expenditures, including maintenance or other non-discretionary capital expenditures, and are typically less than 2% of net revenues. See the section entitled Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Liquidity and Capital Resources , for a tabular presentation of the rental cash payments owed by us as of June 30, 2014 to landlords pursuant to our contractual agreements.

Network Services. As part of CCUSA s effort to provide comprehensive solutions, it offers certain network services relating to its wireless infrastructure, consisting of (1) installation services and (2) the following additional site development services relating to our customers existing or new antenna installations on CCUSA s wireless infrastructure: site acquisition, architectural and engineering, zoning or permitting, or other construction or network development related services. For the six months ended June 30, 2014, over half of CCUSA s network services and other revenues related to installation services, and the remainder related to additional site development services. We have grown our network service revenues over the last several years as a result of our focus on customer service, increasing our market share for installation services on our wireless infrastructure, promoting site development services, expanding the scope of our services and engaging in an increased volume resulting from carrier network upgrades. We have the capability and expertise to install, with the assistance of our network of subcontractors, equipment or antenna systems for our customers. We do not always provide the installation or site development services for our customers on our wireless infrastructure as third parties also provide these services (see also Competition below). These activities are typically non-recurring and highly competitive, with a number of local

competitors in most markets. Nearly all of our antenna installation services are billed on a cost-plus profit basis.

43

Customers. We work extensively with large national wireless carriers, and in general, our customers are primarily comprised of providers of wireless voice or data services who operate national or regional networks. The following table summarizes the percentage of the consolidated revenues for those customers accounting for more than 10% of the consolidated revenues (all of such customer revenues relate to our CCUSA segment). The following table is presented after giving effect to AT&T s acquisition of Leap Wireless (completed in March 2014). See the section entitled Risk Factors .

	Six Months Ended June 30,	
Customer	2014	2013
Sprint	26%	30%
AT&T	26%	20%
T-Mobile	21%	21%
Verizon Wireless	16%	16%
Total	89%	87%

Sales and Marketing. Our sales organization markets our wireless infrastructure within the wireless communications industry with the objectives of providing access to existing wireless infrastructure or to new wireless infrastructure prior to construction as well as obtaining network services related to our wireless infrastructure. We seek to become the critical partner and preferred independent wireless infrastructure provider for our customers and increase customer satisfaction relative to our peers by leveraging our (1) customer relationships, (2) process-centric approach and (3) technological tools.

A team of national account directors maintains our relationships with our largest customers. These directors work to develop wireless infrastructure leasing or network service opportunities, as well as to ensure that customers—wireless infrastructure needs are efficiently translated into new leases on our wireless infrastructure. Sales personnel in our area offices develop and maintain local relationships with our customers that are expanding their networks, entering new markets, bringing new technologies to market or requiring maintenance or add-on business. In addition to our full-time sales or marketing staff, a number of senior managers and officers spend a significant portion of their time on sales and marketing activities and call on existing or prospective customers.

We use public and proprietary databases to develop targeted marketing programs focused on carrier network expansions, including small cells, or related network services. We attempt to match specific wireless infrastructure in our portfolio with potential new site demand by obtaining and analyzing information, including our customers—existing antenna locations, tenant contracts, marketing strategies, capital spend plans, deployment status or actual wireless carrier signal strength measurements taken in the field. We have developed a web-based tool that stores key wireless infrastructure information above and beyond normal property management information, including data on actual customer signal strength, demographics, site readiness or competitive structures. In addition, the web-based tool assists us in estimating potential demand for our wireless infrastructure with greater speed and accuracy. We believe these and other tools we have developed assist our customers in their site selection or deployment of their wireless networks and provide us with an opportunity to have proactive discussions with them regarding their wireless infrastructure deployment plans and the timing or location of their demand for our wireless infrastructure. A key aspect to our sales and marketing strategy is a continued emphasis on our process-centric approach to reduce cycle time related to new leasing or amendments, which helps provide our customers with faster deployment of their networks.

Competition. We compete with (1) other independent tower owners which also provide site rental or network services, (2) wireless carriers which build, own or operate their own tower networks and lease space to other wireless communication companies and (3) owners of alternative infrastructure, including rooftops, water towers, broadcast towers, utility poles, DAS or other small cells. Some of the larger independent tower companies with which we compete in the U.S. include American Tower Corporation and SBA Communications

44

Corporation. In addition, some wireless carriers own and operate their own tower networks. We believe that tower location, deployment speed, quality of service, capacity and price have been and will continue to be the most significant competitive factors affecting the leasing of wireless infrastructure. See the section entitled Risk Factors .

Competitors in our network services offering include site acquisition consultants, zoning consultants, real estate firms, right-of-way consulting firms, construction companies, tower owners or managers, radio frequency engineering consultants, telecommunications equipment vendors who can provide turnkey site development services through multiple subcontractors, or our customers internal staff. We believe that our customers base their decisions on the outsourcing of network services on criteria such as a company s experience, track record, local reputation, price, or time for completion of a project.

CCAL

Our primary business in Australia is providing access to antenna space on towers to our customers. We own 77.6% of CCAL. CCAL is the largest independent tower operator in Australia. As of June 30, 2014, 55% of CCAL s towers were located in seven major metropolitan areas. The majority of CCAL s towers were acquired from Optus (in 2000) and Vodafone (in 2001). CCAL also provides site development services and property management services for towers owned by third parties.

For the six months ended June 30, 2014, CCAL comprised approximately 4% of our consolidated net revenues. CCAL s principal customers are Vodafone Hutchison Australia (a joint venture between Vodafone and Hutchison, or VHA), Optus and Telstra, which collectively accounted for approximately 85% of CCAL s net revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2014. During the first half of 2014, the Australian government continued the development and roll out of the National Broadband Network, or NBN. NBN is a national high-speed open-access data network targeting nearly all Australian premises and includes a fixed wireless broadband network expected to be deployed by 2016. We believe that the continued development of NBN may result in additional future demand for (1) new tenant additions on CCAL s existing towers or (2) the construction of new towers.

In Australia, CCAL competes with wireless carriers, which own and operate their own tower networks; service companies that provide site development or property management services; and other site owners, such as broadcasters and building owners. The other significant tower owners in Australia are Broadcast Australia, an independent operator of broadcast towers, and Telstra and Optus, wireless carriers. We believe that tower location, quality of service, deployment speed, capacity or price within a geographic market are the most significant competitive factors affecting the leasing of wireless infrastructure in Australia.

Properties

Offices

Our principal corporate headquarters is owned and located in Houston, Texas. In addition, we have offices in the U.S. where we have high wireless infrastructure concentrations and an office in Sydney, Australia.

Wireless Infrastructure

Towers are vertical metal structures generally ranging in height from 50 to 500 feet. In addition, wireless communications equipment may also be placed on building rooftops and other structures. Our towers are located on tracts of land with an average size of approximately 20,000 square feet. These tracts of land support the towers, equipment shelters, and where applicable, guyed wires to stabilize the structure. Our small cells are typically located

in areas in which zoning restrictions or other barriers may prevent or delay the deployment of a tower and often are attached to public right-of-way infrastructure, including utility poles or street lights, or are located at venues or universities. To date, our small cells are DAS, which is a network of antennas for the benefit of wireless carriers and is connected by fiber to communication hubs designed to facilitate wireless communications.

See the section entitled Our Business Overview for information regarding our wireless infrastructure portfolio including with respect to our land interests and for a discussion of the location of our towers in the U.S. and Australia, including the percentage of our U.S. towers in the top 50 and 100 BTAs. See the section entitled Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Liquidity and Capital Resources Contractual Cash Obligations for a tabular presentation of the remaining terms to final expiration of the leases for the land interests which we do not own and on which our towers are located as of June 30, 2014.

As of June 30, 2014, approximately 78% of our debt is secured. Nearly all of our wireless infrastructure is held in subsidiaries whose equity interests have been pledged, directly or indirectly, along with other collateral to secure such indebtedness. See note 4 to our condensed consolidated financial statements included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2014, which is incorporated by reference herein.

Approximately 54% of our towers are leased or subleased or operated and managed under master leases, subleases, or other agreements with Sprint, T-Mobile and AT&T. We have the option to purchase these towers at the end of their respective lease terms; we have no obligation to exercise such purchase options. See note 1 to our condensed consolidated financial statements included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2014, which is incorporated by reference herein, and Risk Factors for a further discussion. Substantially all of our wireless infrastructure can accommodate additional tenancy either as currently constructed or with appropriate modifications to the structure. Additionally, if so inclined as a result of a customer request for a new co-location or amendment of an existing installation, we could generally replace an existing tower with another tower in its place providing additional capacity, subject to certain restrictions. As of June 30, 2014, the average number of tenants (defined as a unique license or any related amendments thereto for count purposes) per tower is approximately 2.3 on our towers, which is inclusive of the impact of the towers acquired as a result of the T-Mobile Acquisition and AT&T Acquisition that have a lower average tenancy than the remainder of our portfolio. The following is a summary of the number of existing tenants per tower as of June 30, 2014 (see the section entitled Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Accounting and Reporting Matters Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates for a discussion of our impairment evaluation and our towers with no tenants).

Number of Tenants	Percent of Towers
Greater than five	4%
Five	5%
Four	9%
Three	16%
Two	25%
Less than two	41%
Total	100%

Employees

At June 30, 2014, we employed approximately 2,100 people worldwide, including approximately 1,900 in the U.S. We are not a party to any collective bargaining agreements. We have not experienced any strikes or work stoppages, and management believes that our employee relations are satisfactory.

Regulatory and Environmental Matters

To date, we have not incurred any material fines or penalties or experienced any material adverse effects to our business as a result of any domestic or international regulations. The summary below is based on regulations currently in effect, and such regulations are subject to review or modification by the applicable governmental authority from time to time. If we fail to comply with applicable laws and regulations, we may be fined or even lose our rights to conduct some of our business.

46

United States

We are required to comply with a variety of federal, state, and local regulations and laws in the U.S., including Federal Communications Commission, or FCC, and Federal Aviation Administration, or FAA, regulations and those discussed under Environmental below.

Federal Regulations. Both the FCC and the FAA regulate towers used for wireless communications, radio, or television broadcasting. Such regulations control the siting, lighting, or marking of towers and may, depending on the characteristics of particular towers, require the registration of tower facilities with the FCC and the issuance of determinations confirming no hazard to air traffic. Wireless communications devices operating on towers are separately regulated and independently licensed based upon the particular frequency used. In addition, the FCC and the FAA have developed standards to consider proposals for new or modified tower or antenna structures based upon the height or location, including proximity to airports. Proposals to construct or to modify existing tower or antenna structures above certain heights are reviewed by the FAA to ensure the structure will not present a hazard to aviation, which determination may be conditioned upon compliance with lighting or marking requirements. The FCC requires its licensees to operate communications devices only on towers that comply with FAA rules and are registered with the FCC, if required by its regulations. Where tower lighting is required by FAA regulation, tower owners bear the responsibility of notifying the FAA of any tower lighting outage and ensuring the timely restoration of such outages. Failure to comply with the applicable requirements may lead to civil penalties.

Local Regulations. The U.S. Telecommunications Act of 1996 amended the Communications Act of 1934 to preserve state and local zoning authorities—jurisdiction over the siting of communications towers and small cells. The law, however, limits local zoning authority by prohibiting actions by local authorities that discriminate between different service providers of wireless services or ban altogether the provision of wireless services. Additionally, the law prohibits state and local restrictions based on the environmental effects of radio frequency emissions to the extent the facilities comply with FCC regulations.

Local regulations include city and other local ordinances (including subdivision and zoning ordinances), approvals for construction, modification and removal of towers and small cells, and restrictive covenants imposed by community developers. These regulations vary greatly, but typically require us to obtain approval from local officials prior to tower construction. Local zoning authorities may render decisions that prevent the construction or modification of towers or place conditions on such construction or modifications that are responsive to community residents—concerns regarding the height, visibility, or other characteristics of the towers. To expedite the deployment of wireless networks, the FCC issued a declaratory ruling in 2009, which is currently under appeal, establishing timeframes for the review of applications by local and state governments of 90 days for co-locations and 150 days for new tower construction. The Middle Class Tax Relief and Job Creation Act of 2012 mandates that state and local governments must approve an eligible facility—s request for the modification of an existing tower that does not substantially change the dimensions of such tower. Notwithstanding the FCC declaratory ruling and recent legislation, decisions of local zoning authorities may also adversely affect the timing or cost of wireless infrastructure construction or modification.

Some of our small cell related subsidiaries hold authorization to provide intrastate telecommunication services as CLECs in numerous states and to provide domestic interstate telecommunication services as authorized by the FCC. These small cell subsidiaries are primarily regulated by state public service commissions which have jurisdiction over public rights-of-way. CLEC status, in certain cases, helps promote access to such public rights-of-way, which is beneficial to the deployment of our small cells on a timely basis. Status as a CLEC often allows us to deploy our small cell systems in locations where zoning restrictions might otherwise delay, restrict, or prevent building or expanding traditional wireless tower sites or traditional wireless rooftop sites.

Environmental. We are required to comply with a variety of federal, state, and local environmental laws and regulations protecting environmental quality, including air and water quality and wildlife protection. To date, we

have not incurred any material fines or penalties or experienced any material adverse effects to our business as a result of any domestic or international environmental regulations or matters. See the section entitled Risk Factors .

The construction of new towers or, in some cases, the modification of existing towers in the U.S. may be subject to environmental review under the National Environmental Policy Act of 1969, as amended, or NEPA, which requires federal agencies to evaluate the environmental impact of major federal actions. The FCC has promulgated regulations implementing NEPA which require applicants to investigate the potential environmental impact of the proposed tower construction. Should the proposed tower construction present a significant environmental impact, the FCC must prepare an environmental impact statement, subject to public comment. If the proposed construction or modification of a tower may have a significant impact on the environment, the FCC s approval of the construction or modification could be significantly delayed.

Our operations are subject to federal, state, and local laws and regulations relating to the management, use, storage, disposal, emission, or remediation of, or exposure to, hazardous or non-hazardous substances, materials, or wastes. As an owner, lessee, or operator of real property, we are subject to certain environmental laws that impose strict, joint-and-several liability for the cleanup of on-site or off-site contamination relating to existing or historical operations; or we could also be subject to personal injury or property damage claims relating to such contamination. In general, our customer contracts prohibit our customers from using or storing any hazardous substances on our tower sites in violation of applicable environmental laws and require our customers to provide notice of certain environmental conditions caused by them.

As licensees and wireless infrastructure owners, we are also subject to regulations and guidelines that impose a variety of operational requirements relating to radio frequency emissions. As employers, we are subject to Occupational Safety and Health Administration (and similar occupational health and safety legislation in Australia) and similar guidelines regarding employee protection from radio frequency exposure. The potential connection between radio frequency emissions and certain negative health effects, including some forms of cancer, has been the subject of substantial study by the scientific community in recent years.

We have compliance programs and monitoring projects to help assure that we are in substantial compliance with applicable environmental laws. Nevertheless, there can be no assurance that the costs of compliance with existing or future environmental laws will not have a material adverse effect on us.

Other Regulations. We hold, through certain of our subsidiaries, licenses for common carrier microwave service, which are subject to additional regulation by the FCC. Our FCC license relating to our 1670-1675 MHz U.S. nationwide spectrum license, which we refer to as Spectrum, is pending FCC renewal and contains certain conditions related to the services that may be provided thereunder, the technical equipment used in connection therewith and the circumstances under which it may be renewed. We have leased the Spectrum to a third party through 2023, subject to the lessee s option to purchase the spectrum.

Australia

Federal Regulations. Carrier licenses and nominated carrier declarations issued under the Australian Telecommunications Act 1997 authorize the use of network units for the supply of telecommunications services to the public. The definition of network units includes line links and base stations used for wireless voice services but does not include tower infrastructure. Accordingly, CCAL as a tower owner and operator does not require a carrier license under the Australian Telecommunications Act 1997. Similarly, because CCAL does not own any transmitters or spectrum, it does not currently require any apparatus or spectrum licenses issued under the Australian Radiocommunications Act 1992.

Carriers have a statutory obligation to provide other carriers with access to towers, and if there is a dispute (including a pricing dispute), the matter may be referred to the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission for resolution. As a non-carrier, CCAL is not subject to this requirement, and our customers negotiate site access on a commercial basis.

While the Australian Telecommunications Act 1997 grants certain exemptions from planning laws for the installation of low impact facilities , newly constructed towers are expressly excluded from the definition of low impact facilities . Accordingly, in connection with the construction of towers, CCAL is subject to state and local planning laws that vary on a site-by-site basis, typically requiring us to obtain approval from local government agencies prior to tower construction, subject to certain exceptions. Structural enhancements may be undertaken on behalf of a carrier without state or local planning approval under the general maintenance power under the Australian Telecommunications Act 1997, although these enhancements may be subject to state and local planning laws if CCAL is unable to obtain carrier cooperation to use such power. For a limited number of towers, CCAL is also required to install aircraft warning lighting in compliance with federal aviation regulations. In Australia, a carrier may arguably be able to utilize the maintenance power under the Australian Telecommunications Act 1997 to remain as a tenant on a tower after the expiration of a site license or sublease; however, CCAL s customer access agreements generally limit the ability of customers to do this, and, even if a carrier did utilize this power, the carrier would be required to pay for CCAL s financial loss, which would roughly equal the site rental revenues that would have otherwise been payable.

Local Regulations. In Australia there are various local, state, and territory laws and regulations which relate to, among other things, town planning and zoning restrictions, standards or approvals for the design, construction or alteration of a structure or facility, or environmental regulations. As in the U.S., these laws vary greatly, but typically require tower owners to obtain approval from governmental bodies prior to tower construction and to comply with environmental laws on an ongoing basis.

Legal Proceedings

We are periodically involved in legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of business. Most of these proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business involve disputes with landlords, vendors, collection matters involving bankrupt customers, zoning or variance matters, condemnation, or wrongful termination claims. While the outcome of these matters cannot be predicted with certainty, management does not expect any pending matters to have a material adverse effect on us.

49

POLICIES WITH RESPECT TO CERTAIN ACTIVITIES

The following is a discussion of our anticipated policies with respect to distributions, investments, financing, lending and certain other activities of CCR. Upon completion of the merger, these policies will be determined and periodically thereafter amended without notice to, or a vote of, the stockholders of CCR, except that changes in certain policies with respect to conflicts of interest must be consistent with legal and contractual requirements.

Dividend Policy

In the first quarter of 2014, our board of directors initiated a quarterly cash dividend on our common stock. For each of the first three quarters of 2014, the dividend declared on our common stock was \$0.35 per share. For a discussion of our dividend and distribution policy, see the section entitled Dividend Policy .

Investment Policy

Effective as of January 1, 2014, we hold and operate substantially all of our domestic site rental business directly and indirectly through one or more QRSs, and we hold our small cell business, our tower operations in Australia and certain other assets and operations through one or more TRSs. We seek to allocate our available capital, including the net cash provided by our operating activities, in a manner that will increase long-term stockholder value, such as through the payment of dividends to common stockholders. Our historical discretionary investments have included the following (in no particular order):

purchasing shares of our common stock from time to time;
acquiring or constructing wireless infrastructure;
acquiring land interests under towers;

making improvements and structural enhancements to our existing wireless infrastructure; or

purchasing, repaying or redeeming our debt.

We will continue to reinvest in our existing assets through capital expenditures. We categorize our capital expenditures as sustaining or discretionary. Sustaining capital expenditures include capitalized costs related to (a) maintenance activities on our wireless infrastructure, which are generally related to replacements and upgrades that extend the life of the asset, (b) vehicles, (c) information technology equipment and (d) office equipment. Discretionary capital expenditures, which we commonly refer to as revenue-generating capital expenditures , include (i) purchases of land interests under towers, (ii) wireless infrastructure improvements and structural enhancements in order to support additional site rentals and (iii) the construction of wireless infrastructure. Our discretionary capital expenditures are made with respect to activities which we believe exhibit sufficient potential to enhance long-term stockholder value. Our decisions regarding capital expenditures are influenced by the availability and cost of capital and expected returns on alternative uses of cash, such as payments of dividends and investments.

The majority of our towers in Australia were acquired from Optus (in 2000) and Vodafone (in 2001). For the six months ended June 30, 2014, our international operations accounted for approximately 4% of our consolidated net revenues. There are currently no limitations, other than restrictive covenants in our debt instruments, or policies on (a) the percentage of our assets that may be invested in any one property, venture or type of security, (b) the number of properties in which we may invest or (c) the concentration of investments in a single geographic region. The board of directors may establish limitations, and other policies, as it deems appropriate from time to time.

Financing Policy

We seek to maintain a capital structure that we believe drives long-term stockholder value and optimizes our weighed-average cost of capital. Our financing policies will largely depend on the nature and timeline of our investment opportunities and the prevailing economic and market conditions. If we determine that additional funding is desirable, we may raise funds through the following means:

debt financings, including accessing the credit markets and drawings from the 2012 Revolver;

accessing the equity markets; and

any combination of the above methods.

Over the next 12 months, we expect that our cash on hand, undrawn availability under the 2012 Revolver and net cash provided by operating activities should be sufficient to cover our expected debt service obligations, capital expenditures, common stock dividend payments and Convertible Preferred Stock dividend payments and to fund future discretionary investments.

We expect our primary source of external funding will continue to be the debt capital markets, the syndicated loan markets and drawings from the 2012 Revolver. As of September 15, 2014, we had \$1.2 billion in undrawn availability under the 2012 Revolver. We have issued senior unsecured notes and currently have an automatic shelf registration statement filed with the SEC to facilitate further issuances of debt. We also have a credit facility consisting of the 2012 Revolver and term loan facilities, and we also have several classes and series of securitized notes and secured notes.

We do not have a formal policy limiting the amount of indebtedness that we may incur, although we are subject to certain restrictions in our indentures and loan agreements with regard to permitted indebtedness and, in certain cases, we could be restricted from paying dividends on our capital stock.

The board of directors may also authorize the obtaining of additional capital through the issuance of equity securities. Pursuant to the CCR Charter, we will have authority to issue up to 600,000,000 shares of CCR common stock and 20,000,000 shares of preferred stock (of which 9,775,000 shares will initially be designated and issued as 4.50% Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, Series A). We may seek to offer equity securities as a source of discretionary investment funding when it is (a) a requirement of a seller, (b) if the size of a strategic transaction would increase our leverage beyond what the board of directors or management believes to be appropriate or (c) as otherwise determined appropriate by the board of directors.

In the future, we may seek to extend, expand, reduce or renew our credit facilities, obtain new credit facilities or lines of credit, or issue new unsecured or secured debt that may contain limitations on indebtedness.

We will consider a number of factors when evaluating our level of indebtedness and when making decisions regarding the incurrence of indebtedness, including overall prudence, the purchase price of assets to be acquired with debt financing, the estimated market value of our assets upon refinancing, our ability to generate cash flow to cover our expected debt service and dividend payments and restrictions under our existing debt arrangements. For additional information, see the section entitled Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations Liquidity and Capital Resources .

Lending Policy

We expect we will continue to make loans to our operating subsidiaries to the extent to which they require additional financing to fund growth through their discretionary capital programs and acquisitions.

51

Reports to Stockholders

We make available to our stockholders our annual reports, including our audited financial statements. We are subject to the information reporting provisions of the Exchange Act, which require us to file annual and periodic reports, proxy statements and other information, including audited financial statements, with the SEC.

Other Activities

We intend to operate and to invest so as to comply with the Code requirements related to REIT qualification unless, due to changing circumstances or changes to the Code or in Treasury regulations, the board of directors determines that it is no longer in the best interests of CCR and its stockholders to qualify as a REIT.

52

REPORT OF CROWN CASTLE REIT INC. S INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Sole Stockholder of

Crown Castle REIT Inc.

In our opinion, the accompanying balance sheet presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Crown Castle REIT Inc. at June 9, 2014 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The balance sheet is the responsibility of the Company s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the balance sheet based on our audit. We conducted our audit of this statement in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the balance sheet is free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the balance sheet, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall balance sheet presentation. We believe that our audit of the balance sheet provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

June 11, 2014

53

CROWN CASTLE REIT INC.

BALANCE SHEET

	As June 9	
Assets:		
Intercompany receivable	\$	10
Total assets	\$	10
Commitments and contingencies Liabilities and stockholder s equity:		
Liabilities	\$	
Stockholder s equity:		
Common stock, \$0.01 par value per share, 5,000 shares authorized, 1,000 shares issued and outstanding		10
Total stockholder s equity		10
Total liabilities and stockholder s equity	\$	10
See accompanying note to the balance sheet.		

CROWN CASTLE REIT INC.

NOTE TO THE BALANCE SHEET

1. Organization

CCR was incorporated on May 27, 2014, under the laws of the State of Delaware and was authorized to issue 5,000 shares of \$0.01 par value common stock. CCR, a wholly owned subsidiary of Crown Castle, was created to effect the merger described below.

Prior to the merger, CCR will conduct no business other than incident to the merger. In the merger, Crown Castle will merge with and into CCR. Upon effectiveness of the merger, shares of Crown Castle will be cancelled and the outstanding shares of common stock will be converted into the same number of shares of CCR common stock. Also upon effectiveness of the merger, shares of Crown Castle s Convertible Preferred Stock will be cancelled and the outstanding shares of Crown Castle s Convertible Preferred Stock will be converted into the same number of shares of CCR s Convertible Preferred Stock. CCR will, by virtue of the merger, directly or indirectly own all of the assets and business formerly owned by Crown Castle.

Also effective at the time of the merger, CCR will change its name to Crown Castle International Corp. and its certificate of incorporation will be amended and restated. The amended and restated certificate is substantially the same as the Crown Castle Charter, except for the addition of ownership limitations and transfer restrictions on CCR capital stock to facilitate CCR s continued compliance with the rules applicable to REITs. The existing board of directors and executive officers of Crown Castle immediately prior to the merger will be the board of directors and executive officers, respectively, of CCR immediately following the merger.

55

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected consolidated statement of operations data set forth below for the six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 and the selected consolidated balance sheet data as of June 30, 2014 have been derived from Crown Castle s unaudited consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto, incorporated by reference into this proxy statement/prospectus. The selected consolidated statement of operations data set forth below for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 and the selected consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 have been derived from Crown Castle s audited consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto, incorporated by reference into this proxy statement/prospectus. The selected consolidated statement of operations data set forth below for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 and the selected consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 have been derived from Crown Castle s audited consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto, which are not included or incorporated by reference into this proxy statement/prospectus.

The following information does not provide all of the information contained in Crown Castle s financial statements, including the related notes. The information set forth below should be read in conjunction with the sections entitled Our Business and Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes incorporated by reference into this proxy statement/prospectus.

		Voor I		Six Months Ended June 30,				
	2013 ^(a)	$2012^{(a)}$	Ended Decem 2011 , except per sl	2010 hare amounts	2009	2014	2013 dited)	
Statements of Operations Data:								
Net revenues:								
Site Rental	\$ 2,503,620	\$ 2,124,190	\$ 1,853,550	\$1,700,761	\$ 1,543,192	\$ 1,493,502	\$ 1,232,264	
Network services and other	518,764	308,490	179,179	177,897	142,215	298,793	242,724	
Net revenues	3,022,384	2,432,680	2,032,729	1,878,658	1,685,407	1,792,295	1,474,988	
Operating expenses:								
Cost of operations ^(b) :								
Site rental	725,109	539,239	481,398	467,136	456,560	465,067	356,621	
Network services and other	321,687	189,750	106,987	114,241	92,808	176,321	147,576	
Total costs of operations	1,046,796	728,989	588,385	581,377	549,368	641,388	504,197	
General and administrative	238,702	212,572	173,493	165,356	153,072	134,002	113,035	
	14,863	15,548	22,285	13,687	19,237	5,869	6,812	

Asset write-down charges							
Acquisition and							
integration costs	26,005	18,298	3,310	2,102		24,856	8,817
Depreciation,	·	ŕ	,	,		·	·
amortization and							
accretion	774,215	622,592	552,951	540,771	529,739	504,426	377,110
decretion	771,213	022,372	332,731	510,771	327,137	301,120	377,110
Operating income							
(loss)	921,803	834,681	692,305	575,365	433,991	481,754	465,017
Interest expense	721,003	054,001	072,303	373,303	733,771	T01,/JT	403,017
and amortization							
of deferred	(500, 620)	(601.044)	(507,507)	(400.260)	(445,000)	(200,024)	(204 (25)
financing costs ^(c)	(589,630)	(601,044)	(507,587)	(490,269)	(445,882)	(290,934)	(304,625)
Gains (losses) on							
retirement of							
long-term							
obligations ^(c)	(37,127)	(131,974)		(138,367)	(91,079)	(44,629)	(36,486)
Net gain (loss) on							
interest rate							
swaps ^(d)				(286,435)	(92,966)		
Interest income	1,355	4,556	666	2,204	2,967	362	625
Other income							
(expense)	(3,872)	(5,392)	(5,577)	(603)	2,446	(8,799)	(122)
(* F * * *)	(-,,	(-))	(-))	()	, -	(-,,	()
Income (loss)							
before income							
taxes	292,529	100,827	179,807	(338,105)	(190,523)	137,754	124,409
Benefit (provision)	·	100,027	177,007	(000,100)	(1) 0,0 =0)	107,70	12 1, 10)
for income taxes ^(e)	(198,628)	100,061	(8,347)	26,846	76,400	396	(54,295)
Tot income taxes.	(170,020)	100,001	(0,547)	20,040	70,400	370	(34,273)
Net income							
(loss) ^(f)	93,901	200,888	171,460	(311,259)	(114,123)	138,150	70,114
Less: Net	93,901	200,888	171,400	(311,239)	(114,123)	130,130	70,114
(income) loss							
attributable to the							
noncontrolling	2 = 20	10.001	202	(210)	• • • •	2611	
interest	3,790	12,304	383	(319)	209	2,644	2,293
Net income (loss)							
attributable to				(210010)			
CCIC stockholders	90,111	188,584	171,077	(310,940)	(114,332)	135,506	67,821
Dividends on							
preferred stock							
and losses on							
purchases of							
preferred stock(g)	(11,363)	(2,629)	(22,940)	(20,806)	(20,806)	(21,994)	
Net income (loss)	\$ 78,748	\$ 185,955	\$ 148,137	\$ (331,746)	\$ (135,138)	\$ 113,512	\$ 67,821
attributable to							
CCIC common							

stockholders							
Net income (loss) attributable to CCIC common stock holders, per common share basic and diluted Weighted-average common shares	\$ 0.26	\$ 0.64	\$ 0.52	\$ (1.16)	\$ (0.47)	\$ 0.34	\$ 0.23
outstanding (in thousands):							
Basic	298,083	289,285	283,821	286,764	286,622	332,189	291,164
Diluted	299,293	291,270	285,947	286,764	286,622	333,034	292,570
Dividends declared per common share						0.70	

56

	2013 ^(a) (In	Year End 2012 ^(a) n thousands, ex	ded Decembe 2011 xcept per sha	2010	2009	Six M Ended J 2014 (unau	une 30, 2013
Other Data:							
Summary cash flow information:							
Net cash provided by (used for)							
operating activities	\$ 1,237,656	\$ 772,557	\$ 643,454	\$ 603,430	\$ 571,256	\$ 763,676	\$ 560,027
Net cash provided by (used for)							
investing activities	(5,520,969)	(4,199,596)	(399,865)	(390,949)	(172,145)	(397,804)	(275,456)
Net cash provided by (used for) financing							
activities(c)	4,063,133	3,786,803	(275,712)	(866,624)	214,396	(355,756)	(596,097)
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges ^{(h)(i)}	1.4	1.1	1.3			1.3	1.3
Ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges and dividends on preferred stock and losses on purchases of preferred							
stock ^{(h)(j)}	1.4	1.1	1.2			1.3	1.3

	2013 ^(a)	As 2012 ^(a)	s of December 3 2011 (In thousands)	1, 2010	2009	As of June 30, 2014 (unaudited)
Balance Sheet Data:						
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 223,394	\$ 441,364	\$ 80,120	\$ 112,531	\$ 766,146	\$ 227,479
Property and equipment, net	8,947,677	6,917,531	4,861,227	4,893,651	4,895,983	8,888,426
Total assets	20,594,908	16,088,709	10,545,096	10,469,529	10,956,606	20,672,059
Total debt and other						
long-term obligations(c)	11,594,500	11,611,242	6,885,699	6,778,894	6,579,150	11,570,251
Total CCIC stockholders						
equity ^(k)	6,926,717	2,938,746	2,386,245	2,445,373	2,936,241	6,861,338

⁽a) Inclusive of the impact of acquisitions. See note 3 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, which is incorporated by reference herein.

⁽b) Exclusive of depreciation, amortization and accretion, which are shown separately.

⁽c) Over the last five years, we have used debt to refinance other debt and fund discretionary investments such as acquisitions. We maintain debt leverage at levels that we believe optimize our weighted-average cost of capital.

During 2013 and 2012, we (1) refinanced debt to lower rates and extend maturities and (2) borrowed to fund our acquisitions. See notes 7 and 20 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, which is incorporated by reference herein, for additional information regarding our debt during 2013 and 2012. During 2010 and 2009, we issued \$3.5 billion and \$2.9 billion face value of debt, respectively, and purchased and repaid \$3.4 billion and \$2.4 billion face value of debt, respectively. These refinancings extended the maturities of our debt portfolio. We incurred losses on the purchase and repayment of this debt. See note 4 to our condensed consolidated financial statements included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2014, which is incorporated by reference herein, for information regarding the 2014 Refinancings. See also the section entitled Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Liquidity and Capital Resources Contractual Cash Obligations .

- (d) The 2010 and 2009 amounts are predominately losses on various interest rate swaps that no longer qualified for hedge accounting and included swaps that were no longer economic hedges. As of June 30, 2014, we had no interest rate swaps outstanding.
- (e) See notes 10 and 20 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, which is incorporated by reference herein, regarding our tax position as of and for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 including our reversal of valuation allowances in 2012 and our derecognition of net deferred tax assets in 2013 related to our REIT election.
- (f) No cash dividends on our common stock were declared or paid in 2013, 2012, 2011, 2010 or 2009. See the section entitled Dividend Policy regarding our commencement of regular quarterly cash dividends to the holders of Crown Castle common stock beginning with the first quarter of 2014.
- (g) In 2012, we converted our 6.25% redeemable convertible preferred stock into shares of our common stock. In October 2013, we issued our Convertible Preferred Stock. See notes 11 and 12 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, which is incorporated by reference herein.
- (h) For purposes of computing the ratio, earnings represent income (loss) before income taxes and fixed charges less interest capitalized. Fixed charges consist of interest expense, amortized premiums, discounts and capitalized expenses related to indebtedness, interest capitalized and the interest component of operating lease expense.
- (i) For 2010 and 2009, earnings were insufficient to cover fixed charges by \$338.1 million and \$190.5 million, respectively.
- (j) For 2010 and 2009, earnings were insufficient to cover combined fixed charges and dividends on preferred stock and losses on purchases of preferred stock by \$358.9 million and \$211.3 million, respectively.
- (k) In October 2013, we issued 41.4 million shares of common stock, which generated net proceeds of \$3.0 billion and approximately 9.8 million shares of Convertible Preferred Stock, which generated net proceeds of \$950.9 million to partially fund the AT&T Acquisition. See notes 3 and 12 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, which is incorporated by reference herein, regarding the AT&T Acquisition and October Equity Financings.

57

MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL

CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Set forth below is a discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of operations of Crown Castle. After the merger, CCR will succeed to the assets, continue the business and assume the obligations of Crown Castle.

General Overview

Overview

We own, operate and lease shared wireless infrastructure. See the section entitled Our Business for a further discussion of our business, including our long-term strategy, certain key terms of our lease agreements, and growth trends in the wireless communications industry. Site rental revenues represented 83% of our consolidated net revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2014. CCUSA, our largest operating segment, accounted for 95% of our site rental revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2014. The vast majority of our site rental revenues is of a recurring nature and has been contracted for in a prior year.

The following are certain highlights of our business fundamentals and results as of and for the six months ended June 30, 2014.

Effective January 1, 2014, we commenced operating as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes (see REIT Election)

Potential growth resulting from wireless network expansion and new entrants

We expect wireless carriers will continue their focus on improving network quality and expanding capacity by adding additional antennas or other equipment on our wireless infrastructure.

We expect existing and potential new wireless carrier demand for our wireless infrastructure will result from (1) next generation technologies, (2) continued development of mobile internet applications, (3) adoption of other emerging and embedded wireless devices, (4) increasing smartphone penetration, (5) wireless carrier focus on expanding quality and capacity or (6) the availability of additional spectrum.

Substantially all of our wireless infrastructure can accommodate additional tenancy, either as currently constructed or with appropriate modifications to the structure.

U.S. wireless carriers continue to invest in their networks.

Our site rental revenues grew \$261.2 million, or 21%, from the six months ended June 30, 2013 to the six months ended June 30, 2014. This growth was predominately comprised of the following, exclusive of the impact of straight-line accounting:

An approximate 15% increase due to the AT&T Acquisition (based on initial run rates), which was completed in December 2013.

An approximate 5% increase from new tenant additions and amendments to existing customer contracts.

An approximate 4% increase from cash escalations, partially offset by a decrease of approximately 2% in site rental revenues caused by the non-renewal of customer contracts.

Site rental revenues under long-term customer contracts with contractual escalations

Initial terms of five to 15 years with multiple renewal periods at the option of the tenant of five to ten years each.

Weighted-average remaining term of approximately seven years, exclusive of renewals at the customer s option, representing approximately \$22 billion of expected future cash inflows.

58

Revenues predominately from large wireless carriers

Approximately 89% of our consolidated revenues were derived from Sprint, AT&T (after giving effect to AT&T s acquisition of Leap Wireless (completed in March 2014)), T-Mobile and Verizon Wireless, which represented 26%, 26%, 21% and 16%, respectively, of our consolidated revenues for such period.

Majority of land interests under our towers under long-term control

Approximately nine-tenths and three-fourths of our site rental gross margin is derived from towers that reside on land that we own or control for greater than ten and 20 years, respectively. The aforementioned amounts include towers that reside on land interests that are owned, including fee interests and perpetual easements, which represents approximately one-third of our site rental gross margin.

Relatively fixed wireless infrastructure operating costs

Our wireless infrastructure operating costs tend to increase at approximately the rate of inflation and are not typically influenced by new tenant additions.

Minimal sustaining capital expenditure requirements

Sustaining capital expenditures represented less than 2% of net revenues.

67% of our debt has fixed rate coupons.

Our debt service coverage and leverage ratios were comfortably within their respective financial maintenance covenants.

During January 2014, we amended our senior secured credit facility, which we refer to as the 2012 Credit Facility, by extending the maturity date on a portion of the tranche B term loans, including the incremental tranche B term loans, to January 2021. As of June 30, 2014, our tranche B term loans, including the incremental tranche B term loans and the incremental tranche B-2

term loans, consist of \$2.3 billion aggregate principal amount due January 2021 and \$568.4 million aggregate principal amount due January 2019.

During April 2014, we issued \$850 million of 4.875% Senior Notes, due in April 2022.

We utilized a portion of the net proceeds from the 4.875% Senior Notes offering to (1) repay \$300.0 million of the January 2010 Tower Revenue Notes and (2) redeem all of the previously outstanding 7.125% Senior Notes.

Significant cash flows from operations

Net cash provided by operating activities was \$763.7 million.

We believe our core business of providing access to our wireless infrastructure can be characterized as a stable cash flow stream, which we expect to grow as a result of contractual escalators and future anticipated demand for our wireless infrastructure.

Capital allocated to drive long-term stockholder value (see also Liquidity and Capital Resources below)

During February 2014 and May 2014, we declared quarterly cash dividends of \$0.35 per common share, totaling approximately \$234 million for the six months ended June 30, 2014.

Our quarterly common stock dividends, if paid in each quarter of 2014, will result in an annual aggregate payment of approximately \$470 million.

59

Historical discretionary investments include (in no particular order): purchasing our common stock, acquiring or constructing wireless infrastructure, acquiring land interests under our towers, improving or structurally enhancing our existing wireless infrastructure, or purchasing, repaying or redeeming our debt.

Discretionary investments included:

The purchase of 0.3 million shares of our common stock for \$21.7 million.

Discretionary capital expenditures of \$285.7 million, including wireless infrastructure improvements in order to support additional site rentals, construction of wireless infrastructure and land purchases.

The following are certain highlights of our full year 2014 outlook that impact our business fundamentals described above.

We expect that our full year 2014 site rental revenue growth will also be impacted by similar items that impacted first half 2014 site rental revenue growth, namely a substantial expected contribution from the AT&T Acquisition. See note 3 to our condensed consolidated financial statements included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2014, which is incorporated by reference herein, for a further discussion of our AT&T Acquisition.

We expect the site rental revenue contribution from new tenant installations to increase in 2014 from 2013, as a result of our customers focus on improving network quality and capacity.

We expect that the negative impact from customer contracts that come to the end of their respective terms and are not renewed will be approximately 2% of site rental revenues for 2014, of which approximately half is expected to come from typical non-renewal activity and approximately half is expected to come from Sprint s decommissioning of its legacy Nextel iDEN network. Based on Sprint s stated intention to decommission its iDEN network and our contractual terms with Sprint, we expect approximately 3% of our run-rate site rental revenues to be impacted by the iDEN network decommissioning. The impact of the iDEN network decommissioning is included as a component of non-renewals of customer contracts as referenced herein.

These iDEN leases have effective term-end dates spread throughout 2014 and 2015. As such, we expect our site rental revenues to be impacted by approximately \$30 million in 2014 and \$60 million to \$70 million in 2015.

We expect sustaining capital expenditures of approximately 2% of net revenues for full year 2014. *REIT Election*

Effective January 1, 2014, we commenced operating as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As a REIT, we will generally be entitled to a deduction for dividends that we pay and therefore will not be subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax on our net taxable income that is currently distributed to our stockholders. We also may be subject to certain federal, state, local and foreign taxes on our income or assets, including alternative minimum taxes, taxes on any undistributed income, and state, local or foreign income, franchise, property and transfer taxes. In addition, we could in certain circumstances be required to pay an excise or penalty tax, which could be significant in amount, in order to utilize one or more relief provisions under the Code to maintain qualification for taxation as a REIT. Our small cells are currently included in one or more wholly owned TRSs. On August 29, 2014, we received a favorable private letter ruling from the IRS, which provides that the real property portion of our small cells and the related rents qualify as real property and rents from real property, respectively, under the rules governing REITs. We are evaluating the impact of this private letter ruling and, subject to board approval, we expect to take appropriate action to include the qualifying portion of our small cells as part of the REIT, effective the beginning of 2015. Once we have completed all necessary actions to include such small cells in the REIT and have obtained approval from our board of directors, we expect to de-recognize our net deferred tax liability related to those small cells. Additionally, we have included in TRSs our tower

operations in Australia and certain other assets and operations. Those TRS assets and operations will continue to be subject, as applicable, to federal and state corporate income taxes or to foreign taxes in the jurisdictions in which such assets and operations are located. Our foreign assets and operations (including our tower operations in Puerto Rico and Australia) most likely will be subject to foreign income taxes in the jurisdictions in which such assets and operations are located, regardless of whether they are included in a TRS or not.

To qualify and be taxed as a REIT, we will generally be required to distribute at least 90% of our REIT taxable income after the utilization of our NOLs (determined without regard to the dividends paid deduction and excluding net capital gain) each year to our stockholders. Our determination as to the timing and amount of future dividends that we may make as a REIT will be based on a number of factors, including investment opportunities around our core business and our NOLs of approximately \$2.2 billion, of which approximately \$1.9 billion is available to offset REIT taxable income (see note 10 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, which is incorporated by reference herein).

Consolidated Results of Operations

The following discussion of our results of operations should be read in conjunction with the sections entitled Our Business and Liquidity and Capital Resources below and our consolidated financial statements incorporated by reference into this proxy statement/prospectus. The following discussion of our results of operations is based on our condensed consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the U.S., or GAAP, which requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts (see

Accounting and Reporting Matters Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates below and note 2 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, which is incorporated by reference herein).

61

Comparison of Consolidated Results First Half 2014 and 2013

The following is a comparison of our historical consolidated statements of operations for the periods indicated.

Six Months Ended

	June	30	Percent
	2014	2013	Change ^(b)
	(In thousand		Change
Net revenues:	(III tilousaliu	is of donars)	
Site rental	\$ 1,493,502	\$ 1,232,264	21%
Network services and other	298,793	242,724	23%
THE WOLK BETTIESS AND OTHER	270,775	2 12,72 1	25 70
Net revenues	1,792,295	1,474,988	22%
	, ,	, ,	
Operating expenses:			
Costs of operations ^(a) :			
Site rental	465,067	356,621	30%
Network services and other	176,321	147,576	19%
Total costs of operations	641,388	504,197	27%
General and administrative	134,002	113,035	19%
Asset write-down charges	5,869	6,812	*
Acquisition and integration costs	24,856	8,817	*
Depreciation, amortization and accretion	504,426	377,110	34%
Total anaroting averages	1 210 541	1 000 071	30%
Total operating expenses	1,310,541	1,009,971	30%
Operating income (loss)	481,754	465,017	4%
operating intente (1888)	101,70	100,017	1,0
Interest expense and amortization of deferred financing costs	(290,934)	(304,625)	(4)%
Gains (losses) on retirement of long-term obligations	(44,629)	(36,486)	, ,
Interest income	362	625	
Other income (expense)	(8,799)	(122)	
Income (loss) before income taxes	137,754	124,409	
Benefit (provision) for income taxes	396	(54,295)	
Net income (loss)	138,150	70,114	
Less: Net income (loss) attributable to the noncontrolling interest	2,644	2,293	
Net income (loss) attributable to CCIC stockholders	135,506	67,821	
Dividends on preferred stock	(21,994)		
Net income (loss) attributable to CCIC common stockholders	\$ 113,512	\$ 67,821	

- * Percentage is not meaningful
- (a) Exclusive of depreciation, amortization and accretion shown separately.
- (b) Inclusive of the impact of foreign exchange fluctuations. See Consolidated Results of Operations Comparison of Operating Segments below.

First Half 2014 and 2013. Our consolidated results of operations for the first half of 2014 and 2013, respectively, consist predominately of our CCUSA segment, which accounted for (1) 96% and 95% of consolidated net revenues, (2) 96% and 95% of consolidated gross margins, and (3) 93% and 88% of net income (loss) attributable to CCIC stockholders. Our operating segment results, including CCUSA, are discussed below (see Consolidated Results of Operations Comparison of Operating Segments below).

Comparison of Operating Segments First Half 2014 and 2013

Our reportable operating segments for the first half of 2014 are (1) CCUSA, consisting of our U.S. operations and (2) CCAL, our Australian operations. Our financial results are reported to management and the board of directors in this manner.

62

See note 10 to our condensed consolidated financial statements included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2014, and note 17 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, which are incorporated by reference herein, for segment results and a reconciliation of net income (loss) to Adjusted EBITDA (defined below).

Our measurement of profit or loss currently used to evaluate our operating performance and operating segments is earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization and accretion, as adjusted, which we refer to as Adjusted EBITDA. Our measure of Adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies, including companies in the tower sector or other similar providers of wireless infrastructure, and is not a measure of performance calculated in accordance with GAAP. Adjusted EBITDA is discussed further under Accounting and Reporting Matters Non-GAAP Financial Measures below.

We define Adjusted EBITDA as net income (loss) plus restructuring charges (credits), asset write-down charges, acquisition and integration costs, depreciation, amortization and accretion, amortization of prepaid lease purchase price adjustments, interest expense and amortization of deferred financing costs, gains (losses) on retirement of long-term obligations, net gain (loss) on interest rate swaps, impairment of available-for-sale securities, interest income, other income (expense), benefit (provision) for income taxes, cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, income (loss) from discontinued operations and stock-based compensation expense (see note 10 to our condensed consolidated financial statements included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-O for the quarter ended June 30, 2014, which is incorporated by reference herein). The reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to our net income (loss) is set forth in note 10 to our condensed consolidated financial statements included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2014, and in note 17 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, which are incorporated by reference herein. Adjusted EBITDA is not intended as an alternative measure of operating results or cash flows from operations as determined in accordance with GAAP, and our definition of Adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies. Adjusted EBITDA is discussed further under Accounting and Reporting Matters Non-GAAP Financial Measures below.

CCUSA First Half 2014 and 2013. See note 3 to our condensed consolidated financial statements included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2014, which is incorporated by reference herein, for further discussion on the impact of the AT&T Acquisition.

Net revenues for the first half of 2014 increased by \$324.2 million, or 23%, from the same period in the prior year. This increase in net revenues resulted from an increase from the same period in the prior year in (1) site rental revenues of \$260.7 million, or 22%, and (2) network services and other revenues of \$63.5 million, or 28%.

The AT&T Acquisition increased our site rental revenues for the first half of 2014 from the same period in the prior year as discussed in General Overview. The increase in site rental revenues was also impacted by the following items, inclusive of straight-line accounting, in no particular order: new tenant additions across our entire portfolio, renewals or extensions of customer contracts, escalations, other acquisitions and non-renewals of customer contracts. Tenant additions were influenced by our customers upgrading to LTE and their ongoing efforts to improve network quality and capacity.

Site rental gross margins for the first half of 2014 increased by \$151.9 million, or 18%, from the same period in the prior year. The increase in the site rental gross margins was related to the previously mentioned 22% increase in site rental revenues, primarily as a result of the AT&T Acquisition and the growth in our site rental activities. The \$151.9 million incremental margin represents 58% of the related increase in site rental revenues, inclusive of (1) the impact of the towers acquired in the AT&T Acquisition, which have a lower average tenancy than the average tenancy for our

other wireless infrastructure and (2) the high incremental margin from our other wireless infrastructure.

Network services and other gross margin increased by \$27.7 million, or 30%, from the same period in the prior year. The increase in our gross margin from our network services and other revenues is a reflection of (1) the volume of activity from carrier network enhancements such as LTE upgrades, (2) the volume and mix of network

63

services work and (3) the expansion in the size of our wireless infrastructure portfolio due to acquisitions. Our network services offering is of a variable nature as these revenues are not under long-term contracts.

General and administrative expenses for the first half of 2014 increased by \$20.2 million, or approximately 20%, from the same period in the prior year. General and administrative expenses were 7% of net revenues for both the first half of 2014 and the first half of 2013. General and administrative expenses are inclusive of stock-based compensation charges. The increase in general and administrative expenses in nominal dollars was commensurate with the growth in our business, including (1) the expansion in size of our wireless infrastructure portfolio primarily due to acquisitions and (2) growth in network services. Typically, our general and administrative expenses do not significantly increase as a result of new tenant additions on our wireless infrastructure.

Adjusted EBITDA for the first half of 2014 increased by \$171.6 million, or 20%, from the same period in the prior year. Adjusted EBITDA was positively impacted by the AT&T Acquisition and the growth in our site rental and network services activities.

Depreciation, amortization and accretion for the first half of 2014 increased by \$129.3 million, or 36%, from the same period in the prior year. This increase predominately resulted from the fixed assets and intangible assets recorded related to the AT&T Acquisition.

Interest expense and amortization of deferred financing costs decreased \$13.7 million, or 4%, from the first half of 2013 to the first half of 2014, as a result of our refinancing activities, partially offset by an increase in borrowings under the 2012 Credit Facility to partially fund the AT&T Acquisition. During the first half of 2013, we redeemed and repaid the remaining outstanding 7.75% secured notes and 9% senior notes. During the first half of 2014, we issued \$850.0 million of 4.875% Senior Notes, which provided us with funding to (1) repay \$300.0 million of the January 2010 Tower Revenue Notes and (2) redeem all of the previously outstanding 7.125% Senior Notes. As a result of the repayment and redemption of certain of our debt during the first half of 2014 and the first half of 2013, we incurred losses of \$44.6 million and \$36.5 million, respectively. For a further discussion of our debt, see note 4 to our condensed consolidated financial statements included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2014, and note 7 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, which are incorporated by reference herein.

Our acquisition and integration expenses for the first half of 2014 and the first half of 2013 were \$24.8 million and \$8.6 million, respectively, and relate to our acquisitions in 2012 and 2013.

The benefit (provision) for income taxes for the first half of 2014 was a benefit of \$6.1 million, compared to a provision of \$49.9 million for the first half of 2013. For the first half of 2014, the effective tax rate differs from the federal statutory rate predominately due to our REIT status, including the dividends paid deduction. For the first half of 2013, the effective tax rate differs from the federal statutory rate predominately due to state taxes. See General Overview and also note 10 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, which is incorporated by reference herein.

Net income (loss) attributable to CCIC stockholders for the first half of 2014 was net income of \$126.1 million compared to net income of \$59.7 million for the first half of 2013. The increase in net income was predominately due to (1) a change in our benefit (provision) for income taxes due to our REIT status, including the dividends paid deduction, and (2) the aforementioned 2013 and 2014 refinancing activities.

Dividends on preferred stock for the first half of 2014 relate to the Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock issued in October 2013.

CCAL First Half 2014 and 2013

The increases and decreases between the first half of 2014 and the first half of 2013 were inclusive of exchange rate fluctuations. The average exchange rate of one Australian dollar expressed in U.S. dollars for the first half of 2014 was approximately 0.91, a decrease of 10% from approximately 1.02 for the same period in the prior year. See Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk below.

64

Total net revenues decreased from the first half of 2013 to the first half of 2014 by 9%, almost entirely due to the negative impact of 10% from the aforementioned change in exchange rates. Site rental revenues, site rental gross margins and Adjusted EBITDA increased from the first half of 2013 to the first half of 2014 by 1%, 2% and 2%, inclusive of the negative impact of 11%, 11% and 11%, respectively, from the aforementioned change in exchange rates. Total net revenues, exclusive of the impact of exchange rate fluctuations, was comprised of an increase in site rental revenues and a decrease in network service and other revenue. This increase in site rental revenues exclusive of the negative exchange rates was driven by various other factors, inclusive of straight-line accounting, including in no particular order: tenant additions on our wireless infrastructure, renewals of customer contracts, acquisitions, escalations and non-renewals of customer contracts. The change in site rental gross margin and Adjusted EBITDA was primarily due to the same factors that drove the changes in net revenues. Net income (loss) attributable to CCIC stockholders for the first half of 2014 was net income of \$9.4 million, compared to net income of \$8.2 million for the first half of 2013.

Comparison of Consolidated Results Years Ended 2013, 2012, 2011

The following is a comparison of our 2013, 2012 and 2011 consolidated results of operations:

	Years	per 31,	Percent C 2013 vs.	hange ^(b) 2012 vs.	
	2013	2012	2011	2012	2011
	(In th	nousands of dol	lars)		
Net revenues:					
Site rental	\$ 2,503,620	\$ 2,124,190	\$ 1,853,550	18%	15%
Network services and other	518,764	308,490	179,179	68%	72%
Net revenues	3,022,384	2,432,680	2,032,729	24%	20%
Operating expenses:					
Costs of operations ^(a) :					
Site rental	725,109	539,239	481,398	34%	12%
Network services and other	321,687	189,750	106,987	70%	77%
Total costs of operations	1,046,796	728,989	588,385	44%	24%
General and administrative	238,702	212,572	173,493	12%	23%
Asset write-down charges	14,863	15,548	22,285	*	*
Acquisition and integration costs	26,005	18,298	3,310	*	*
Depreciation, amortization and accretion	774,215	622,592	552,951	24%	13%
Total operating expenses	2,100,581	1,597,999	1,340,424	31%	19%
Operating income (loss)	921,803	834,681	692,305	10%	21%
Interest expense and amortization of deferred	, , ,		,		
financing costs	(589,630)	(601,044)	(507,587)	(2)%	18%
Gains (losses) on retirement of long-term obligations	(37,127)	(131,974)		*	*

Edgar Filing: CROWN CASTLE INTERNATIONAL CORP - Form DEFM14A

Net gain (loss) on interest rate swaps				*	*
Interest income	1,355	4,556	666	*	*
Other income (expense)	(3,872)	(5,392)	(5,577)	*	*
Income (loss) before income taxes	292,529	100,827	179,807	*	*
Benefit (provision) for income taxes	(198,628)	100,061	(8,347)	*	*
Net income (loss)	93,901	200,888	171,460	*	*
Less: Net income (loss) attributable to the noncontrolling interest	3,790	12,304	383	*	*
Net income (loss) attributable to CCIC					
stockholders	\$ 90,111	\$ 188,584	\$ 171,077	*	*
Dividends on preferred stock and losses on					
purchases of preferred stock	\$ (11,363)	\$ (2,629)	\$ (22,940)	*	*
Net income (loss) attributable to CCIC common stockholders	\$ 78,748	\$ 185,955	\$ 148,137		

- * Percentage is not meaningful
- (a) Exclusive of depreciation, amortization and accretion, which are shown separately.
- (b) Inclusive of the impact of foreign exchange fluctuations. See Consolidated Results of Operations Comparison of Operating Segments below.

2013 and 2012. Our consolidated results of operations for 2013 and 2012, respectively, predominately consist of our CCUSA segment, which accounted for (1) 95% and 94% of consolidated net revenues, (2) 95% and 94% of consolidated gross margins, and (3) 85% and 77% of consolidated net income (loss) attributable to Crown Castle stockholders. Our operating segment results for 2013 and 2012, including CCUSA, are discussed below (see Consolidated Results of Operations Comparison of Operating Segments below).

2012 and 2011. Our consolidated results of operations for 2012 and 2011, respectively, predominately consist of our CCUSA segment, which accounted for (1) 94% and 94% of consolidated net revenues, (2) 94% and 94% of consolidated gross margins, and (3) 77% and 98% of consolidated net income (loss) attributable to Crown Castle stockholders. Our operating segment results for 2012 and 2011, including CCUSA, are discussed below (see Consolidated Results of Operations Comparison of Operating Segments below).

Comparison of Operating Segments Years Ended 2013, 2012, 2011

CCUSA 2013 and 2012. See note 3 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, which is incorporated by reference herein, for further discussion of the impact of the 2012 Acquisitions and the AT&T Acquisition.

Net revenues for 2013 increased by \$579.4 million, or 25%, from 2012. This increase in net revenues resulted from an increase in (1) site rental revenues of \$370.3 million, or 19%, and (2) network services and other revenues of \$209.1 million, or 73%, in each case as compared to 2012.

This increase in site rental revenues was impacted by the following items, inclusive of straight-line accounting, in no particular order: new tenant additions across our entire portfolio, renewals or extensions of customer contracts, escalations, acquisitions, and cancellations of customer contracts. The 2012 Acquisitions and the AT&T Acquisition also increased our site rental revenues from 2012 to 2013 by 14% (based on initial run rate revenues from these acquisitions). See Accounting and Reporting Matters Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates below for a further discussion of our revenue recognition policies. Tenant additions were influenced by our customers upgrading to LTE and their ongoing efforts to improve network quality and capacity.

Site rental gross margins for 2013 increased by \$187.1 million, or 12%, from 2012. The increase in the site rental gross margins was related to the previously mentioned 19% increase in site rental revenues. Site rental gross margins for 2013 increased primarily as a result of (1) the high incremental margins associated with tenant additions given the relatively fixed costs to operate wireless infrastructure and (2) acquisitions. The \$187.1 million incremental margin represents 51% of the related increase in site rental revenues, inclusive of impact of acquisitions.

Network services and other gross margin for 2013 increased by \$78.7 million, or 71%, from 2012. The increase in our gross margin from our network services and other revenues is a reflection of the volume of activity from carrier network enhancements such as LTE upgrades, the increase in our market share and the general volatility in the volume and mix of network services work. Our network services offering is of a variable nature as these revenues are not under long-term contracts.

General and administrative expenses for 2013 increased by \$28.6 million, or 15%, from 2012 but decreased to 7% of net revenues in 2013 from 8% of net revenues in 2012. General and administrative expenses are inclusive of stock-based compensation charges. See also note 13 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, which is incorporated by

reference herein. The increase in general and administrative expenses in nominal dollars was commensurate with the growth in our business as a result of our acquisitions. Typically, our general and administrative expenses do not significantly increase as a result of the co-location of additional tenants on our wireless infrastructure.

Adjusted EBITDA for 2013 increased by \$235.8 million, or 16%, from 2012. Adjusted EBITDA was positively impacted by the growth in our site rental and network services activities and the 2012 Acquisitions.

Depreciation, amortization, and accretion for 2013 increased by \$149.9 million, or 25%, from 2012. This increase predominately resulted from the fixed asset and intangible asset additions related to the NextG Acquisition and the T-Mobile Acquisition.

Interest expense and amortization of deferred financing costs decreased \$11.4 million, or 2%, from 2012 to 2013, as a result of our refinancings during 2012 and 2013, partially offset by additional borrowings to fund the 2012 Acquisitions and the AT&T Acquisition. During 2012 and 2013, we completed several debt transactions, resulting in (1) lowering our average cost of debt, (2) funding for our acquisitions, (3) the refinancing of certain of our debt, and (4) the extension of certain of our debt maturities. See Liquidity and Capital Resources below.

As a result of our debt transactions, we incurred a net loss of \$37.1 million for 2013, inclusive of (1) non-cash losses of \$1.1 million resulting from the write-off of deferred financing costs and discounts and (2) cash losses of \$36.0 million including with respect to make whole payments. During 2012, as a result of repurchasing and redeeming certain of our debt, we incurred a net loss of \$132.0 million, inclusive of (1) non-cash losses of \$48.1 million resulting from the write-off of deferred financing costs and discounts and (2) cash losses of \$83.9 million including with respect to make whole payments. For a further discussion of the debt refinancings, see notes 7 and 8 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, which is incorporated by reference herein, and Liquidity and Capital Resources and Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk below.

Our acquisition and integration expenses for 2012 and 2013 predominately related to the 2012 Acquisitions and AT&T Acquisition. See note 3 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, which is incorporated by reference herein.

The benefit (provision) for income taxes for 2013 was a provision of \$191.0 million compared to a benefit of \$60.1 million for 2012. For 2013, the effective tax rate differed from the federal statutory rate predominately due to the de-recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities related to our REIT election resulting in a non-cash income tax charge of \$67.4 million. For 2012, the effective tax rate differed from the federal statutory rate predominately due to a valuation allowance reversal of \$115.2 million resulting from (1) the NextG Acquisition and (2) our determination to reverse a portion of the valuation allowance based upon our consideration of our recent historical trends and anticipated future taxable income. See Accounting and Reporting Matters Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates below and note 10 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, which is incorporated by reference herein.

Net income (loss) attributable to CCIC stockholders for 2013 was income of \$76.5 million compared to income of \$144.6 million for 2012. The decrease in net income was predominately due to a change in our benefit (provision) for income taxes as discussed above, partially offset by (1) the growth in our existing business, (2) a decrease in interest expense, and (3) a decrease in the net losses on the retirement of debt.

Dividends on preferred stock and losses on purchases of preferred stock for 2013 is inclusive of the dividends related to the Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock.

CCAL 2013 and 2012. The increases and decreases between 2013 and 2012 were inclusive of exchange rate fluctuations. The average exchange rate of Australian dollars expressed in U.S. dollars for 2013 was approximately 0.9687, a decrease of approximately 6% from approximately 1.036 for the same period in the prior year. See Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk below.

Total net revenues for 2013 increased by \$10.3 million, or 7%, from 2012. Site rental revenues for 2013 increased by \$9.1 million, or 7%, from 2012. The decrease in the exchange rate negatively impacted net revenues by 7% in 2013 from 2012. Site rental revenues were also impacted by various other factors, inclusive of straight-line accounting, including, in no particular order: tenant additions on our wireless infrastructure, renewals of customer contracts, acquisitions, escalations, and cancellations of customer contracts.

Site rental gross margins for 2013 increased by \$6.4 million, or 7%, from 2012 and Adjusted EBITDA for 2013 increased by \$5.7 million, or 8%, from 2012. The increase in the site rental gross margin and Adjusted EBITDA were primarily due to the same factors that drove the increase in net revenues.

Net income (loss) attributable to CCIC stockholders for 2013 was net income of \$13.6 million, compared to net income of \$44.0 million for 2012, inclusive of income tax benefit of \$39.9 million resulting from the reversals of the valuation allowance related to deferred tax assets. In addition to the valuation allowance reversal, net income was favorably impacted by the growth in the site rental business.

CCUSA 2012 and 2011. See note 3 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, which is incorporated by reference herein, for further discussion of the impact of the 2012 Acquisitions.

Net revenues for 2012 increased by \$379.8 million, or 20%, from 2011. This increase in net revenues resulted in part from an increase in site rental revenues of \$256.1 million, or 15%, for the same periods. This increase in site rental revenues was impacted by the following items, inclusive of straight-line accounting, in no particular order: new tenant additions across our entire portfolio, renewals or extensions of customer contracts, acquisitions, escalations, and cancellations of customer contracts. The 2012 Acquisitions increased our site rental net revenues from 2011 to 2012 by 6% (based on initial run rate revenues from these acquisitions). See Accounting and Reporting Matters Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates below for a further discussion of our revenue recognition policies. Tenant additions were influenced by the previously mentioned growth in the wireless communications industry.

Site rental gross margins for 2012 increased by \$199.3 million, or 15%, from 2011. The increase in site rental gross margins was related to the previously mentioned 15% increase in site rental revenues. Site rental gross margins for 2012 increased primarily as a result of (1) the high incremental margins associated with tenant additions given the relatively fixed costs to operate wireless infrastructure and (2) acquisitions. The \$199.3 million incremental margin represents 78% of the related increase in site rental revenues.

Network services and other revenues for 2012 increased by \$123.8 million, or 77%, from 2011, and the related gross margin increased by \$46.1 million, or 70%, from 2011. The increase in our gross margin from our network services and other revenues is a reflection of the carrier network enhancements such as LTE upgrades and the general volatility in the volume and mix of such work. Our network services offering is of a variable nature as these revenues are not under long-term contracts.

General and administrative expenses for 2012 increased by \$33.2 million, or 22%, from 2011 but were 8% of net revenues for both 2012 and 2011. General and administrative expenses are inclusive of stock-based compensation charges, which increased \$5.7 million during 2012 primarily related to a non-recurring stock grant. See also note 13 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, which is incorporated by reference herein. The increase in general and administrative expenses in nominal dollars was commensurate with the growth in our business as a result of acquisitions. Typically, our general and administrative expenses do not significantly increase as a result of the co-location of additional tenants on our wireless infrastructure.

Adjusted EBITDA for 2012 increased by \$235.5 million, or 19%, from 2011. Adjusted EBITDA was positively impacted by the growth in our site rental, as well as the contributions from network services activities and acquisitions.

68

Depreciation, amortization, and accretion for 2012 increased by \$68.7 million, or 13%, from 2011. The increase predominately resulted from the fixed asset and intangible asset additions related to the NextG Acquisition and the T-Mobile Acquisition.

During 2012, we completed several debt transactions. These financing transactions provided funding for the 2012 Acquisitions as well as refinanced certain of our debt and extending our debt maturities. As a result of repurchasing and redeeming certain of our debt, we incurred a net loss of \$132.0 million for 2012, inclusive of (1) non-cash losses of \$48.1 million resulting from the write-off of deferred financing costs and discounts and (2) cash losses of \$83.9 million including with respect to make whole payments. During 2011, we had no significant debt transactions. The increase in interest expense and amortization of deferred financing costs of \$93.8 million, or 18%, in 2012 resulted predominately from the increase in debt outstanding. For a further discussion of the debt refinancings, including the impact to our results of operations related to the January 2013 Debt Retirements, see notes 7 and 8 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, which is incorporated by reference herein, Liquidity and Capital Resources and Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk below.

Our acquisition and integration expenses for 2012 predominately related to the NextG Acquisition and T-Mobile Acquisition. See note 3 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, which is incorporated by reference herein.

Benefit (provision) for income taxes for 2012 was a benefit of \$60.1 million inclusive of a valuation allowance reversal of \$115.2 million resulting from (1) the NextG Acquisition and (2) our determination to reverse a portion of the valuation allowance based upon our consideration of our recent historical trends and anticipated future taxable income. For 2012 and 2011, the effective tax rate differs from the federal statutory rate predominately due to our federal deferred valuation allowances and the net impact of state taxes. See Accounting and Reporting Matters Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates below and note 10 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, which is incorporated by reference herein.

Net income (loss) attributable to CCIC stockholders for 2012 was income of \$144.6 million compared to income of \$168.1 million for 2011. The decrease in net income was predominately due to the increase in interest expense and the net losses on the retirement of debt partially offset by (1) the growth in our existing business and (2) a change in our benefit (provision) for income taxes primarily as a result of the reversal of the U.S. federal and state deferred tax valuation allowances.

Dividends on preferred stock and losses on purchases of preferred stock for 2011 is inclusive of the dividends related to the 6.25% redeemable convertible preferred stock, which was converted in 2012.

CCAL 2012 and 2011. The increases and decreases between 2012 and 2011 are inclusive of exchange rate fluctuations. The average exchange rate of Australian dollars expressed in U.S. dollars for 2012 was approximately 1.04, an increase of approximately 1% from approximately 1.03 for the same period in the prior year. See — Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk — below.

Total net revenues for 2012 increased by \$20.1 million, or 16%, from 2011. Site rental revenues for 2012 increased by \$14.6 million, or 13%, from 2011. The increase in the exchange rate did not have a significant impact on the growth from 2012 to 2011. Site rental revenues were also impacted by various other factors, inclusive of straight-line accounting, including, in no particular order: tenant additions on our wireless infrastructure, renewals of customer contracts, acquisitions, escalations, and cancellations of customer contracts. Net revenues were also impacted by a \$5.5 million increase in network services and other revenues.

Site rental gross margins for 2012 increased by \$13.5 million, or 18%, from 2011, and Adjusted EBITDA for 2012 increased by \$10.3 million, or 17%, from 2011. The increase in the site rental gross margin and Adjusted EBITDA were primarily due to previously mentioned growth in our site rental revenues.

69

Net income (loss) attributable to CCIC stockholders for 2012 was a net income of \$44.0 million, inclusive of income tax benefit of \$39.9 million resulting from the reversals of the valuation allowance related to deferred tax assets, compared to a net income of \$3.0 million for 2011, inclusive of income tax provision of \$2.2 million. The increase in net income was primarily related to the change in income tax benefit (provision) and the previously mentioned increase in net revenues.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Overview

General. We believe our core business can be characterized as a stable cash flow stream generated by revenues under long-term contracts (see General Overview Overview). Since we became a public company in 1998, our cumulative net cash provided by operating activities (net of cash interest payments) has exceeded our sustaining capital expenditures and provided us with cash available for discretionary investments. For the foreseeable future, we expect to continue to generate net cash provided by operating activities that exceeds our expected (1) principal amortization payments, (2) common stock and preferred stock cash dividends (see note 9 to our condensed consolidated financial statements included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2014, which is incorporated by reference herein), and (3) capital expenditures, and we thus expect to have excess cash available for discretionary investments. We seek to allocate the net cash provided by our operating activities in a manner that will enhance long-term stockholder value. We measure long-term stockholder value as the combined growth in our per share results and dividends to common stockholders. In addition to investing net cash provided by operating activities, in certain circumstances, we may also use debt financings and issuances of equity or equity related securities to fund discretionary investments, such as the AT&T Acquisition.

We seek to maintain a capital structure that we believe drives long-term stockholder value and optimizes our weighted-average cost of capital. We target a leverage ratio of approximately four to six times Adjusted EBITDA and interest coverage of approximately three times Adjusted EBITDA, subject to various factors such as the availability and cost of capital and the potential long-term return on our discretionary investments. We may choose to increase or decrease our leverage or coverage from these targets for various periods of time.

Effective January 1, 2014, we commenced operating as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Historically, we have paid and we expect to continue to pay minimal cash income taxes as a result of our NOLs and our recent REIT conversion. See General Overview and note 5 to our condensed consolidated financial statements included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2014, which is incorporated by reference herein.

Historically, we have endeavored to utilize our net cash provided by operating activities to engage in discretionary investments. Our historical discretionary investments include (in no particular order): purchasing our common stock, acquiring or constructing wireless infrastructure, acquiring land interests under our towers, improving and structurally enhancing our existing wireless infrastructure, and purchasing, repaying, or redeeming our debt. We expect to continue to utilize cash flow to pay dividends and engage in discretionary investments in a manner consistent with our past practice, which we believe will maximize long-term stockholder value. Based on recent small cell activity, we expect to spend an increased percentage of our discretionary investments on the construction of new small cell networks. We seek to maintain flexibility in our discretionary investments with both net cash provided by operating activities and cash available from financing capacity. See General Overview for a discussion of our cash dividends on shares of our common stock.

70

Liquidity Position. The following is a summary of our capitalization and liquidity position. See Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk below and note 4 to our condensed consolidated financial statements included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2014, which is incorporated by reference herein, for additional information regarding our debt.

	Jun	e 30, 2014
	(In thous	ands of dollars)
Cash and cash equivalents ^(a)	\$	227,479
Undrawn revolving credit facility availability(b)		1,166,000
Total debt and other long-term obligations		11,570,251
Total equity		6,879,436

- (a) Exclusive of restricted cash.
- (b) Availability at any point in time is subject to certain restrictions based on our compliance with financial maintenance covenants contained in the credit agreement governing the 2012 Credit Facility. See Liquidity and Capital Resources Financing Activities and Liquidity and Capital Resources Debt Covenants .
 Over the next 12 months:

We expect that our cash on hand, undrawn 2012 Revolver availability and net cash provided by operating activities (net of cash interest payments) should be sufficient to cover our expected (1) debt service obligations of \$105.6 million (principal payments), (2) capital expenditures in excess of \$500 million (sustaining and discretionary), (3) Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock dividend payments of approximately \$45 million and (4) common stock dividend payments (currently approximately \$117 million per quarter). As Crown Castle and CCOC are holding companies, this cash flow from operations is generated by our operating subsidiaries.

We have no debt maturities other than principal payments on amortizing debt. We do not anticipate that we will be required to access the capital markets to refinance our existing debt until at least 2015. See Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk for a tabular presentation of our debt maturities as of June 30, 2014.

Summary Cash Flow Information

	Years	Ended Decembe	er 31,	Six Months Ended June 30,			
	2013	2012	2011	2014	2013		
		(In th	ousands of doll	lars)			
Net cash provided by (used for):							
Operating activities	\$ 1,237,656	\$ 772,557	\$ 643,454	\$ 763,676	\$ 560,027		
Investing activities	(5,520,969)	(4,199,596)	(399,865)	(397,804)	(275,456)		
Financing activities	4,063,133	3,786,803	(275,712)	(355,756)	(596,097)		
	2,210	1,480	(288)	(6,031)	(2,952)		

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

\$ (217,970)

\$ 361,244

\$ (32,411)

4,085

(314,478)

Operating Activities

The increase in net cash provided by operating activities for the first six months of 2014 of \$203.6 million, or 36%, from the first six months of 2013, was due primarily to (1) the AT&T Acquisition and (2) growth in our core business, including a year-over-year incremental net increase of \$50.6 million in customer prepaid rent. Changes in working capital (including changes in accounts receivable, deferred site rental receivables, deferred rental revenues, prepaid ground leases, restricted cash, and accrued interest) can have a significant impact on net

71

cash provided by operating activities, largely due to the timing of prepayments and receipts. We expect to grow our net cash provided by operating activities in the future (exclusive of movements in working capital) if we realize expected growth in our core business.

The increase in net cash provided by operating activities for 2013 from 2012 and 2011 was due primarily to (1) growth in our core business, including the 2012 Acquisitions and a year over year incremental increase of \$99.0 million in customer prepaid rent and (2) growth in our network services. Changes in working capital, and particularly changes in accounts receivable, deferred site rental receivables, deferred rental revenues, prepaid ground leases, restricted cash, and accrued interest, can have a significant impact on net cash provided by operating activities, largely due to the timing of prepayments and receipts. We expect to grow our net cash provided by operating activities in the future (exclusive of movements in working capital) if we realize expected growth in our core business.

Investing Activities

Capital Expenditures. We categorize our capital expenditures as sustaining or discretionary. Sustaining capital expenditures include capitalized costs related to (1) maintenance activities on our wireless infrastructure, which are generally related to replacements and upgrades that extend the life of the asset, (2) vehicles, (3) information technology equipment and (4) office equipment. Discretionary capital expenditures, which we also commonly refer to as revenue-generating capital expenditures , include (1) purchases of land interests under towers, (2) wireless infrastructure improvements and structural enhancements in order to support additional site rentals and (3) the construction of wireless infrastructure.

A summary of our capital expenditures for the period indicated is as follows:

	For Years Ended December 31,			Six Months Ended June 30,			
	2013	2012	2011	2014	2013		
	(In thousands of dollars)						
Discretionary:							
Purchases of land interests	\$ 84,555	\$ 134,171	\$ 196,380	\$ 45,257	\$ 42,896		
Wireless infrastructure construction and							
improvements	435,535	270,106	128,171	240,412	194,965		
Sustaining	47,720	37,106	23,391	24,071	16,959		
-							
Total	\$567,810	\$ 441,383	\$ 347,942	\$ 309,740	\$ 254,820		

Our sustaining capital expenditures have historically been less than 2% of net revenues annually and are expected to be slightly higher in 2014 due to expansion of our office facilities. Our discretionary capital expenditures are made with respect to activities which we believe exhibit sufficient potential to enhance long-term stockholder value. We expect to use in excess of \$500 million of our cash flows on capital expenditures (sustaining and discretionary) for full year 2014. Our decisions regarding capital expenditures are influenced by the availability and cost of capital and expected returns on alternative uses of cash, such as payments of dividends and investments. The following is a discussion of certain aspects of our capital expenditures:

We endeavor to further extend or purchase (including fee interest and perpetual easements) the land interests under towers. Changes in the mix between purchases and extensions of ground leases may impact the amount of capital expenditures related to purchases of land interests in any given period. The decrease in purchases of land interests from 2011 to 2012 was driven by a single transaction during 2011 for \$87.7 million for perpetual easements and other interests.

Capital expenditures for wireless infrastructure improvements increased from the first half of 2013 to the first half of 2014 and from 2012 to 2013 primarily as a result of improvements to towers to accommodate new tenant additions and small cell network builds or improvements. Capital expenditures for construction of wireless infrastructure increased from 2011 to 2012 primarily as a result of additional small cell network builds. Capital expenditures for wireless infrastructure

72

improvements typically vary based on (1) the type of work performed on the wireless infrastructure, with the installation of a new antenna typically requiring greater capital expenditures than a modification to an existing installation, (2) the existing capacity of the wireless structure prior to installation, or (3) changes in structural engineering regulations and our internal structural standards.

Acquisitions. Acquisitions consist of the acquisition of businesses such as towers, small cells, and third party land sites. See note 3 to our condensed consolidated financial statements included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2014, which is incorporated by reference herein, for a discussion of the AT&T Acquisition. See also notes 3 and 5 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, which is incorporated by reference herein, for a further discussion of the AT&T Acquisition and the 2012 Acquisitions.

Financing Activities

We seek to allocate cash generated by our operations in a manner that will enhance long-term stockholder value, which may include various financing activities, such as (in no particular order) paying dividends on our common stock (currently approximately \$117 million per quarter), paying dividends on the Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock (expected to be approximately \$45 million in 2014), purchasing our common stock, or purchasing, repaying, or redeeming our debt.

See note 9 to our condensed consolidated financial statements included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2014, which is incorporated by reference herein, for more information regarding the common stock and preferred stock cash dividends.

In 2012, our financing activities predominately related to the issuance and borrowing of an aggregate \$6.5 billion of face value of debt which provided funding for the 2012 Acquisitions, as well as the refinancing of our credit facility and the repurchase and redemption of the 7.75% secured notes and the 9% senior notes, which lowered our cost of debt. In 2013, our financing activities predominately related to our October Equity Financings and the 2012 Credit Facility, borrowings and amendments. See Liquidity and Capital Resources Overview .

Credit Facility. The proceeds of the 2012 Revolver may be used for general corporate purposes, which may include the financing of capital expenditures, acquisitions and purchases of our common stock. As of September 15, 2014, there was \$281 million outstanding and \$1.2 billion in undrawn availability under the 2012 Revolver. See note 4 to our condensed consolidated financial statements included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2014, which is incorporated by reference herein, and General Overview regarding the January 2014 extension of the maturity dates for a portion of our tranche B term loans.

In January 2012, we refinanced our previously outstanding credit facility with a new credit facility that initially consisted of a \$1.0 billion revolving credit facility and \$2.1 billion of term loan facilities. As of June 30, 2014, our term loan facilities were comprised of \$654.2 million of tranche A term loans and \$2.9 billion of tranche B term loans.

Incurrence of Debt. See note 4 to our condensed consolidated financial statements included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2014, which is incorporated by reference herein, for a discussion of our April 2014 issuance of the 4.875% Senior Notes, which (1) provided us with funding to repay \$300.0 million of January 2010 Tower Revenue Notes and redeem all of the previously outstanding 7.125% Senior Notes, (2) lowered our cost of debt, and (3) extended the weighted-average maturity of our debt obligations.

See note 7 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, which is incorporated by reference herein, for a discussion of our issuances of debt during

2012 and 2013, which extended the maturities of our debt portfolio, provided funding for our acquisitions and lowered our cost of debt.

73

Debt Purchases and Repayments. See note 4 to our condensed consolidated financial statements included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2014, which is incorporated by reference herein, for a summary of our debt redemptions and repayments during April and May 2014, including the gains (losses) on the repayment of \$300.0 million of January 2010 Tower Revenue Notes and the redemption of all of the previously outstanding 7.125% Senior Notes, which were funded by the 4.875% Senior Notes.

See note 7 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, which is incorporated by reference herein, for a summary of our repurchases, redemptions and repayments of debt during 2012 and 2013.

Common Stock Activity. As of June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, we had 333.9 million and 334.1 million common shares outstanding, respectively. See note 9 to our condensed consolidated financial statements included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2014, which is incorporated by reference herein, for further discussion of the cash dividends on our common stock paid in March 2014 and June 2014.

Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock Activity. As of June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, we had approximately 9.8 million shares of Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock outstanding. See note 9 to our condensed consolidated financial statements included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2014, which is incorporated by reference herein, for further discussion of the cash dividends on Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock paid in February 2014 and May 2014.

Restricted Cash. Pursuant to the indentures governing certain of our operating companies debt securities, all rental cash receipts of the issuers of these debt instruments and their subsidiaries are restricted and held by an indenture trustee. The restricted cash in excess of required reserve balances is subsequently released to us in accordance with the terms of the indentures. During 2012, \$316.6 million of restricted cash was held by the trustee in connection with the redemption of the 7.75% secured notes. That amount was subsequently released in January 2013 when the 7.75% secured notes were redeemed in their entirety. See also notes 2 and 7 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, which is incorporated by reference herein.

Contractual Cash Obligations

The following table summarizes our contractual cash obligations as of June 30, 2014. The following table does not reflect our declaration of a dividend of \$0.35 per common share, or approximately \$117 million in aggregate, in August of 2014, which was paid on September 30, 2014. These contractual cash obligations relate primarily to our outstanding borrowings or lease obligations for land interests under our towers. The debt maturities reflect contractual maturity dates and do not consider the impact of the principal payments that will commence following the anticipated repayment dates on the Tower Revenue Notes (see footnote (b)) and the WCP Securitized Notes (see footnote (c)).

> Six **Months Ended** December 31,

Years Ending December 31,

Contractual

Obligations^(a) 2014 2015

2016 2017 (In thousands of dollars)

2018

Thereafter

Totals

Edgar Filing: CROWN CASTLE INTERNATIONAL CORP - Form DEFM14A

Debt and other long-term							
obligations ^{(b)(c)}	\$ 52,048	\$ 102,038	\$ 116,788	\$ 614,705	\$ 958,929	\$ 9,724,299	\$ 11,568,807
Interest payments on debt and other							
long-term	242 522	401 200	524 625	571 116	501 610	7 022 912	10 249 417
obligations ^{(c)(d)} Operating lease	243,523	491,398	524,625	574,446	581,612	7,932,813	10,348,417
obligations ^(e)	286,494	579,604	585,456	590,308	592,197	7,679,951	10,374,204
Other		2,587	1,626	283	41		4,537
T-4-141							
Total contractual obligations	\$ 582,065	\$ 1,175,627	\$ 1,228,495	\$1,779,742	\$ 2,132,779	\$ 25,337,063	\$ 32,295,965

(a) The following items are in addition to the obligations disclosed in the above table:

We have a legal obligation to perform certain asset retirement activities, including requirements upon lease and easement terminations to remove wireless infrastructure or remediate the land upon which our wireless infrastructure resides. The cash obligations disclosed in the above table, as of June 30, 2014, are exclusive of estimated undiscounted future cash outlays for asset retirement obligations of approximately \$1.2 billion. As of June 30, 2014, the net present value of these asset retirement obligations was approximately \$123.2 million.

We are contractually obligated to pay or reimburse others for property taxes related to our wireless infrastructure. See note 15 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, which is incorporated by reference herein.

We have the option to purchase approximately 54% of our towers that are leased or subleased or operated and managed under master leases, subleases, and other agreements with Sprint, T-Mobile, and AT&T at the end of their respective lease terms; we have no obligation to exercise such purchase options. See note 1 to our condensed consolidated financial statements included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2014, which is incorporated by reference herein.

- (b) The impact of principal payments that will commence following the anticipated repayment dates of our Tower Revenue Notes is not considered. The January 2010 Tower Revenue Notes consist of two series of notes with principal amounts of \$350.0 million and \$1.3 billion, having anticipated repayment dates in 2017 and 2020, respectively. The August 2010 Tower Revenue Notes consist of three series of notes with principal amounts of \$250.0 million, \$300.0 million, and \$1.0 billion, having anticipated repayment dates in 2015, 2017 and 2020, respectively. If the Tower Revenue Notes are not repaid in full by the applicable anticipated repayment dates, the applicable interest rate increases by approximately 5% per annum and monthly principal payments commence using the Excess Cash Flow (as defined in the indenture governing the applicable Tower Revenue Notes) of the issuers of the Tower Revenue Notes. The Tower Revenue Notes are presented based on their contractual maturity dates ranging from 2035 to 2040 and include the impact of an assumed 5% increase in interest rate that would occur following the anticipated repayment dates but exclude the impact of monthly principal payments that would commence using Excess Cash Flow of the issuers of the Tower Revenue Notes. The annualized 2014 Excess Cash Flow of the issuers of the Tower Revenue Notes was approximately \$550.8 million, based on the first half of 2014. We currently expect to refinance these notes on or prior to the respective anticipated repayment dates.
- (c) The impact of principal payments that will commence following the anticipated repayment dates of our WCP Securitized Notes are not included. The anticipated repayment date is 2015 for each class of the WCP Securitized Notes. If the WCP Securitized Notes with a current face value of \$268.5 million are not repaid in full by their anticipated repayment dates, the applicable interest rate increases by an additional approximately 5% per annum. If the WCP Securitized Notes are not repaid in full by their rapid amortization date of 2017, monthly principal payments commence using the Excess Cash Flow (as defined in the indenture governing the WCP Securitized Notes) of the issuers of the WCP Securitized Notes. The WCP Securitized Notes are presented based on their contractual maturity dates in 2040. We currently expect to refinance these notes on or prior to the respective anticipated repayment dates.

- (d) Interest payments on the floating rate debt are based on estimated rates currently in effect.
- (e) These operating lease obligations include (1) payments for certain renewal periods at our option up to the estimated wireless infrastructure useful life of 20 years and (2) an estimate of contingent payments based on revenues and gross margins derived from existing tenant leases.

75

The following table summarizes our rights to the land interests under our towers, including renewal terms at our option, as of June 30, 2014. As of June 30, 2014, the leases for the land interests under our towers had an average remaining life of approximately 30 years, weighted based on site rental gross margin. See the section entitled Risk Factors .

Remaining Term, In Years ^{(a)(e)}	Percent of Total Towers	Percent of Total Site Rental Gross Margins ^{(b)(c)}
Owned ^(d)	19%	33%
20+ years	39%	38%
10 years to less than 20 years	27%	17%
5 years to less than 10 years	10%	8%
1 year to less than 5 years	4%	3%
0 to less than 1 year	1%	1%
Total	100%	100%

- (a) Inclusive of renewal terms at our option.
- (b) For the six months ended June 30, 2014.
- (c) Without consideration of the term of the customer contract agreement.
- (d) Inclusive of fee interests and perpetual easements.
- (e) Exclusive of the impact of the term for which our towers are leased or subleased or operated and managed under master leases, subleases or other agreements with Sprint, T-Mobile and AT&T.

Debt Covenants

The credit agreement governing the 2012 Credit Facility contains financial maintenance covenants. We are currently in compliance with these financial maintenance covenants and, based upon our current expectations, we believe we will continue to comply with these financial maintenance covenants. In addition, certain of our debt agreements also contain restrictive covenants that place restrictions on Crown Castle or our subsidiaries and may limit our ability to, among other things, incur debt and liens, purchase our securities, make capital expenditures, dispose of assets, undertake transactions with affiliates, make other investments, pay dividends or distribute excess cash flow. See note 7 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, which is incorporated by reference herein, for a further discussion of our debt covenants. See the section entitled Risk Factors regarding factors that may impact our ability to comply with our financial maintenance covenants.

The following are ratios applicable to the financial maintenance covenants under the credit agreement governing the 2012 Credit Facility as of June 30, 2014.

Financial Maintenance Covenant Level As of June 30,
Borrower / Issuer Covenant^(a) Requirement 2014

CCOC	Total Net Leverage Ratio(b)	$\leq 5.50x$	4.2
CCOC	Consolidated Interest Coverage	$\geq 2.50x$	6.0
	Ratio ^(b)		

- (a) Failure to comply with the financial maintenance covenants would, absent a waiver, result in an event of default under the credit agreement governing the 2012 Credit Facility.
- (b) As defined in the credit agreement governing the 2012 Credit Facility.

Off-balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements as defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of Regulation S-K.

76

Accounting and Reporting Matters

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The following is a discussion of the accounting policies and estimates that we believe (1) are most important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results of operations or (2) require our most difficult, subjective or complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. The critical accounting policies and estimates for 2014 are not intended to be a comprehensive list of our accounting policies and estimates. In many cases, the accounting treatment of a particular transaction is specifically dictated by GAAP, with no need for management s judgment. In other cases, management is required to exercise judgment in the application of accounting principles with respect to particular transactions. See note 2 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, which is incorporated by reference herein, for a summary of our significant accounting policies. The critical accounting policies and estimates for the first six months of 2014 have not changed from the critical accounting policies for the year ended December 31, 2013.

Revenue Recognition. 83% of our consolidated net revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2014 consists of site rental revenues, which are recognized on a monthly basis over the fixed, non-cancelable term of the relevant contract (generally ranging from five to 15 years), regardless of whether the payments from the customer are received in equal monthly amounts. If the payment terms call for fixed escalations (as in fixed dollar or fixed percentage increases), prepaid rent or rent free periods, the revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the fixed, non-cancelable term of the contract. When calculating our straight-line rental revenues, we consider all fixed elements of tenant contractual escalation provisions, even if such escalation provisions contain a variable element (such as an escalator tied to an inflation-based index) in addition to a minimum. To the extent we acquire below-market tenant leases for contractual interests with tenants on the acquired wireless infrastructure (for example with respect to small cells) we record deferred credits and amortize such deferred credits to site rental revenues over their estimated lease term. Since we recognize revenue on a straight-line basis, a portion of the site rental revenue in a given period represents cash collected or contractually collectible in other periods. Our assets related to straight-line site rental revenues are included in other current assets and deferred site rental receivables, net. Amounts billed or received prior to being earned, commonly referred to as prepaid rent, are deferred and reflected in deferred revenues and deferred credits and other liabilities . See note 2 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, which is incorporated by reference herein.

We provide network services relating to our wireless infrastructure, which represent approximately 17% of our total revenues for the first half of 2014. As part of CCUSA s effort to provide comprehensive wireless infrastructure solutions, it offers certain network services relating to its wireless infrastructure, consisting of (1) installation services and (2) the following additional site development services relating to existing or new antenna installations on its wireless infrastructure: site acquisition, architectural and engineering, zoning or permitting, other construction or network development related services. Network services revenues are recognized after completion of the applicable service. We account for network services separately from the customer s site rental.

See the section entitled Our Business The Company CCUSA for a further discussion of our business.

Accounting for Acquisitions General. As described in the section entitled Our Business , much of our wireless infrastructure has been acquired in various transactions from the four largest U.S. wireless carriers (or their predecessors) through transactions consummated since 1999. We evaluate each of our acquisitions to determine if it should be accounted for as a business combination or as an acquisition of assets. For our business combinations, we allocate the purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair value at the date

of acquisition. Any purchase price in excess of the net fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed is allocated to goodwill. See Accounting for Acquisitions Valuation below. See note 2 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, which is incorporated by reference herein, for further information regarding the nature and composition of the site rental contracts and customer relationships intangible assets.

77

The determination of the final purchase price allocation could extend over several quarters resulting in the use of preliminary estimates that are subject to adjustment until finalized. Such changes could have a significant impact on our financial statements and could result in retrospective changes in results reported for the acquired business in prior periods in accordance with GAAP. The preliminary purchase price allocation related to the AT&T Acquisition is not finalized as of June 30, 2014, and is based upon preliminary valuation which is subject to change as the Company obtains additional information, including with respect to fixed assets, intangible assets and certain liabilities. See note 3 to our condensed consolidated financial statements included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2014, which is incorporated by reference herein, regarding additional information relating to the AT&T Acquisition.

Accounting for Acquisitions Leases. With respect to business combinations that include towers that we lease and operate, such as the T-Mobile, Sprint, and AT&T leased and subleased towers, we evaluate such agreements to determine treatment as capital or operating leases. The evaluation of such agreements for capital or operating lease treatment includes consideration of each of the lease classification criteria under ASC 840-10-25, namely (1) the transfer of ownership provisions, (2) the existence of bargain purchase options, (3) the length of the remaining lease term and (4) the present value of the minimum lease payments. With respect to the AT&T Acquisition, T-Mobile Acquisition, and the Sprint Towers acquired in the acquisition of Global Signal, we determined that the tower leases were capital leases and the underlying land leases were operating leases based upon the lease term criterion, after considering the fragmentation criteria applicable under ASC 840-10-25 to leases involving both land and buildings (i.e., towers). We determined that the fragmentation criteria was met, and the tower leases could be accounted for as capital leases apart from the land leases, which are accounted for as operating leases, since (1) the fair value of the land in both business combinations was greater than 25% of the total fair value of the leased property at inception and (2) the tower lease expirations occur beyond 75% of the estimated economic life of the tower assets.

Accounting for Acquisitions Valuation. As of June 30, 2014, our largest asset was property and equipment, which primarily consists of wireless infrastructure, followed by intangible assets and goodwill (approximately \$3.9 billion and \$4.9 billion in net book value, respectively). Approximately \$3.5 billion net book value at June 30, 2014 of our identifiable intangibles relate to site rental contracts and customer relationships intangible assets.

The fair value of the vast majority of our assets and liabilities is determined by using either:

- (1) estimates of replacement costs (for tangible fixed assets such as towers), or
- (2) discounted cash flow valuation methods (for estimating identifiable intangibles such as site rental contracts and customer relationships and above-market and below-market leases).

The purchase price allocation requires subjective estimates that, if incorrectly estimated, could be material to our consolidated financial statements, including the amount of depreciation, amortization and accretion expense. The most important estimates for measurement of tangible fixed assets are (1) the cost to replace the asset with a new asset and (2) the economic useful life after giving effect to age, quality and condition. The most important estimates for measurement of intangible assets are (1) discount rates and (2) timing and amount of cash flows including estimates regarding customer renewals and cancellations. The most important estimates for measurement of above- and below-market leases is the determination of (1) favorability or unfavorability to the current market terms and (2) applicable lease term, including whether renewals or extensions should be measured. With respect to business combinations that include towers that we lease and operate, such as the T-Mobile, Sprint and AT&T leased and subleased towers, we evaluate such agreements to determine treatment as capital or operating leases and identification

of any bargain purchase options.

We record the fair value of obligations to perform certain asset retirement activities, including requirements, pursuant to our ground leases or easements, to remove wireless infrastructure or remediate the land upon which our wireless infrastructure resides. In determining the fair value of these asset retirement obligations we must make several subjective and highly judgmental estimates such as those related to: (1) timing of cash flows,

78

(2) future costs, (3) discount rates and (4) the probability of enforcement to remove the wireless infrastructure or remediate the land. See note 2 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, which is incorporated by reference herein.

Accounting for Long-Lived Assets Useful Lives. We are required to make subjective assessments as to the useful lives of our tangible and intangible assets for purposes of determining depreciation, amortization and accretion expense that, if incorrectly estimated, could be material to our consolidated financial statements. Depreciation expense for our property and equipment is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of our various classes of tangible assets. The substantial portion of our property and equipment represents the cost of our wireless infrastructure which is depreciated with an estimated useful life equal to the shorter of (1) 20 years or (2) the term of the lease (including optional renewals) for the land interests under the wireless infrastructure.

The useful life of our intangible assets is estimated based on the period over which the intangible asset is expected to benefit us and gives consideration to the expected useful life of other assets to which the useful life may relate. Amortization expense for intangible assets is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of each of the intangible assets. The useful life of the site rental contracts and customer relationships intangible assets is limited by the maximum depreciable life of the wireless infrastructure (20 years), as a result of the interdependency of the wireless infrastructure and site rental contracts and customer relationships. In contrast, the site rental contracts and customer relationships are estimated to provide economic benefits for several decades because of the low rate of customer cancellations and high rate of renewals experienced to date. Thus, while site rental contracts and customer relationships are valued based upon the fair value of the site rental contracts and customer relationships which includes assumptions regarding both (1) customers—exercise of optional renewals contained in the acquired contracts and (2) renewals of the acquired contracts past the contractual term including exercisable options, the site rental contracts are amortized over a period not to exceed 20 years as a result of the useful life being limited by the depreciable life of the wireless infrastructure.

Accounting for Long-Lived Assets Impairment Evaluation Intangibles. We review the carrying values of property and equipment, intangible assets or other long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. We utilize the following dual grouping policy for purposes of determining the unit of account for testing impairment of the site rental contracts and customer relationships:

- (1) we pool site rental contracts and customer relationships intangible assets and property and equipment into portfolio groups, and
- (2) we separately pool site rental contracts and customer relationships by significant customer or by customer grouping for individually insignificant customers, as appropriate.

We first pool site rental contracts and customer relationships intangible assets and property and equipment into portfolio groups for purposes of determining the unit of account for impairment testing, because we view wireless infrastructure as portfolios and wireless infrastructure in a given portfolio and its related customer contracts are not largely independent of the other wireless infrastructure in the portfolio. We re-evaluate the appropriateness of the pooled groups at least annually. This use of grouping is based in part on (1) our limitations regarding disposal of wireless infrastructure, (2) the interdependencies of wireless infrastructure portfolios and (3) the manner in which wireless infrastructure is traded in the marketplace. The vast majority of our site rental contracts and customer relationships intangible assets and property and equipment are pooled into the U.S. owned wireless infrastructure group. Secondly, and separately, we pool site rental contracts and customer relationships by significant customer or by

customer grouping for individually insignificant customers, as appropriate, for purposes of determining the unit of account for impairment testing because we associate the value ascribed to site rental contracts and customer relationships intangible assets to the underlying contracts and related customer relationships acquired.

79

Our determination that an adverse event or change in circumstance has occurred that indicates that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable will generally involve (1) a deterioration in an asset s financial performance compared to historical results, (2) a shortfall in an asset s financial performance compared to forecasted results or (3) changes affecting the utility and estimated future demands for the asset. When considering the utility of our assets, we consider events that would meaningfully impact (1) our wireless infrastructure or (2) our customer relationships. For example, consideration would be given to events that impact (1) the structural integrity and longevity of our wireless infrastructure or (2) our ability to derive benefit from our existing customer relationships, including events such as bankruptcy or insolvency or loss of a significant customer. During 2013 and the six months ended June 30, 2014, there were no events or circumstances that caused us to review the carrying value of our intangible assets or property and equipment due in part to our assets performing consistently with or better than our expectations.

If the sum of the estimated future cash flows (undiscounted) from an asset, or portfolio group, significant customer or customer group (for individually insignificant customers), as applicable, is less than its carrying amount, an impairment loss may be recognized. If the carrying value were to exceed the undiscounted cash flows, measurement of an impairment loss would be based on the fair value of the asset, which is based on an estimate of discounted future cash flows. The most important estimates for such calculations of undiscounted cash flows are (1) the expected additions of new tenants and equipment on our wireless infrastructure and (2) estimates regarding customer cancellations and renewals of contracts. We could record impairments in the future if changes in long-term market conditions, expected future operating results or the utility of the assets results in changes for our impairment test calculations which negatively impact the fair value of our property and equipment and intangible assets, or if we changed our unit of account in the future.

When grouping assets into pools for purposes of impairment evaluation, we also consider individual towers, nodes, and third party land interests within a grouping for which we currently have no tenants. Approximately 2% of our total towers currently have no tenants. We continue to pay operating expenses on these towers in anticipation of obtaining tenants on these towers in the future, primarily because of the individual tower site demographics. We estimate, based on current visibility, potential tenants on over half of these towers. To the extent we do not believe there are long-term prospects of obtaining tenants on an individual tower, node, or third party land interest and all other possible avenues for recovering the carrying value has been exhausted, including sale of the asset, we appropriately reduce the carrying value of such assets to fair value.

Accounting for Long-Lived Assets Impairment Evaluation Goodwill. Nearly all of our goodwill is recorded at CCUSA. We test goodwill for impairment on an annual basis, regardless of whether adverse events or changes in circumstances have occurred. The annual test begins with goodwill and all intangible assets being allocated to applicable reporting units. We then perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If it is concluded that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, it is necessary to perform the two-step goodwill impairment test. Otherwise the two-step goodwill impairment test is not required. Our reporting units are the operating segments (CCUSA and CCAL) since segment management operates their respective wireless infrastructure portfolios as a single network.

We performed our most recent annual goodwill impairment test as of October 1, 2013, which resulted in no impairments. This assessment included consideration of our market capitalization which exceeded over three times the aggregate carrying amount of the reporting units as of December 31, 2013.

Deferred Income Taxes. We record deferred income tax assets and liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet related to events that impact our financial statements and tax returns in different periods. In order to compute these deferred tax balances, we first analyze the differences between the book basis and tax basis of our assets and liabilities (referred

to as temporary differences). These temporary differences are then multiplied by current tax rates to arrive at the balances for the deferred income tax assets and liabilities. A valuation allowance is provided on deferred tax assets that do not meet the more likely than not realization threshold. We recognize

80

a tax position if it is more likely than not it will be sustained upon examination. The tax position is measured at the largest amount that is greater than 50 percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement.

If our expectations about the future tax consequences of past events should prove to be inaccurate, the balances of our deferred income tax assets and liabilities could require significant adjustments in future periods. Our ability to utilize our NOLs is dependent, in part, upon our having sufficient future earnings to utilize our NOLs before they expire. If market conditions change materially and we determine that we will be unable to generate sufficient taxable income in the future to utilize our NOLs, we would be required to record an additional valuation allowance, which would reduce our earnings. Such adjustments could cause a material effect on our results of operations for the period of the adjustment. The change in our valuation allowance has no effect on our cash flows.

From and after January 1, 2014, the date on which we commenced operating as a REIT, we will generally be entitled to a deduction for dividends that we pay and therefore will not be subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax on our net taxable income that is distributed to our stockholders. As a result, while we will still be permitted to use NOLs to offset REIT taxable income, we do not expect to pay taxes on our REIT taxable income, and therefore we do not expect to be able to realize such deferred tax assets. We also have TRSs which include our tower operations in Australia and our small cells, that will continue to be subject, as applicable, to federal and state corporate income taxes or to foreign taxes in the jurisdictions in which such assets and operations are located. See Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations General Overview for a discussion of the private letter ruling regarding our small cells, including the potential impact on deferred taxes.

For a further discussion of our benefit (provision) for income taxes and our REIT conversion, see Consolidated Results of Operations Comparison of Operating Segments , note 5 to our condensed consolidated financial statements included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2014 and notes 10 and 20 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, which are incorporated by reference herein.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements.

No accounting pronouncements adopted during the six months ended June 30, 2014 had a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted.

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board released updated guidance regarding the recognition of revenue from contracts with customers, exclusive of those contracts within lease accounting. The core principle of the guidance is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. To achieve that core principle, an entity should apply the following steps: (1) identify the contracts with the customer; (2) identify the performance obligations in the contract; (3) determine the contract price; (4) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and (5) recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation. This guidance is effective for us as of January 1, 2017. This guidance is required to be applied (1) retrospectively to each prior reporting period presented or (2) with the cumulative effect being recognized at the date of initial application. We are evaluating the guidance including the impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures.

Our measurement of profit or loss currently used to evaluate the operating performance of our operating segments is earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization and accretion, as adjusted, or Adjusted EBITDA. Our definition of Adjusted EBITDA is set forth in Consolidated Results of Operations Comparison

81

of Operating Segments . Our measure of Adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies, including companies in the tower sector and other similar providers of wireless infrastructure, and is not a measure of performance calculated in accordance with GAAP. Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for operating income or loss, net income or loss, net cash provided by (used for) operating, investing and financing activities, or other income statement or cash flow statement data prepared in accordance with GAAP.

We believe Adjusted EBITDA is useful to an investor in evaluating our operating performance because:

it is the primary measure used by our management to evaluate the economic productivity of our operations, including the efficiency of our employees and the profitability associated with their performance, the realization of contract revenues under our long-term contracts, our ability to obtain and maintain our customers and our ability to operate our wireless infrastructure effectively;

it is the primary measure of profit and loss used by management for purposes of making decisions about allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, our operating segments;

it is similar to the measure of current financial performance generally used in our debt covenant calculations;

although specific definitions may vary, it is widely used in the tower sector and other similar providers of wireless infrastructure to measure operating performance without regard to items such as depreciation, amortization and accretion, which can vary depending upon accounting methods and the book value of assets; and

we believe it helps investors meaningfully evaluate and compare the results of our operations (1) from period to period and (2) to our competitors by removing the impact of our capital structure (primarily interest charges from our outstanding debt) and asset base (primarily depreciation, amortization and accretion) from our operating results.

Our management uses Adjusted EBITDA:

with respect to compliance with our financial maintenance covenants, which require us to maintain certain financial ratios including, or similar to, Adjusted EBITDA;

as the primary measure of profit and loss for purposes of making decisions about allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, our operating segments;

as a performance goal in employee annual incentive compensation;

as a measurement of operating performance because it assists us in comparing our operating performance on a consistent basis as it removes the impact of our capital structure (primarily interest charges from our outstanding debt) and asset base (primarily depreciation, amortization and accretion) from our operating results;

in presentations to our board of directors to enable it to have the same measurement of operating performance used by management;

for planning purposes, including preparation of our annual operating budget;

as a valuation measure in strategic analyses in connection with the purchase and sale of assets; and

in determining self-imposed limits on our debt levels, including the evaluation of our leverage ratio and interest coverage ratio.

There are material limitations to using a measure such as Adjusted EBITDA, including the difficulty associated with comparing results among more than one company, including our competitors, and the inability to analyze certain significant items, including depreciation and interest expense, that directly affect our net income or loss. Management compensates for these limitations by considering the economic effect of the excluded expense items independently as well as in connection with their analysis of net income (loss).

82

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Our primary exposures to market risks are related to changes in interest rates or foreign currency exchange rates which may adversely affect our results of operations and financial position. We seek to manage exposure to changes in interest rates where economically prudent to do so by utilizing fixed rate debt. We do not currently hedge against foreign currency exchange risks.

Interest Rate Risk

Our interest rate risk relates primarily to the impact of interest rate movements on the following:

the potential refinancing of our existing debt (\$11.6 billion and \$11.6 billion of debt outstanding at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively);

our \$3.8 billion and \$3.9 billion of floating rate debt at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively; which represented approximately 33% and 34% of our total debt, as of June 30, 2014 and as of December 31, 2013, respectively; and

potential future borrowings of incremental debt.

We may refinance our current outstanding indebtedness on or prior to maturity at the then current prevailing market rates which may be higher than our current stated rates, including as a result of potential future increases in risk free rates. We currently have no interest rate swaps hedging any refinancings.

Sensitivity Analysis

We manage our exposure to market interest rates on our existing debt by controlling the mix of fixed and floating rate debt. As of June 30, 2014, we had \$3.8 billion of floating rate debt, which included \$2.8 billion of debt with a LIBOR floor of 75 basis points per annum. As a result, a hypothetical unfavorable fluctuation in market interest rates on our existing debt of 1/8 of a percent point over a 12 month period would increase our interest expense by approximately \$1 million when giving effect to our LIBOR floor and would increase our interest expense by approximately \$5 million exclusive of the impact of the LIBOR floor.

Potential Future Borrowings of Incremental Debt

We typically do not hedge our exposure to interest rates on potential future borrowings of incremental debt for a substantial period prior to issuance. See Liquidity and Capital Resources regarding our liquidity strategy.

Tabular Information

The following table provides information about our market risk related to changes in interest rates. The future principal payments and weighted-average interest rates are presented as of June 30, 2014. These debt maturities reflect contractual maturity dates, and do not consider the impact of the principal payments that commence if the applicable debt is not repaid or refinanced on or prior to the anticipated repayment dates on the Tower Revenue Notes and the WCP Securitized Notes (see footnote (c)). The information presented below regarding the variable rate debt is

supplementary to our sensitivity analysis regarding the impact of changes in the LIBOR rates. See note 4 to our condensed consolidated financial statements included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2014, which is incorporated by reference herein.

83

	Future Principal Payments and Interest Rates by the Debt Instruments Contractual Year							of Maturity Fair
	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	Thereafter	Total	Value ^(a)
				(Doll	ars in thousa	nds)		
Debt:								
Fixed								
rate(c)	\$ 29,446	\$56,834	\$55,021	\$552,938 ^(e)	\$ 33,163	\$7,003,356 ^(c)	\$7,730,758 ^(c)	\$8,246,406
Average								
interest								
rate(b)(c)	4.7%	4.9%	6.5%	2.8%	5.4%	7.4% ^(c)	7.1% ^(c)	
Variable								
rate	\$ 22,602	\$45,204	\$61,767	\$ 61,767	\$ 925,767 ^(f)	\$ 2,720,942	\$ 3,838,049	\$3,821,949
Average								
interest								
rate(d)	2.7%	2.7%	4.1%	4.1%	4.5%	5.5%	5.2%	

- (a) The fair value of our debt is based on indicative quotes (that is, non-binding quotes) from brokers that require judgment to interpret market information, including implied credit spreads for similar borrowings on recent trades or bid/ask offers. These fair values are not necessarily indicative of the amount, which could be realized in a current market exchange.
- (b) The average interest rate represents the weighted-average stated coupon rate (see footnote (c)).
- (c) The impact of principal payments that will commence following the anticipated repayment dates is not considered. The January 2010 Tower Revenue Notes consist of two series of notes with principal amounts of \$350.0 million and \$1.3 billion, having anticipated repayment dates in 2017 and 2020, respectively. See note 4 to our condensed consolidated financial statements included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2014, which is incorporated by reference herein, for a discussion of the 2014 Refinancings, which includes discussion on the April 2014 repayment of our January 2010 Tower Revenue Notes with an anticipated repayment date in 2015. The August 2010 Tower Revenue Notes consist of three series of notes with principal amounts of \$250.0 million, \$300.0 million and \$1.0 billion, having anticipated repayment dates in 2015, 2017 and 2020, respectively. If the Tower Revenue Notes are not repaid in full by the applicable anticipated repayment dates, the applicable interest rate increases by approximately 5% per annum and monthly principal payments commence using the Excess Cash Flow of the issuers of the Tower Revenue Notes. The Tower Revenue Notes are presented based on their contractual maturity dates ranging from 2035 to 2040 and include the impact of an assumed 5% increase in interest rate that would occur following the anticipated repayment dates but exclude the impact of monthly principal payments that would commence using Excess Cash Flow of the issuers of the Tower Revenue Notes. The annualized 2014 Excess Cash Flow of the issuers of the Tower Revenue Notes was approximately \$550.8 million, based on the six months ended June 30, 2014. If the WCP securitized notes with a current face value of \$268.5 million are not repaid in full by their anticipated repayment dates in 2015, the applicable interest rate increases by an additional approximately 5% per annum. If the WCP securitized notes are not repaid in full by their rapid amortization date of 2017, monthly principal payments commence using the Excess Cash Flow of the issuers of the WCP securitized notes. The WCP securitized notes are presented based on their contractual maturity dates in 2040. We currently expect to refinance these notes on or prior to the respective anticipated repayment dates.
- (d) The average variable interest rate is based on the currently observable forward rates. The 2012 Revolver and the tranche A term loans bear interest at a per annum rate equal to LIBOR plus 1.5% to 2.25%, based on CCOC s total net leverage ratio. The tranche B term loans bear interest at a per annum rate equal to LIBOR (with LIBOR subject to a floor of 75 basis points per annum) plus 2.25% to 2.5%, based on CCOC s total net leverage ratio.

- (e) Predominantly consists of a portion of the 2012 secured notes in an aggregate principal amount of \$500 million of 2.381% secured notes due 2017.
- (f) Predominantly consists of the 2012 Revolver and tranche A term loans. See note 4 to our condensed consolidated financial statements included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2014, which is incorporated by reference herein.

Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign exchange markets have recently been volatile, and we expect foreign exchange markets to continue to be volatile over the near term. The vast majority of our foreign currency risk is related to the Australian dollar which is the functional currency of CCAL. CCAL represented 4% of our consolidated net revenues and 5% of our operating income for the six months ended June 30, 2014, and represented 5% and 6%, respectively, of our consolidated revenues and 4% and 4%, respectively, of our consolidated operating income for 2013 and 2012. See Consolidated Results of Operations Comparison of Operating Segments for a discussion of the change in the Australian dollar to U.S. dollar exchange rate. We believe the risk related to our financial instruments (exclusive of inter-company financing deemed a long-term investment) denominated in Australian dollars should not be material to our financial condition. A hypothetical increase or decrease of 25% in the Australian dollar to U.S. dollar exchange rate would increase or decrease the fair value of our Australian dollar denominated financial instruments by approximately \$9 million.

84

DESCRIPTION OF CCR CAPITAL STOCK

The following summarizes the material terms of CCR common stock and CCR Convertible Preferred Stock as will be set forth in the CCR Charter, CCR By-Laws and the CCR Certificate of Designations, which will govern the rights of CCR common stock and CCR Convertible Preferred Stock, as applicable, if the merger agreement is adopted by the holders of Crown Castle common stock and the merger is thereafter completed. A copy of the form of the CCR Charter, the form of the CCR By-Laws and the form of the CCR Certificate of Designations is attached as Annex B-1, Annex B-2 and Annex B-3 to this proxy statement/prospectus, respectively. While we believe that the following description covers the material terms of CCR s capital stock, the description may not contain all of the information that is important to you. The description set forth in this section gives effect to certain anti-dilution adjustments made since the issuance of the Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock on October 28, 2013, and assumes that the merger occurs on or before December 31, 2014. To the extent that subsequent anti-dilution adjustments (as a result of dividends to holders of Crown Castle common stock or otherwise) are made pursuant to the terms of the Crown Castle Certificate of Designations prior to the consummation of the merger or the merger is consummated after December 31, 2014, the fixed conversion rates, the initial price, the threshold appreciation price and the applicable market value, as well as the initial dividend payment date and the initial dividend period, may differ from those set forth below. We encourage you to carefully read this entire proxy statement/prospectus, the CCR Charter, the CCR By-Laws, the CCR Certificate of Designations and the other documents we refer to for a more complete understanding of CCR s capital stock following the merger.

As used in this section, unless otherwise expressly stated or the context otherwise requires, the terms Company, Crown Castle, we, our and us refer to Crown Castle and not to any of its subsidiaries with respect to the period prior to the merger, and to CCR and not to any of its subsidiaries with respect to the period after the merger.

Authorized Capital

The CCR Charter will authorize CCR to issue up to 600,000,000 shares of common stock, par value \$0.01 per share, and 20,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value \$0.01 per share.

CCR Common Stock

When issued as contemplated in the merger agreement, the CCR common stock will be validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable. Under the DGCL, stockholders generally are not personally liable for a corporation s acts or debts.

The holders of CCR common stock will have no preemptive, subscription or redemption rights and will not be entitled to the benefit of any sinking fund.

Voting Rights

Each share of CCR common stock will be entitled to one vote. CCR common stock will vote together as a single class on all matters presented for a vote of the stockholders, except as provided under the DGCL. See also Amendment to Declassify Our Board of Directors and Related Provisions below.

Dividends and Liquidation Rights

Each share of CCR common stock will be entitled to receive dividends if, as and when declared by CCR s board of directors out of funds legally available for that purpose, subject to certain rights of holders of preferred stock, including the rights of holders of CCR Convertible Preferred Stock. See the section entitled Dividend Policy . In the

event of our voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up, after satisfaction of

85

amounts payable to our creditors and distribution of any preferential amounts to the holders of outstanding preferred stock, including CCR Convertible Preferred Stock, holders of CCR common stock will be entitled to share ratably in the assets available for distribution to the stockholders.

Amendment to Declassify Our Board of Directors and Related Provisions

On May 23, 2013, at the annual meeting of stockholders, Crown Castle s stockholders approved an amendment to Article VII of the Crown Castle Charter to declassify its board of directors and provide for the annual election of directors. Pursuant to the amendment, such declassification began phasing in commencing with the 2014 annual meeting of stockholders and would have resulted in the board of directors of Crown Castle being fully declassified (and all members of the board of directors standing for annual elections) commencing with the 2016 annual meeting of stockholders. The Crown Castle Charter amendment became effective upon the filing of a Certificate of Amendment of the Crown Castle Charter with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on May 24, 2013. The CCR Charter contains substantially identical phasing in provisions with respect to a declassified board of directors and, as such, the CCR board of directors will be fully declassified commencing with the 2016 annual meeting of stockholders.

The CCR Charter provides that any director, except for directors who may be elected by the holders of any series of preferred stock, may be removed from office at any time, with or without cause only by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 80% of the voting power of the then outstanding Voting Stock, voting together as a single class. However, any director serving in a class of directors elected for a term expiring at the third annual meeting of stockholders following the election of such class of directors may be removed only for cause by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 80% of the voting power of the then outstanding Voting Stock, voting together as a single class. Voting Stock is defined in the CCR Charter as the outstanding shares of CCR capital stock entitled to vote in a general vote of our stockholders as a single class with shares of CCR common stock.

Anti-takeover Provisions in the CCR Charter and the CCR By-laws

Stockholders rights and related matters will be governed by the DGCL, the CCR Charter and the CCR By-Laws. Certain provisions of the CCR Charter and the CCR By-Laws, descriptions of which are summarized or otherwise incorporated within this proxy statement/prospectus, may have the effect, either alone or in combination with each other, of discouraging or making more difficult a tender offer or takeover attempt that is opposed by our board of directors but that a stockholder might consider to be in its best interest. Such provisions may also adversely affect prevailing market prices for CCR capital stock. We believe that such provisions are necessary to enable us to develop our business in a manner that will foster our long-term growth without disruption caused by the threat of a takeover not deemed by the CCR board of directors to be in its best interests and those of CCR s stockholders.

CCR Convertible Preferred Stock

Under the CCR Charter, the CCR board of directors is authorized, without further stockholder action, to issue up to 20,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value \$0.01 per share, in one or more series by filing a certificate of designations with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware. Such certificate of designations may set forth the designations, powers, preferences and rights of the shares of each such series of preferred stock and the qualifications, limitations and restrictions thereof, including the dividend rate, the redemption provisions, if any, the amount payable in the event of our voluntary or involuntary liquidation, winding-up or dissolution, the terms and conditions, if any, of conversion and the voting rights. CCR will file a certificate of designations with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware to become effective as of immediately prior to the effective time of the merger to create the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock, which series of preferred stock will have substantially similar powers, preferences and

rights and the qualifications, limitations and restrictions thereof as the Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock.

86

In each of February, May and August of 2014, Crown Castle s board of directors declared quarterly cash dividends of \$0.35 to the holders of Crown Castle common stock, which were paid in March, June and September of 2014, respectively. As a consequence of the dividends to the holders of Crown Castle common stock, the fixed conversion rates, the initial price, the threshold appreciation price and the applicable market value for the Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock became subject to adjustment pursuant to the anti-dilution provisions of the Crown Castle Certificate of Designations and were adjusted as of September 19, 2014. These adjustments are given effect to in the fixed conversion rates, the initial price, the threshold appreciation price and the applicable market value presented herein, and are each subject to further adjustment as described in Anti-dilution Adjustments below, including anti-dilution adjustments (as a result of dividends to holders of Crown Castle common stock or otherwise) between the date of this proxy statement/prospectus and the date of the merger, which we expect to be completed no later than December 31, 2014.

When issued, the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock and any of our common stock issued upon the conversion of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock will be fully paid and nonassessable. The holders of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock will have no preemptive or preferential rights to purchase or subscribe for stock, obligations, warrants or other securities of ours of any class or series.

Ranking

The CCR Convertible Preferred Stock, with respect to dividend rights and distribution rights upon our liquidation, winding-up or dissolution, will rank:

senior to (i) our common stock and (ii) each class or series of CCR capital stock established after the date the merger is completed, the terms of which do not expressly provide that such class or series ranks senior to or on parity with the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock as to dividend rights and distribution rights upon our liquidation, winding-up or dissolution (which we refer to collectively as junior stock);

on parity with each class or series of CCR capital stock established after the date the merger is completed, the terms of which expressly provide that such class or series will rank on parity with the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock as to dividend rights and distribution rights upon our liquidation, winding-up or dissolution (which we refer to collectively as parity stock);

junior to each class or series of CCR capital stock established after the date the merger is completed, the terms of which expressly provide that such class or series will rank senior to the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock as to dividend rights and distribution rights upon our liquidation, winding-up or dissolution (which we refer to collectively as senior stock); and

junior to CCR s existing and future indebtedness.

Dividends

Subject to the rights of holders of any class or series of CCR capital stock ranking senior to the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock with respect to dividends, holders of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock will be entitled to receive, when, as and if declared by the CCR board of directors, or an authorized committee thereof, out of funds legally

available for payment, cumulative dividends at the rate per annum of 4.50% on the liquidation preference of \$100.00 per share of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock (equivalent to \$4.50 per annum per share), payable in cash, by delivery of shares of our common stock or by delivery of any combination of cash and shares of our common stock, as determined by us in our sole discretion (subject to the limitations described below). See Method of Payment of Dividends below. Declared dividends on the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock will be payable quarterly on February 1, May 1, August 1 and November 1 of each year to and including the mandatory conversion date (as defined below), commencing February 1, 2015 (each, a dividend payment date), at such annual rate, and dividends shall accumulate from the most recent date as to which dividends shall have been paid or, if no dividends have been paid, from November 1, 2014 (the date that is the

most recent dividend payment date of the Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock prior to the merger), whether or not in any dividend period or periods there have been funds legally available for the payment of such dividends. Declared dividends will be payable on the relevant dividend payment date to holders of record of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock as they appear on our stock register at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the immediately preceding January 15, April 15, July 15 and October 15 (each, a record date), whether or not such holders convert their shares, or such shares are automatically converted, after a record date and on or prior to the immediately succeeding dividend payment date. These record dates will apply regardless of whether a particular record date is a business day. A business day means any day other than a Saturday or Sunday or other day on which commercial banks in New York City are authorized or required by law or executive order to close. If a dividend payment date is not a business day, payment will be made on the next succeeding business day, without any interest or other payment in lieu of interest accruing with respect to this delay.

A dividend period is the period from and including a dividend payment date to but excluding the next dividend payment date, except that the initial dividend period will be deemed to have commenced on and include November 1, 2014 (the date that is the most recent dividend payment date of the Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock prior to the merger), and will end on and exclude the February 1, 2015 dividend payment date (the date that would be the next succeeding dividend payment date of the Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock after the merger). We refer to the period commencing on and including November 1, 2014 and ending on and excluding February 1, 2015 as the initial dividend period will be computed by dividing the annual dividend rate by four. Dividends payable on the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock for any period other than a full dividend period will be computed based upon the actual number of days elapsed during the period over a 360-day year (consisting of 12 30-day months). The dividend on the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock for each dividend period, including the initial dividend period, when, as and if declared, will be \$1.125 per share (based on the annual dividend rate of 4.50% and a liquidation preference of \$100.00 per share). Accumulations of dividends on shares of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock will not bear interest.

No dividend will be declared or paid upon, or any sum of cash or number of shares of our common stock set apart for the payment of dividends upon, any outstanding shares of CCR Convertible Preferred Stock with respect to any dividend period unless all dividends for all preceding dividend periods have been declared and paid upon, or a sufficient sum of cash or number of shares of our common stock has been set apart for the payment of such dividends upon, all outstanding shares of CCR Convertible Preferred Stock.

Our ability to declare and pay cash dividends and to make other distributions with respect to CCR capital stock, including the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock, may be limited by the terms of our and our subsidiaries existing and any future indebtedness. In addition, our ability to declare and pay dividends may be limited by applicable Delaware law.

So long as any share of CCR Convertible Preferred Stock remains outstanding, no dividend or distribution shall be declared or paid on our common stock or any other class or series of junior stock, and no common stock or any other class or series of junior stock shall be purchased, redeemed or otherwise acquired for consideration by us or any of our subsidiaries unless all accumulated and unpaid dividends for all preceding dividend periods have been declared and paid upon, or a sufficient sum of cash or number of shares of our common stock has been set apart for the payment of such dividends upon, all outstanding shares of CCR Convertible Preferred Stock. See the section entitled Dividend Policy . The foregoing limitation shall not apply to: (i) any dividend or distribution payable in shares of common stock or other junior stock, (ii) purchases, redemptions or other acquisitions of common stock or other junior stock in connection with the administration of any benefit or other incentive plan, including any employment contract, in the ordinary course of business (including purchases to offset the share dilution amount pursuant to a publicly announced repurchase plan); provided that any purchases to offset the share dilution amount shall in no event exceed the share

dilution amount; (iii) any dividends or distributions of rights in connection with a stockholders rights plan or any redemption or repurchase of rights pursuant to any stockholders rights plan; (iv) purchases of common stock or junior stock pursuant to a

88

contractually binding requirement to buy common stock or junior stock existing prior to the preceding dividend period, including under a contractually binding stock repurchase plan; (v) the deemed purchase or acquisition of fractional interests in shares of common stock or junior stock pursuant to the conversion or exchange provisions of such shares or the security being converted or exchanged; or (vi) purchases, redemptions or acquisitions deemed to occur as a result of the merger. The phrase—share dilution amount—means the increase in the number of diluted shares of our common stock outstanding (determined in accordance with U.S. GAAP, and as measured from October 28, 2013) resulting from the grant, vesting or exercise of equity-based compensation to directors, employees and agents and equitably adjusted for any stock split, stock dividend, reverse stock split, reclassification or similar transaction.

When dividends on shares of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock (i) have not been declared and paid in full on any dividend payment date, or (ii) have been declared but a sum of cash or number of shares of our common stock sufficient for payment thereof has not been set aside for the benefit of the holders thereof on the applicable record date, no dividends may be declared or paid on any parity stock unless dividends are declared on the shares of CCR Convertible Preferred Stock such that the respective amounts of such dividends declared on the shares of CCR Convertible Preferred Stock and such parity stock shall bear the same ratio to each other as all accumulated dividends and all declared and unpaid dividends per share on the shares of CCR Convertible Preferred Stock and such parity stock bear to each other; provided that any unpaid dividends will continue to accumulate.

Subject to the foregoing, and not otherwise, such dividends (payable in cash, securities or other property) as may be determined by our board of directors, or an authorized committee thereof, may be declared and paid on any securities, including our common stock, from time to time out of any funds legally available for such payment, and holders of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock shall not be entitled to participate in any such dividends. See the section entitled Dividend Policy .

Method of Payment of Dividends

Subject to the limitations described below, we may pay any declared dividend (or any portion of any declared dividend) on the shares of CCR Convertible Preferred Stock (whether or not for a current dividend period or any prior dividend period, including in connection with the payment of declared and unpaid dividends pursuant to the provisions described in Mandatory Conversion and Conversion at the Option of the Holder upon Fundamental Change; Fundamental Change Dividend Make-whole Amount), determined in our sole discretion:

in cash;

by delivery of shares of our common stock; or

by delivery of any combination of cash and shares of our common stock.

We will make each payment of a declared dividend on the shares of CCR Convertible Preferred Stock in cash, except to the extent we elect to make all or any portion of such payment in shares of our common stock. We will give the holders of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock notice of any such election and the portion of such payment that will be made in cash and the portion that will be made in shares of our common stock no later than 10 scheduled trading days (as defined below) prior to the dividend payment date for such dividend; provided that if we do not provide timely notice of this election, we will be deemed to have elected to pay the relevant dividend in cash.

If we elect to make any such payment of a declared dividend, or any portion thereof, in shares of our common stock, such shares shall be valued for such purpose, in the case of any dividend payment or portion thereof, at 97% of the average VWAP per share of our common stock (as defined below) over the five consecutive trading day (as defined below) period beginning on and including the seventh scheduled trading day (as defined below) prior to the applicable dividend payment date (the average price).

89

No fractional shares of our common stock will be delivered to the holders of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock in payment or partial payment of a dividend. We will instead pay a cash adjustment to each holder that would otherwise be entitled to a fraction of a share of our common stock based on the average price with respect to such dividend.

To the extent a shelf registration statement is required in our reasonable judgment in connection with the issuance of or for resales of common stock issued as payment of a dividend on the shares of CCR Convertible Preferred Stock, including dividends paid in connection with a conversion, we will, to the extent such a shelf registration statement is not currently filed and effective, use our commercially reasonable efforts to file and maintain the effectiveness of such a shelf registration statement until the earlier of such time as all such shares of common stock have been resold thereunder and such time as all such shares would be freely tradable without registration by holders thereof that are not affiliates of ours for purposes of the Securities Act. To the extent applicable, we will also use our commercially reasonable efforts to have the common stock qualified or registered under applicable state securities laws, if required, and approved for listing on the NYSE (or if our common stock is not listed on the NYSE, on the principal other U.S. national or regional securities exchange on which our common stock is then listed).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event will the number of shares of our common stock delivered in connection with any declared dividend, including any declared dividend payable in connection with a conversion, exceed a number equal to the total dividend payment divided by \$25.54, which amount represents 35% of the initial price (as defined below), subject to adjustment in a manner inversely proportional to any anti-dilution adjustment to each fixed conversion rate as set forth below in Anti-dilution Adjustments (such dollar amount, as adjusted, the floor price). To the extent that the amount of the declared dividend exceeds the product of (x) the number of shares of our common stock delivered in connection with such declared dividend and (y) the 97% of the average price, we will, if we are legally able to do so, pay such excess amount in cash.

Redemption

The CCR Convertible Preferred Stock will not be redeemable.

Liquidation Preference

In the event of our voluntary or involuntary liquidation, winding-up or dissolution, each holder of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock will be entitled to receive a liquidation preference in the amount of \$100.00 per share of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock (the liquidation preference), plus an amount equal to accumulated and unpaid dividends on the shares to but excluding the date fixed for liquidation, winding-up or dissolution to be paid out of our assets legally available for distribution to our stockholders, after satisfaction of liabilities to our creditors and holders of shares of any senior stock and before any payment or distribution is made to holders of junior stock (including our common stock). If, upon our voluntary or involuntary liquidation, winding-up or dissolution, the amounts payable with respect to the liquidation preference plus an amount equal to accumulated and unpaid dividends on the shares of CCR Convertible Preferred Stock and all parity stock are not paid in full, the holders of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock and any other such parity stock will share equally and ratably in any distribution of our assets in proportion to their liquidation preference and an amount equal to accumulated and unpaid dividends to which they are entitled. After payment of the full amount of the liquidation preference and an amount equal to accumulated and unpaid dividends to which they are entitled, the holders of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock will have no right or claim to any of our remaining assets.

Neither the sale of all or substantially all of our assets, nor our merger or consolidation into or with any other person (including the merger), will be deemed to be our voluntary or involuntary liquidation, winding-up or dissolution.

The CCR Charter, including the CCR Certificate of Designations, will not contain any provision requiring funds to be set aside to protect the liquidation preference of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock even though it is substantially in excess of the par value thereof.

90

Voting Rights

The holders of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock will not have voting rights except as described below and as specifically required by Delaware law from time to time.

Whenever dividends on any shares of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock (i) have not been declared and paid, or (ii) have been declared but a sum of cash or number of shares of our common stock sufficient for payment thereof has not been set aside for the benefit of the holders thereof on the applicable record date, for the equivalent of six or more dividend periods, whether or not for consecutive dividend periods (a nonpayment), the authorized number of directors on CCR s board of directors will, at the next annual meeting of stockholders or at a special meeting of stockholders as provided below, automatically be increased by two and the holders of such shares of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock, voting together as a single class with holders of any and all other series of voting preferred stock (as defined below) then outstanding, will be entitled, at our next annual meeting or at a special meeting of stockholders, to fill such newly created directorships by electing two additional directors (the preferred stock directors); provided that the election of any such directors will not cause us to violate the corporate governance requirements of the NYSE (or any other exchange or automated quotation system on which our securities may be listed or quoted) that requires listed or quoted companies to have a majority of independent directors; and provided further that CCR s board of directors shall, at no time, include more than two preferred stock directors. In the event of a nonpayment, the holders of at least 25% of the shares of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock and any other series of voting preferred stock may request that a special meeting of stockholders be called to elect such preferred stock directors (provided, however, that if CCR s next annual or a special meeting of stockholders is scheduled to be held within 90 days of the receipt of such request, the election of such preferred stock directors, to the extent otherwise permitted by the CCR By-Laws, will be included in the agenda for and will be held at such scheduled annual or special meeting of stockholders). The preferred stock directors will stand for reelection annually, at each subsequent annual meeting of the stockholders, so long as the holders of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock continue to have such voting rights.

At any meeting at which the holders of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock are entitled to elect preferred stock directors, the holders of a majority of the then outstanding shares of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock and all other series of voting preferred stock, present in person or represented by proxy, will constitute a quorum and the vote of the holders of a majority of such shares of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock and other voting preferred stock so present or represented by proxy at any such meeting at which there shall be a quorum shall be sufficient to elect the preferred stock directors.

As used in this proxy statement/prospectus, voting preferred stock means any series of our preferred stock, in addition to the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock, ranking equally with the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock either as to dividends or to the distribution of assets upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up and upon which like voting rights for the election of directors have been conferred and are exercisable. Whether a plurality, majority or other portion in voting power of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock and any other voting preferred stock have been voted in favor of any matter shall be determined by reference to the respective liquidation preference amounts of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock and such other voting preferred stock voted.

If and when all accumulated and unpaid dividends have been paid in full, or declared and a sum (which may include shares of our common stock) sufficient for such payment shall have been set aside (a nonpayment remedy), the holders of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock shall immediately and, without any further action by us, be divested of the foregoing voting rights, subject to the revesting of such rights in the event of each subsequent nonpayment. If such voting rights for the holders of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock and all other holders of voting preferred stock have terminated, the term of office of each preferred stock director so elected will terminate at such time and the authorized number of directors on our board of directors shall automatically decrease by two.

Any preferred stock director may be removed at any time, with cause as provided by law or without cause by the holders of record of a majority in voting power of the outstanding shares of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock and any other series of voting preferred stock then outstanding (voting together as a single class) when they have the voting rights described above. In the event that a nonpayment shall have occurred and there shall not have been a nonpayment remedy, any vacancy in the office of a preferred stock director (other than prior to the initial election after a nonpayment) may be filled by the written consent of the preferred stock director remaining in office or, if none remains in office, by a vote of the holders of record of a majority in voting power of the outstanding shares of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock and any other series of voting preferred stock then outstanding (voting together as a single class) when they have the voting rights described above; provided that the filling of each vacancy will not cause us to violate the corporate governance requirements of the NYSE (or any other exchange or automated quotation system on which our securities may be listed or quoted) that requires listed or quoted companies to have a majority of independent directors. The preferred stock directors will each be entitled to one vote per director on any matter.

So long as any shares of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock remain outstanding, we will not, without the affirmative vote or consent of the holders of at least two-thirds of the outstanding shares of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock and all other series of voting preferred stock entitled to vote thereon, voting together as a single class, given in person or by proxy, either in writing or at an annual or special meeting of such stockholders:

amend or alter the provisions of the CCR Charter or the CCR Certificate of Designations so as to authorize or create, or increase the authorized amount of, any class or series of senior stock; or

amend, alter or repeal the provisions of the CCR Charter or the CCR Certificate of Designations so as to adversely affect the special rights, preferences, privileges or voting powers of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock; or

consummate a binding share exchange or reclassification involving the shares of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock or a merger or consolidation of us with another entity, unless in each case: (i) the shares of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock remain outstanding or, in the case of any such merger or consolidation with respect to which we are not the surviving or resulting entity (or the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock is otherwise exchanged or reclassified), are converted or reclassified into or exchanged for preferred stock of the surviving or resulting entity or its ultimate parent; and (ii) such shares of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock that remain outstanding or such shares of preferred stock, as the case may be, have rights, preferences, privileges and voting powers that, taken as a whole, are not materially less favorable to the holders thereof than the rights, preferences, privileges and voting powers, taken as a whole, of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock immediately prior to the consummation of such transaction (any such preferred stock being referred to herein as qualifying preferred stock),

provided, however, that (1) any increase in the amount of CCR s authorized but unissued shares of CCR s preferred stock, (2) any increase in the amount of our authorized CCR Convertible Preferred Stock or the issuance of any additional shares of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock, (3) the authorization or creation of any class or series of parity or junior stock, any increase in the amount of authorized but unissued shares of such class or series of parity or junior stock or the issuance of additional shares of such class or series of parity or junior stock or (4) the adoption or inclusion (by amendment, alteration, share exchange, reclassification, merger, consolidation or similar means) of charter provisions (whether in the CCR Charter or a successor entity certificate of incorporation or other equivalent governing document) applicable to capital stock (including CCR Convertible Preferred Stock or any successor

preferred stock) relating to the ownership limitations and transfer restrictions that are customary, in the sole determination of our board of directors, for the protection of our or any successor entity s status as a REIT and a domestically controlled qualified investment entity for tax purposes will be deemed not to adversely affect (or to otherwise cause to be materially less favorable) the rights, preferences, privileges or voting powers of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock and shall not require the affirmative vote of holders of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock.

If any amendment, alteration, repeal, share exchange, reclassification, merger or consolidation described above would adversely affect one or more but not all series of voting preferred stock, then only the series of voting preferred stock adversely affected and entitled to vote shall vote as a class in lieu of all other series of voting preferred stock.

Mandatory Conversion

Each share of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock, unless previously converted, will automatically convert on November 1, 2016 (the mandatory conversion date), into a number of shares of our common stock equal to the conversion rate described below. If we declare a dividend for the dividend period ending on the mandatory conversion date, we will pay such dividend to the holders of record as of the immediately preceding record date, as described above under Dividends . If on or prior to the mandatory conversion date we have not declared all or any portion of the accumulated dividends on the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock, the conversion rate will be adjusted so that holders receive an additional number of shares of our common stock equal to the amount of such undeclared, accumulated and unpaid dividends (the additional conversion amount) divided by the greater of the floor price and 97% of the average price. To the extent that the additional conversion amount exceeds the product of the number of additional shares and 97% of the average price, we will, if we are legally able to do so, declare and pay such excess amount in cash pro rata to the holders of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock.

The conversion rate, which is the number of shares of our common stock issuable upon conversion of each share of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock on the mandatory conversion date, will, subject to adjustment as described in Anti-dilution Adjustments below, be as follows:

if the applicable market value of our common stock is greater than \$91.23 (the threshold appreciation price), then the conversion rate will be 1.0962 shares of our common stock per share of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock (the minimum conversion rate), which is approximately equal to \$100.00 divided by the threshold appreciation price;

if the applicable market value of our common stock is less than or equal to the threshold appreciation price but greater than or equal to \$72.98 (the initial price), then the conversion rate will be equal to \$100.00 divided by the applicable market value of our common stock, which will be between 1.0962 and 1.3701 shares of our common stock per share of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock; or

if the applicable market value of our common stock is less than the initial price, then the conversion rate will be 1.3701 shares of our common stock per share of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock (the maximum conversion rate), which is approximately equal to \$100.00 divided by the initial price.

We refer to the minimum conversion rate and the maximum conversion rate collectively as the fixed conversion rates. The fixed conversion rates, the initial price, the threshold appreciation price and the applicable market value are each subject to adjustment as described in Anti-dilution Adjustments below, including anti-dilution adjustments between the date of this proxy statement/prospectus and the date of the merger, which we expect to be completed no later than December 31, 2014.

Hypothetical conversion values upon mandatory conversion

For illustrative purposes only, the following table shows the number of shares of our common stock that a holder of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock would receive upon mandatory conversion of one share of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock at various applicable market values for our common stock. The table assumes that there will be no conversion adjustments, prior to the date of the merger or otherwise, as described below in Anti-dilution Adjustments and that dividends on the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock will be paid in cash and not in additional shares of our common stock. The actual applicable market value of our common stock may differ from those set forth in the table below. Given an initial price of \$72.98 and a threshold appreciation price of \$91.23, a holder of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock would receive on the mandatory conversion date the number of shares of our common stock per share of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock set forth below:

Applicable market value of our common stock	Number of shares of our common stock to be received upon mandatory conversion	Conversion value (applicable market value multiplied by the number of shares of our common stock to be received upon mandatory conversion)
\$50.00	1.3701	\$68.51
\$60.00	1.3701	\$82.21
\$70.00	1.3701	\$95.91
\$72.98	1.3701	\$100.00
\$80.00	1.2500	\$100.00
\$85.00	1.1765	\$100.00
\$90.00	1.1111	\$100.00
\$91.23	1.0962	\$100.00
\$100.00	1.0962	\$109.62
\$120.00	1.0962	\$131.54
\$140.00	1.0962	\$153.47

Accordingly, if the applicable market value of our common stock is greater than the threshold appreciation price, the aggregate market value of our common stock delivered upon conversion of each share of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock will be greater than the \$100.00 liquidation preference of a share of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock, assuming that the market price of our common stock on the mandatory conversion date is the same as the applicable market value of our common stock is equal to or greater than the initial price and equal to or less than the threshold appreciation price, the aggregate market value of our common stock delivered upon conversion of each share of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock will be equal to the \$100.00 liquidation preference of a share of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock, assuming that the market price of our common stock on the mandatory conversion date is the same as the applicable market value of our common stock. If the applicable market value of our common stock delivered upon conversion of each share of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock will be less than the \$100.00 liquidation preference of a share of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock, assuming that the market price of our common stock on the mandatory conversion date is the same as the applicable market value of our common stock on the mandatory conversion date is the same as the applicable market value of our common stock.

Definitions

Applicable market value means the average VWAP per share of our common stock over the 20 consecutive trading day period (the settlement period) beginning on and including the 22nd scheduled trading day immediately preceding the mandatory conversion date.

The threshold appreciation price represents a 25% appreciation over the initial price.

94

A trading day is a day on which our common stock:

is not suspended from trading, and on which trading in our common stock is not limited, on any national or regional securities exchange or association or over-the-counter market during any period or periods aggregating one half-hour or longer; and

has traded at least once on the national or regional securities exchange or association or over-the-counter market that is the primary market for the trading of our common stock; provided that if our common stock is not traded on any such exchange, association or market, trading day means any business day.

A scheduled trading day is any day that is scheduled to be a trading day.

VWAP per share of our common stock on any trading day means the per share volume-weighted average price as displayed on Bloomberg page CCI <EQUITY>AQR (or its equivalent successor if such page is not available) in respect of the period from 9:30 a.m. to 4:00 p.m., New York City time, on such trading day; or, if such price is not available, VWAP means the market value per share of our common stock on such trading day as determined, using a volume-weighted average method, by a nationally recognized independent investment banking firm retained by us for this purpose. The average VWAP means the average of the VWAPs for each trading day in the relevant period.

Conversion at the Option of the Holder

Other than during a fundamental change conversion period (as defined below in Conversion at the Option of the Holder upon Fundamental Change; Fundamental Change Dividend Make-whole Amount), holders of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock have the right to convert their CCR Convertible Preferred Stock, in whole or in part (but in no event less than one share of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock), at any time prior to the mandatory conversion date, into shares of our common stock at the minimum conversion rate of 1.0962 shares of our common stock per share of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock, subject to adjustment as described in Anti-dilution Adjustments below, including anti-dilution adjustments between the date of this proxy statement/prospectus and the date of the merger, which we expect to be completed no later than December 31, 2014.

If, as of the effective date of any early conversion (the early conversion date), we have not declared all or any portion of the accumulated dividends for all dividend periods ending on a dividend payment date prior to such early conversion date, the conversion rate for such early conversion will be adjusted so that holders converting their CCR Convertible Preferred Stock at such time receive an additional number of shares of our common stock equal to such amount of undeclared, accumulated and unpaid dividends for such prior dividend periods, divided by the greater of the floor price and the average VWAP per share of our common stock over the 20 consecutive trading day period (the early conversion settlement period) commencing on and including the 22nd scheduled trading day immediately preceding the early conversion date (the early conversion average price). Notwithstanding the last sentence under

Method of Payment of Dividends above, to the extent that the cash amount of the undeclared, accumulated and unpaid dividends for all dividend periods ending on a dividend payment date prior to the relevant early conversion date exceeds the value of the product of the number of additional shares added to the conversion rate and the early conversion average price, we will not have any obligation to pay the shortfall in cash.

Except as described above, upon any optional conversion of any CCR Convertible Preferred Stock, we will make no payment or allowance for unpaid dividends on such shares of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock, unless such early conversion date occurs after the record date for a declared dividend and on or prior to the immediately succeeding dividend payment date, in which case such dividend will be paid on such dividend payment date to the holder of record of the converted shares of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock as of such record date, as described in the section above entitled Dividends .

Conversion at the Option of the Holder upon Fundamental Change; Fundamental Change Dividend Make-whole Amount

General

If a fundamental change (as defined below) occurs on or prior to the mandatory conversion date, holders of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock will have the right to:

- (i) convert their CCR Convertible Preferred Stock, in whole or in part (but in no event less than one share of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock), into common stock at the fundamental change conversion rate described below;
- (ii) with respect to such converted shares, receive a fundamental change dividend make-whole amount (as defined below) payable in cash or shares of our common stock; and
- (iii) with respect to such converted shares, receive the accumulated dividend amount (as defined below) payable in cash or shares of our common stock,

subject in the case of clauses (ii) and (iii) to certain limitations with respect to the number of shares of our common stock that we will be required to deliver, all as described below. Notwithstanding clauses (ii) and (iii) above, if the effective date of a fundamental change falls during a dividend period for which we have declared a dividend, we will pay such dividend on the relevant dividend payment date to the holders of record on the immediately preceding record date, as described in Dividends , and the accumulated dividend amount will not include the amount of such dividend, and the fundamental change dividend make-whole amount will not include the present value of such dividend.

To exercise this right, holders must submit their CCR Convertible Preferred Stock for conversion at any time during the period (the fundamental change conversion period) beginning on the effective date of such fundamental change (as defined below) and ending at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the date that is 20 calendar days after the effective date (or, if earlier, the mandatory conversion date) at the conversion rate specified in the table below (the fundamental change conversion rate). Holders of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock who do not submit their shares for conversion during the fundamental change conversion period will not be entitled to convert their CCR Convertible Preferred Stock at the relevant fundamental change conversion rate or to receive the relevant fundamental change dividend make-whole amount or the relevant accumulated dividend amount.

We will notify holders of the anticipated effective date of a fundamental change at least 20 calendar days prior to such anticipated effective date or, if such prior notice is not practicable, notify holders of the effective date of a fundamental change no later than the second business day immediately following the actual effective date. If we notify holders of a fundamental change later than the 20th calendar day prior to the effective date of a fundamental change, the fundamental change conversion period will be extended by a number of days equal to the number of days from, and including, the 20th calendar day prior to the effective date of the fundamental change to, but excluding, the date of the notice; provided that the fundamental change conversion period will not be extended beyond the mandatory conversion date.

A fundamental change will be deemed to have occurred, at such time after the date that is 20 calendar days prior to the date of the merger, upon (other than as a result of the merger): (i) the consummation of any transaction or event

(whether by means of an exchange offer, liquidation, tender offer, consolidation, merger, combination, recapitalization or otherwise) in connection with which 90% or more of our common stock is exchanged for, converted into, acquired for or constitutes solely the right to receive, consideration 10% or more of which is not common stock that is listed on, or immediately after the transaction or event will be listed on, any of the NYSE, the NASDAQ Global Select Market or the NASDAQ Global Market; (ii) any person or group (as such terms are used for purposes of Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act, whether or not applicable),

96

other than us, any of our majority-owned subsidiaries or any of our or our majority-owned subsidiaries employee benefit plans, becoming the beneficial owner (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of more than 50% of the total voting power in the aggregate of all classes of capital stock then outstanding entitled to vote generally in elections of our directors; or (iii) our common stock (or, following a reorganization event, any common stock, depositary receipts or other securities representing common equity interests into which the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock becomes convertible in connection with such reorganization event) ceases to be listed for trading on the NYSE, the NASDAQ Global Select Market or the NASDAQ Global Market (or any of their respective successors) or another United States national securities exchange (each, a qualifying market).

Fundamental change conversion rate

The fundamental change conversion rate will be determined by reference to the table below and is based on the effective date of the fundamental change (the effective date) and the price (the share price) paid or deemed paid per share of our common stock therein. If the holders of our common stock receive only cash in the fundamental change, the share price shall be the cash amount paid per share. Otherwise, the share price shall be the average VWAP per share of our common stock over the 10 consecutive trading day period ending on the trading day preceding the effective date.

The share prices set forth in the first row of the table (i.e., the column headers) will be adjusted as of any date on which the fixed conversion rates of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock are adjusted. The adjusted share prices will equal the share prices applicable immediately prior to such adjustment multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the minimum conversion rate immediately prior to the adjustment giving rise to the share price adjustment and the denominator of which is the minimum conversion rate as so adjusted. Each of the fundamental change conversion rates in the table will be subject to adjustment in the same manner as each fixed conversion rate as set forth in Anti-dilution Adjustments below, including anti-dilution adjustments between the date of this proxy statement/prospectus and the date of the merger, which we expect to be completed no later than December 31, 2014.

The following table sets forth the fundamental change conversion rate per share of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock for each share price and effective date set forth below.

					Share price on effective date						
Effective date	\$14.79	\$29.59	\$44.38	\$59.18	\$72.98	\$81.86	\$91.23	\$98.63	\$108.49	\$118.35	\$138.08
November 1,											
2014	1.3633	1.3630	1.3508	1.3004	1.2302	1.1884	1.1537	1.1336	1.1153	1.1043	1.0946
November 1,											
2015	1.3667	1.3667	1.3651	1.3372	1.2602	1.2027	1.1541	1.1283	1.1085	1.0994	1.0942
November 1,											
2016	1.3701	1.3701	1.3701	1.3701	1.3701	1.2216	1.0962	1.0962	1.0962	1.0962	1.0962
The exact share price and effective date may not be set forth in the table, in which case:											

if the share price is between two share price amounts on the table or the effective date is between two dates on the table, the fundamental change conversion rate will be determined by straight-line interpolation between the fundamental change conversion rates set forth for the higher and lower share price amounts and the two dates, as applicable, based on a 365-day year;

if the share price is in excess of \$216.98 per share (subject to adjustment as described above), then the fundamental change conversion rate will be the minimum conversion rate, subject to adjustment; and

if the share price is less than \$14.79 per share (subject to adjustment as described above), then the fundamental change conversion rate will be the maximum conversion rate, subject to adjustment.

97

Fundamental change dividend make-whole amount and accumulated dividend amount

For any shares of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock converted by holders of CCR Convertible Preferred Stock during the fundamental change conversion period, in addition to the common stock issued upon conversion at the fundamental change conversion rate, we will at our option:

- (a) pay to such holders in cash, to the extent we are legally permitted to do so, the present value, computed using a discount rate of 4.50% per annum, of all dividend payments on the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock for all the remaining dividend periods (excluding any accumulated dividend amount) from such effective date to but excluding the mandatory conversion date (the fundamental change dividend make-whole amount),
- (b) increase the number of shares of our common stock to be issued on conversion by a number equal to (x) the fundamental change dividend make-whole amount divided by (y) the greater of the floor price and 97% of the share price, or
- (c) pay the fundamental change dividend make-whole amount in a combination of cash and shares of our common stock in accordance with the provisions of clauses (a) and (b) above.

In addition, to the extent that the accumulated dividend amount exists as of the effective date of the fundamental change, holders who convert their CCR Convertible Preferred Stock within the fundamental change conversion period will be entitled to receive such accumulated dividend amount upon conversion. As used herein, the term accumulated dividend amount means, in connection with a fundamental change, the aggregate amount of undeclared, accumulated and unpaid dividends, if any, for dividend periods prior to the effective date for the relevant fundamental change, including for the partial dividend period, if any, from, and including, the dividend payment date immediately preceding such effective date to, but excluding, such effective date. The accumulated dividend amount will be payable at our election:

in cash, to the extent we are legally permitted to do so,

in an additional number of shares of our common stock equal to (x) the accumulated dividend amount divided by (y) the greater of the floor price and 97% of the share price, or

in a combination of cash and shares of our common stock in accordance with the provisions of the preceding two bullets.

We will pay the fundamental change dividend make-whole amount and the accumulated dividend amount in cash, except to the extent we elect on or prior to the second business day following the effective date of a fundamental change to make all or any portion of such payments in our common stock. In addition, if we elect to deliver common stock in respect of all or any portion of the fundamental change dividend make-whole amount or the accumulated dividend amount, to the extent that the fundamental change dividend make-whole amount or the accumulated dividend amount or the dollar amount of any portion thereof paid in common stock exceeds the product of the number

of additional shares we deliver in respect thereof and 97% of the share price, we will, if we are legally able to do so, pay such excess amount in cash. Any such payment in cash may not be permitted by our then existing debt instruments, including any restricted payments covenants.

No fractional shares of our common stock will be delivered to converting holders of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock in respect of the fundamental change dividend make-whole amount or the accumulated dividend amount. We will instead pay a cash adjustment to each converting holder that would otherwise be entitled to a fraction of a share of our common stock based on the average VWAP per share of our common stock over the five consecutive trading day period beginning on and including the seventh scheduled trading day immediately preceding the conversion date.

Not later than the second business day following the effective date of a fundamental change (or, if we provide notice to holders of the fundamental change prior to the anticipated effective date of a fundamental change as described above, on the date we give holders notice of the anticipated effective date of a fundamental change), we will notify holders of:

the fundamental change conversion rate;

98

the fundamental change dividend make-whole amount and whether we will pay such amount in cash, shares of our common stock or a combination thereof, specifying the combination, if applicable; and

the accumulated dividend amount as of the effective date of the fundamental change and whether we will pay such amount in cash, shares of our common stock or a combination thereof, specifying the combination, if applicable.

Our obligation to adjust the conversion rate in connection with a fundamental change and pay the fundamental change dividend make-whole amount (whether in cash, our common stock or any combination thereof) could possibly be considered a penalty under state law, in which case the enforceability thereof would be subject to general principles of reasonableness of economic remedies.

Conversion Procedures

Upon mandatory conversion

Any outstanding shares of CCR Convertible Preferred Stock will automatically convert into common stock on the mandatory conversion date. The person or persons entitled to receive the shares of our common stock issuable upon mandatory conversion of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock will be treated as the record holder(s) of such shares as of 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the mandatory conversion date. Except as provided in Anti-dilution Adjustments , prior to 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the mandatory conversion date, the common stock issuable upon conversion of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock will not be outstanding for any purpose and holders of CCR Convertible Preferred Stock will have no rights with respect to such common stock, including voting rights, rights to respond to tender offers and rights to receive any dividends or other distributions on the common stock, by virtue of holding the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock. A certificate representing the shares of common stock issuable upon conversion will be issued and delivered to the converting holder or, if the shares of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock being converted are in global form, the shares of common stock issuable upon conversion will be delivered to the converting holder through the facilities of The Depository Trust Company (DTC), in each case together with delivery by CCR to the converting holder of any cash to which the converting holder is entitled, on the later of (i) the third business day immediately succeeding the mandatory conversion date and (ii) the third business day immediately succeeding the last day of the settlement period.

Upon early conversion

If a holder elects to convert the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock prior to the mandatory conversion date, in the manner described in Conversion at the Option of the Holder or Conversion at the Option of the Holder upon Fundamental Change; Fundamental Change Dividend Make-whole Amount , such holder must observe the following conversion procedures:

If shares of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock are in global form, to convert the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock a holder must deliver to DTC the appropriate instruction form for conversion pursuant to DTC s conversion program. If shares of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock are held in certificated form, such holder must comply with certain procedures set forth in the CCR Certificate of Designations. In either case, if required, such holder must pay all taxes or duties, if any.

The conversion date will be the date on which a holder has satisfied the foregoing requirements. Such holder will not be required to pay any taxes or duties relating to the issuance or delivery of our common stock if such holder exercises its conversion rights, but such holder will be required to pay any tax or duty that may be payable relating to any

transfer involved in the issuance or delivery of the common stock in a name other than such holder s own. Common stock will be issued and delivered only after all applicable taxes and duties, if any, payable by such holder have been paid in full and will be issued on the latest of (i) the third business day immediately succeeding the conversion date, (ii) the third business day immediately succeeding the last day of the early conversion settlement period and (iii) the business day after such holder has paid in full all applicable taxes and duties, if any.

99

The person or persons entitled to receive the common stock issuable upon conversion of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock will be treated as the record holder(s) of such shares as of 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the applicable conversion date. Prior to 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the applicable conversion date, the common stock issuable upon conversion of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock will not be outstanding for any purpose and holders of CCR Convertible Preferred Stock will have no rights with respect to such common stock, including voting rights, rights to respond to tender offers and rights to receive any dividends or other distributions on the common stock, by virtue of holding the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock.

Fractional shares

No fractional shares of our common stock will be issued to holders of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock upon conversion. In lieu of any fractional shares of our common stock otherwise issuable in respect of the aggregate number of shares of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock of any holder that are converted, that holder will be entitled to receive an amount in cash (computed to the nearest cent) equal to the product of: (i) that same fraction and (ii) the average VWAP of our common stock over the five consecutive trading day period beginning on and including the seventh scheduled trading day immediately preceding the conversion date.

If more than one share of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock is surrendered for conversion at one time by or for the same holder, the number of full shares of our common stock issuable upon conversion thereof shall be computed on the basis of the aggregate number of shares of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock so surrendered.

Anti-dilution Adjustments

Each fixed conversion rate will be adjusted if:

(1) We issue shares of common stock to all holders of our common stock as a dividend or other distribution, in which event, each fixed conversion rate in effect at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the date fixed for determination of the holders of our common stock entitled to receive such dividend or other distribution will be divided by a fraction:

the numerator of which is the number of shares of our common stock outstanding at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the date fixed for such determination; and

the denominator of which is the sum of the number of shares of our common stock outstanding at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the date fixed for such determination and the total number of shares of our common stock constituting such dividend or other distribution.

Any adjustment made pursuant to this clause (1) will become effective immediately after 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the date fixed for such determination. If any dividend or distribution described in this clause (1) is declared but not so paid or made, each fixed conversion rate shall be readjusted, effective as of the date our board of directors, or an authorized committee thereof, publicly announces its decision not to pay or make such dividend or distribution, to such fixed conversion rate that would be in effect if such dividend or distribution had not been declared. For the purpose of this clause (1), the number of shares of our common stock outstanding at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the date fixed for such determination shall not include shares that we hold in treasury but shall include any shares issuable in respect of any scrip certificates issued in lieu of fractions of shares of our common stock. We will not pay

any dividend or make any distribution on shares of our common stock that we hold in treasury.

(2) We issue to all holders of shares of our common stock rights or warrants (other than rights or warrants issued pursuant to a dividend reinvestment plan or share purchase plan or other similar plans) entitling them, for a period of up to 45 calendar days from the date of issuance of such rights or warrants, to subscribe for or purchase our common stock at less than the current market price (as defined below) of shares of our common stock, in which case each fixed conversion rate in effect at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the date fixed for determination of the holders of our common stock entitled to receive such rights or warrants will be increased by multiplying such fixed conversion rate by a fraction:

100

the numerator of which is the sum of the number of shares of our common stock outstanding at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the date fixed for such determination and the number of shares of our common stock issuable pursuant to such rights or warrants; and

the denominator of which is the sum of the number of shares of our common stock outstanding at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the date fixed for such determination and the number of shares of our common stock equal to the quotient of the aggregate offering price payable to exercise such rights or warrants divided by the current market price of our common stock.

Any adjustment made pursuant to this clause (2) will become effective immediately after 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the date fixed for such determination. In the event that such rights or warrants described in this clause (2) are not so issued, each fixed conversion rate shall be readjusted, effective as of the date our board of directors, or an authorized committee thereof, publicly announces its decision not to issue such rights or warrants, to such fixed conversion rate that would then be in effect if such issuance had not been declared. To the extent that such rights or warrants are not exercised prior to their expiration or our common stock is otherwise not delivered pursuant to such rights or warrants upon the exercise of such rights or warrants, each fixed conversion rate shall be readjusted to such fixed conversion rate that would then be in effect had the adjustment made upon the issuance of such rights or warrants been made on the basis of the delivery of only the number of shares of our common stock actually delivered. In determining whether any rights or warrants entitle the holders thereof to subscribe for or purchase common stock at less than the current market price, and in determining the aggregate offering price payable to exercise such rights or warrants, there shall be taken into account any consideration received for such rights or warrants and the value of such consideration (if other than cash, to be determined in good faith by our board of directors, or an authorized committee thereof, which determination shall be final). For the purpose of this clause (2), the number of shares of our common stock at the time outstanding shall not include shares that we hold in treasury but shall include any shares issuable in respect of any scrip certificates issued in lieu of fractions of shares of our common stock. We will not issue any such rights or warrants in respect of shares of our common stock that we hold in treasury.

(3) We subdivide or combine our common stock, in which event the conversion rate in effect at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the effective date of such subdivision or combination shall be multiplied by a fraction:

the numerator of which is the number of shares of our common stock that would be outstanding immediately after, and solely as a result of, such subdivision or combination; and

the denominator of which is the number of shares of our common stock outstanding immediately prior to such subdivision or combination.

Any adjustment made pursuant to this clause (3) shall become effective immediately after 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the effective date of such subdivision or combination.

(4) We distribute to all holders of our common stock evidences of our indebtedness, shares of our capital stock, securities, rights to acquire shares of our capital stock, cash or other assets, excluding:

any dividend or distribution covered by clause (1) above;

any rights or warrants covered by clause (2) above;

any dividend or distribution covered by clause (5) below; and

any spin-off to which the provisions set forth below in this clause (4) shall apply, in which event each fixed conversion rate in effect at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the date fixed for the determination of holders of our common stock entitled to receive such distribution will be multiplied by a fraction:

101

the numerator of which is the current market price of our common stock; and

the denominator of which is the current market price of our common stock minus the fair market value, as determined by our board of directors, or an authorized committee thereof, in good faith (which determination shall be final), on such date fixed for determination of the portion of the evidences of indebtedness, shares of our capital stock, securities, rights to acquire shares of our capital stock, cash or other assets so distributed applicable to one share of our common stock.

In the event that we make a distribution to all holders of our common stock consisting of capital stock of, or similar equity interests in, or relating to a subsidiary or other business unit of ours (herein referred to as a spin-off), each fixed conversion rate in effect at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the date fixed for the determination of holders of our common stock entitled to receive such distribution will be multiplied by a fraction:

the numerator of which is the sum of the current market price of our common stock and the fair market value, as determined by our board of directors, or an authorized committee thereof, in good faith (which determination shall be final), of the portion of those shares of capital stock or similar equity interests so distributed applicable to one share of our common stock as of the 15th trading day after the effective date for such distribution (or, if such shares of capital stock or equity interests are listed on a U.S. national or regional securities exchange, the current market price of such securities); and

the denominator of which is the current market price of our common stock.

Any adjustment made pursuant to this clause (4) shall become effective immediately after 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the date fixed for the determination of the holders of our common stock entitled to receive such distribution. In the event that such distribution described in this clause (4) is not so made, each fixed conversion rate shall be readjusted, effective as of the date our board of directors, or an authorized committee thereof, publicly announces its decision not to make such distribution, to such fixed conversion rate that would then be in effect if such distribution had not been declared. If an adjustment to each fixed conversion rate is required under this clause (4) during any settlement period or any early conversion settlement period in respect of shares of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock that have been tendered for conversion, delivery of the common stock issuable upon conversion will be delayed to the extent necessary in order to complete the calculations provided for in this clause (4).

(5) We pay or make a dividend or other distribution consisting exclusively of cash to all holders of our common stock, excluding:

any cash that is distributed in a reorganization event (as described below);

any dividend or other distribution in connection with our voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up; and

any consideration payable as part of a tender or exchange offer;

in which event, each fixed conversion rate in effect at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the date fixed for determination of the holders of our common stock entitled to receive such dividend or other distribution will be multiplied by a fraction:

the numerator of which is the current market price of our common stock; and

the denominator of which is the current market price of our common stock minus the amount per share of such dividend or other distribution.

Any adjustment made pursuant to this clause (5) shall become effective immediately after 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the date fixed for the determination of the holders of our common stock entitled to receive such dividend or other distribution. In the event that any dividend or other distribution described in this clause (5) is not so paid or so made, each fixed conversion rate shall be readjusted, effective as of the date our board of directors, or an authorized committee thereof, publicly announces its decision not to pay

102

such dividend or make such other distribution, to such fixed conversion rate which would then be in effect if such dividend or other distribution had not been declared.

(6) We or any of our subsidiaries successfully complete a tender or exchange offer pursuant to a Schedule TO or registration statement on Form S-4 for our common stock (excluding any securities convertible or exchangeable for our common stock), where the cash and the value of any other consideration included in the payment per share of our common stock exceeds the current market price of our common stock, in which event each fixed conversion rate in effect at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the date of expiration of the tender or exchange offer (the expiration date) will be multiplied by a fraction:

the numerator of which shall be equal to the sum of:

- (i) the aggregate cash and fair market value (as determined in good faith by our board of directors, or an authorized committee thereof, which determination shall be final) on the expiration date of any other consideration paid or payable for shares purchased in such tender or exchange offer; and
- (ii) the product of:
 - 1. the current market price of our common stock; and
 - 2. the number of shares of our common stock outstanding at the time such tender or exchange offer expires, less any purchased shares; and

the denominator of which shall be equal to the product of:

- (i) the current market price of our common stock; and
- (ii) the number of shares of our common stock outstanding at the time such tender or exchange offer expires, including any purchased shares.

Any adjustment made pursuant to this clause (6) shall become effective immediately after 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the 10th trading day immediately following the expiration date but will be given effect as of the open of business on the expiration date for the tender or exchange offer. In the event that we are, or one of our subsidiaries is, obligated to purchase our common stock pursuant to any such tender offer or exchange offer, but we are, or such subsidiary is, permanently prevented by applicable law from effecting any such purchases, or all such purchases are rescinded, then each fixed conversation rate shall be readjusted to be such fixed conversion rate that would then be in effect if such tender offer or exchange offer had not been made. Except as set forth in the preceding sentence, if the application of this clause (6) to any tender offer or exchange offer would result in a decrease in each fixed conversation rate, no adjustment shall be made for such tender offer or exchange offer under this clause (6). If an

adjustment to each fixed conversion rate is required pursuant to this clause (6) during any settlement period or any early conversion settlement period in respect of shares of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock that have been tendered for conversion, delivery of the related conversion consideration will be delayed to the extent necessary in order to complete the calculations provided for in this clause (6).

Except with respect to a spin-off, in cases where the fair market value of the evidences of our indebtedness, shares of capital stock, securities, rights to acquire our capital stock, cash or other assets as to which clauses (4) or (5) above apply, applicable to one share of our common stock, distributed to stockholders equals or exceeds the current market price (as determined for purposes of calculating the conversion rate adjustment pursuant to such clause (4) or (5)), rather than being entitled to an adjustment in each fixed conversion rate, holders of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock will be entitled to receive upon conversion, in addition to a number of shares of our common stock otherwise deliverable on the applicable conversion date, the kind and amount of the evidences of our indebtedness, shares of capital stock, securities, rights to acquire our capital stock, cash or other assets comprising the distribution that such holder would have received if such holder had owned, immediately prior to the record date for determining the holders of our common stock entitled to receive the distribution, for each share of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock, a number of shares of our common stock equal to the maximum conversion rate in effect on the date of such distribution.

103

To the extent that we have a rights plan in effect with respect to our common stock on any conversion date, upon conversion of any CCR Convertible Preferred Stock, a holder will receive, in addition to common stock, the rights under the rights plan, unless, prior to such conversion date, the rights have separated from our common stock, in which case each fixed conversion rate will be adjusted at the time of separation as if we made a distribution to all holders of our common stock as described in clause (4) above, subject to readjustment in the event of the expiration, termination or redemption of such rights. Any distribution of rights or warrants pursuant to a rights plan that would allow a holder to receive upon conversion, in addition to any common stock, the rights described therein (unless such rights or warrants have separated from our common stock) shall not constitute a distribution of rights or warrants that would entitle such holder to an adjustment to the conversion rate.

For the purposes of determining the adjustment to the fixed conversion rate for the purposes of:

clauses (2), (4) but only in the event of an adjustment thereunder not relating to a spin-off and (5) above, the current market price of our common stock is the average VWAP per share of our common stock over the five consecutive trading day period ending on the trading day before the ex-date (as defined below) with respect to the issuance or distribution requiring such computation;

clause (4) above in the event of an adjustment thereunder relating to a spin-off, the current market price of our common stock and the capital stock or equity interests of the subsidiary or other business unit being distributed, as applicable, is the average VWAP per share over the first 10 consecutive trading days commencing on and including the fifth trading day following the effective date of such distribution; and

clause (6) above, the current market price of our common stock is the average VWAP per share of our common stock over the 10 consecutive trading day period commencing on, and including, the trading day next succeeding the expiration date of the tender or exchange offer.

The term ex-date, when used with respect to any issuance or distribution, means the first date on which shares of our common stock trade without the right to receive such issuance or distribution.

In addition, we may make such increases in each fixed conversion rate as we deem advisable in order to avoid or diminish any income tax to holders of our common stock resulting from any dividend or distribution of shares of our common stock (or issuance of rights or warrants to acquire shares of our common stock) or from any event treated as such for income tax purposes or for any other reason. We may only make such a discretionary adjustment if we make the same proportionate adjustment to each fixed conversion rate.

In the event of a taxable distribution to holders of our common stock that results in an adjustment of each fixed conversion rate or an increase in each fixed conversion rate in our discretion, holders of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock may, in certain circumstances, be deemed to have received a distribution subject to U.S. federal income tax as a dividend. See Material United States Federal Income Tax Considerations .

Adjustments to the fixed conversion rates will be calculated to the nearest 1/10,000th of a share of our common stock. Prior to the mandatory conversion date, no adjustment in a fixed conversion rate will be required unless the adjustment would require an increase or decrease of at least one percent in such fixed conversion rate. If any adjustment is not required to be made because it would not change the fixed conversion rates by at least one percent, then the adjustment will be carried forward and taken into account in any subsequent adjustment; provided, however,

that on the earlier of the mandatory conversion date, an early conversion date and the effective date of a fundamental change, adjustments to the fixed conversion rates will be made with respect to any such adjustment carried forward that has not been taken into account before such date.

No adjustment to the fixed conversion rates will be made if holders may participate, at the same time, upon the same terms and otherwise on the same basis as holders of our common stock and solely as a result of holding CCR Convertible Preferred Stock, in the transaction that would otherwise give rise to such adjustment as if they held, for each share of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock, a number of shares of our common stock equal to the maximum conversion rate then in effect.

104

The fixed conversion rates will not be adjusted:

- (a) upon the issuance of any shares of our common stock pursuant to any present or future plan providing for the reinvestment of dividends or interest payable on our securities and the investment of additional optional amounts in common stock under any plan;
- (b) upon the issuance of any shares of our common stock or rights or warrants to purchase those shares pursuant to any present or future benefit or other incentive plan or program of or assumed by us or any of our subsidiaries;
- (c) upon the issuance of any shares of our common stock pursuant to any option, warrant, right or exercisable, exchangeable or convertible security outstanding as of October 28, 2013 (or that was issued in the merger in respect of such option, warrant, right or security);
- (d) for a change in the par value of our common stock;
- (e) for accumulated dividends on the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock, except as described above under Mandatory Conversion , Conversion at the Option of the Holder and Conversion at the Option of the Hold upon Fundamental Change; Fundamental Change Dividend Make-whole Amount ; or
- (f) as a result of the merger.

We will be required, within 10 business days after the fixed conversion rates are adjusted, to provide or cause to be provided written notice of the adjustment to the holders of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock. We will also be required to deliver a statement setting forth in reasonable detail the method by which the adjustment to each fixed conversion rate was determined and setting forth each revised fixed conversion rate.

If an adjustment is made to the fixed conversion rates, (x) an inversely proportional adjustment also will be made to the threshold appreciation price and the initial price solely for the purposes of determining which clause of the definition of the conversion rate will apply on the mandatory conversion date and (y) an inversely proportional adjustment will also be made to the floor price. Whenever the terms of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock require us to calculate the VWAP per share of our common stock over a span of multiple days, our board of directors or an authorized committee thereof will make appropriate adjustments (including, without limitation, to the applicable market value, the early conversion average price, the current market price and the average price (as the case may be) to account for any adjustments to the initial price, the threshold appreciation price, the floor price and the fixed conversion rates (as the case may be) that become effective, or any event that would require such an adjustment if the ex-date, effective date or expiration date (as the case may be) of such event occurs, during the relevant period used to calculate such prices or values (as the case may be).

If:

the record date for a dividend or distribution on shares of our common stock occurs after the end of the 20 consecutive trading day period used for calculating the applicable market value and before the mandatory conversion date; and

that dividend or distribution would have resulted in an adjustment of the number of shares issuable to the holders of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock had such record date occurred on or before the last trading day of such 20-trading day period,

then we will deem the holders of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock to be holders of record of our common stock for purposes of that dividend or distribution. In this case, the holders of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock would receive the dividend or distribution on our common stock together with the number of shares of our common stock issuable upon mandatory conversion of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock.

105

Recapitalizations, Reclassifications and Changes of Our Common Stock

In the event of:

any consolidation or merger of us with or into another person (other than the merger or a merger or consolidation in which we are the surviving corporation and in which the shares of our common stock outstanding immediately prior to such merger or consolidation are not exchanged for cash, securities or other property of us or another person);

any sale, transfer, lease or conveyance to another person of all or substantially all of our property and assets;

any reclassification of our common stock into securities, including securities other than our common stock; or

any statutory exchange of our securities with another person (other than in connection with a merger or acquisition),

in each case, as a result of which our common stock would be converted into, or exchanged for, securities, cash or property (each, a reorganization event), each share of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock outstanding immediately prior to such reorganization event shall, without the consent of the holders of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock, become convertible into the kind of securities, cash and other property that such holder would have been entitled to receive if such holder had converted its CCR Convertible Preferred Stock into common stock immediately prior to such reorganization event (such securities, cash and other property, the exchange property, with each unit of exchange property meaning the kind and amount of exchange property that a holder of one share of common stock is entitled to receive). For purposes of the foregoing, the type and amount of exchange property in the case of any reorganization event that causes our common stock to be converted into the right to receive more than a single type of consideration (determined based in part upon any form of stockholder election) will be deemed to be the weighted average of the types and amounts of consideration received by the holders of our common stock that affirmatively make such an election (or of all holders of our common stock if none makes an election). We will notify holders of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock of the weighted average as soon as practicable after such determination is made. The number of units of exchange property for each share of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock converted following the effective date of such reorganization event will be determined as if references to our common stock in the description of the conversion rate applicable upon mandatory conversion, conversion at the option of the holder and conversion at the option of the holder upon a fundamental change were to units of exchange property (without interest thereon and without any right to dividends or distributions thereon which have a record date prior to the date such CCR Convertible Preferred Stock is actually converted). For the purpose of determining which bullet of the definition of conversion rate will apply upon mandatory conversion, and for the purpose of calculating the conversion rate if the second bullet is applicable, the value of a unit of exchange property will be determined in good faith by our board of directors or an authorized committee thereof (which determination will be final), except that if a unit of exchange property includes common stock or ADRs that are traded on a U.S. national securities exchange, the value of such common stock or ADRs will be the average over the 20 consecutive trading day period used for calculating the applicable market value of the volume-weighted average prices for such common stock or ADRs, as displayed on the applicable Bloomberg screen (as determined in good faith by our board of directors or an authorized committee thereof (which determination will be final)); or, if such price is not available, the average market value per share of

such common stock or ADRs over such period as determined, using a volume-weighted average method, by a nationally recognized independent investment banking firm retained by us for this purpose. We (or any successor to us) will, as soon as reasonably practicable (but in any event within 20 calendar days) after the occurrence of any reorganization event provide written notice to the holders of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock of such occurrence and of the kind and amount of cash, securities or other property that constitute the exchange property. Failure to deliver such notice will not affect the operation of the provisions described in this section.

106

Reservation of Shares

We will at all times reserve and keep available out of the authorized and unissued common stock, solely for issuance upon conversion of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock, a number of shares of our common stock equal to the product of the maximum conversion rate then in effect and the number of shares of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock then outstanding.

Book-Entry, Delivery and Form

The CCR Convertible Preferred Stock will be issued in global form. DTC or its nominee will be the sole registered holder of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock. Ownership of beneficial interests in the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock in global form will be limited to persons who have accounts with DTC (participants) or persons who hold interests through such participants. Ownership of beneficial interests in the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock in global form will be shown on, and the transfer of that ownership will be effected only through, records maintained by DTC or its nominee (with respect to interests of participants) and the records of participants (with respect to interests of persons other than participants).

So long as DTC, or its nominee, is the registered owner or holder of a global certificate representing the shares of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock, DTC or such nominee, as the case may be, will be considered the sole holder of the shares of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock represented by such global certificate for all purposes under the CCR Certificate of Designations establishing the terms of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock. No beneficial owner of an interest in the shares of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock in global form will be able to transfer that interest except in accordance with the applicable procedures of DTC in addition to those provided for under the CCR Certificate of Designations establishing the terms of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock.

Payments of dividends on the global certificate representing the shares of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock will be made to DTC or its nominee, as the case may be, as the registered holder thereof. None of us, the transfer agent, registrar, conversion or dividend disbursing agent will have any responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records relating to or payments made on account of beneficial ownership interests in a global certificate representing the shares of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such beneficial ownership interests.

We expect that DTC or its nominee, upon receipt of any payment of dividends in respect of a global certificate representing the shares of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock, will credit participants—accounts with payments in amounts proportionate to their respective beneficial ownership interests in the aggregate liquidation preference of such global certificate representing the shares of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock as shown on the records of DTC or its nominee, as the case may be. We also expect that payments by participants to owners of beneficial interests in such global certificate representing the shares of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock held through such participants will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is now the case with securities held for the accounts of customers registered in the names of nominees for such customers. Such payments will be the responsibility of such participants.

Transfers between participants in DTC will be effected in the ordinary way in accordance with DTC rules and will be settled in same-day funds.

We understand that DTC is:

- a limited purpose trust company organized under the laws of the State of New York;
- a banking organization within the meaning of New York Banking Law;
- a member of the Federal Reserve System;
- a clearing corporation within the meaning of the Uniform Commercial Code; and
- a Clearing Agency registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Exchange Act.

107

DTC was created to hold securities for its participants and facilitate the clearance and settlement of securities transactions between participants through electronic book-entry changes in accounts of its participants, thereby eliminating the need for physical movement of certificates. Participants include:

securities brokers and dealers;

banks and trust companies; and

clearing corporations and certain other organizations.

Indirect access to the DTC system is available to others such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a participant, either directly or indirectly (indirect participants).

Although DTC is expected to follow the foregoing procedures in order to facilitate transfers of interests in a global security among its participants, it is under no obligation to perform or continue to perform such procedures, and such procedures may be discontinued at any time. None of us, the transfer agent, registrar, conversion or dividend disbursing agent will have any responsibility for the performance by DTC or its participants or indirect participants of their respective obligations under the rules and procedures governing their operations.

If DTC is at any time unwilling or unable to continue as a depositary for the shares of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock in global form or DTC ceases to be registered as a clearing agency under the Exchange Act, and in either case a successor depositary is not appointed by us within 90 days, we will issue certificated shares in exchange for the global securities.

The information in this section concerning DTC and its book-entry system has been obtained from sources that we believe to be reliable, but we take no responsibility for the accuracy thereof.

Ownership Limitations and Transfer Restrictions

To facilitate our continued qualification as a REIT under the Code, the CCR Charter contains ownership limitations and transfer restrictions on our capital stock. These ownership limitations and transfer restrictions could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a transaction or a change in control of CCR that might involve a premium price for CCR capital stock or otherwise be in the best interest of its stockholders. All certificates representing shares of capital stock, if any, will bear a legend describing or referring to such ownership limitations and transfer restrictions.

In order for us to continue to satisfy the requirements for REIT qualification, CCR capital stock must be beneficially owned by 100 or more persons during at least 335 days of a taxable year of 12 months or during a proportionate part of a shorter taxable year (other than the first year for which an election to be a REIT has been made). Also, not more than 50% of the value of the outstanding shares of CCR capital stock may be owned, directly or indirectly, by five or fewer individuals (as defined in the Code to include certain entities such as private foundations) during the last half of a taxable year (other than the first taxable year for which an election to be a REIT has been made). See the section entitled Material United States Federal Income Tax Considerations Taxation as a REIT . To satisfy these ownership requirements and other requirements for continued qualification as a REIT and to otherwise protect us from the consequences of a concentration of ownership among CCR s stockholders, the CCR Charter contains provisions

limiting the ownership and restricting the transfer of shares of CCR capital stock.

The relevant section of the CCR Charter provides that, among other things and subject to certain exceptions described below, no person (as defined in the CCR Charter) may beneficially or constructively own, or be deemed to beneficially or constructively own by virtue of the attribution provisions of the Code, more than 9.8%,

108

by value or number of shares, whichever is more restrictive, of the outstanding shares of CCR common stock (which restriction we refer to as the common stock ownership limit), or 9.8% in aggregate value of the outstanding shares of all classes and series of our capital stock, including CCR common stock and CCR Convertible Preferred Stock (which restriction we refer to as the aggregate stock ownership limit).

The applicable constructive ownership rules under the Code are complex and may cause capital stock owned actually or constructively by a group of related individuals or entities to be treated as owned by one individual or entity. As a result, the acquisition of less than 9.8% in value of CCR s outstanding capital stock or less than 9.8% in value or number of CCR s outstanding shares of common stock (including through the acquisition of an interest in an entity that owns, actually or constructively, CCR common stock) by an individual or entity could nevertheless cause that individual or entity, or another individual or entity, to own, constructively or beneficially, in excess of 9.8% in value of CCR s outstanding capital stock or 9.8% in value or number of CCR s outstanding shares of common stock. The number and value of CCR s outstanding shares of capital stock (or any class or series thereof) beneficially or constructively owned by any individual or entity shall be determined by the board of directors, whose determination shall be binding and conclusive.

The board of directors, in its sole discretion, may (prospectively or retroactively) exempt a person from the aggregate stock ownership limit and common stock ownership limit described above and may establish different limits on ownership for any such person (which we refer to as an excepted holder limit) and may (prospectively or retroactively) increase any excepted holder limit with respect to any person. However, the board of directors may not exempt any person or increase an excepted holder limit for any person whose ownership of outstanding capital stock would violate the other provisions on transferability and ownership set forth in the CCR Charter and described below. In order to be considered by the board of directors for an exemption from the aggregate stock ownership limit and common stock ownership limit or for an increase in an excepted holder limit, a person must make such representations and undertakings as the board of directors determines are reasonably necessary to determine that no person s beneficial or constructive ownership of CCR capital stock will violate the other provisions on transferability and ownership set forth in the CCR Charter and described below, and that such person does not and will not own, actually or constructively, an interest in a tenant of CCR that would cause CCR to own, actually or constructively, more than a 9.9% interest in such tenant. As a condition to such exemption or such increase in an excepted holder limit, the board of directors may require an opinion of counsel or IRS ruling satisfactory to the board of directors and may impose such other conditions or restrictions as it deems necessary, appropriate or desirable in connection with granting such exemption or such increase in an excepted holder limit.

The board of directors, in its sole discretion, may also increase or decrease the aggregate stock ownership limit and common stock ownership limit for all stockholders, provided that the new ownership limits would not allow five or fewer persons to beneficially own more than 49.9% of the value of the outstanding CCR capital stock. A reduced aggregate stock ownership limit and common stock ownership limit will not apply to any person whose percentage ownership of CCR capital stock or CCR common stock, as applicable, is in excess of such decreased ownership limit, until such time as such person s percentage ownership of CCR capital stock or CCR common stock, as applicable, equals or falls below such decreased ownership limit. However, until such time as such person s percentage ownership of CCR capital stock or CCR common stock, as applicable, falls below such decreased ownership limit any further acquisition of CCR capital stock or CCR common stock, as applicable, will be in violation of the decreased ownership limit.

The CCR Charter further prohibits:

any person from beneficially owning shares of CCR capital stock to the extent that such beneficial ownership would result in CCR being closely held within the meaning of Section 856(h) of the Code (without regard to whether the ownership interest is held during the last half of a taxable year);

any person from beneficially or constructively owning shares of CCR capital stock to the extent that such beneficial or constructive ownership would otherwise result in CCR failing to qualify as a REIT

109

(including, but not limited to, beneficial ownership or constructive ownership that would result in CCR actually owning or constructively owning an interest in a tenant that is described in Section 856(d)(2)(B) of the Code if the income derived by CCR from such tenant would cause CCR to fail to satisfy any of the gross income requirements of Section 856(c) of the Code);

any person from beneficially or constructively owning shares of CCR capital stock to the extent such beneficial or constructive ownership could result in CCR failing to qualify as a domestically controlled qualified investment entity within the meaning of Section 897(h)(4)(B) of the Code; and

any person from transferring shares of CCR capital stock if such transfer would result in shares of CCR capital stock being beneficially owned by fewer than 100 persons (determined under the principles of Section 856(a)(5) of the Code).

The foregoing provisions on transferability and ownership, including the aggregate stock ownership limit and common stock ownership limit, will not apply if the board of directors determines that it is no longer in our best interests to attempt to qualify, or to continue to qualify, as a REIT.

Any person who acquires or attempts or intends to acquire beneficial or constructive ownership of shares of CCR capital stock that will or may violate the aggregate stock ownership limit and common stock ownership limit or any of the other foregoing restrictions on transferability and ownership will be required to give written notice to us immediately (or, in the case of a proposed or attempted transaction, written notice at least 15 days prior to such transaction) and provide us with such other information as we may request in order to determine the effect, if any, of such transfer on our status as a REIT and to ensure compliance with the aggregate stock ownership limit and common stock ownership limit.

Pursuant to the CCR Charter, if there is any purported transfer of CCR capital stock or other event or change of circumstances that, if effective, would violate any of the restrictions described above, then the number of shares causing the violation (rounded up to the nearest whole share) will be automatically transferred to a trust for the exclusive benefit of a designated charitable beneficiary, except that any transfer that results in the violation of the restriction relating to CCR capital stock being beneficially owned by fewer than 100 persons will be automatically void and of no force or effect. The automatic transfer will be effective as of the close of business on the business day prior to the date of the purported transfer or other event or change of circumstances that requires the transfer to the trust. We refer below to the person that would have owned the shares if they had not been transferred to the trust as the purported transferee. No purported transferee shall acquire any rights in such shares and any dividend or other distribution paid to the purported transferee, prior to our discovery that the shares had been automatically transferred to a trust as described above, must be repaid to the trustee upon demand. If the transfer to the trust as described above is not automatically effective, for any reason, to prevent violation of the applicable restriction contained in the CCR Charter, then the transfer of the excess shares will be automatically void and of no force or effect.

Shares of CCR capital stock transferred to the trustee are deemed to be offered for sale to us or our designee at a price per share equal to the lesser of (i) the price per share paid by the purported transferee for the shares or, if the purported transferee did not give value for the shares in connection with the event causing the shares to be held in trust (e.g., in the case of a gift, devise or other such transaction), the market price on the day of such event and (ii) the market price of the shares on the date we accept, or our designee accepts, such offer. We have the right to accept such offer until the trustee has sold the shares of CCR capital stock held in the trust pursuant to the clauses discussed below. We may reduce the amount payable to the purported transferee by the amount of dividends or other distributions that we paid to the purported transferee prior to our discovery that the shares had been transferred to the trust and that is owed by

the purported transferee to the trustee as described above. We shall pay the amount of such reduction to the trustee for the benefit of the charitable beneficiary. Upon a sale to us, the interest of the charitable beneficiary in the shares sold terminates and the trustee must distribute the net proceeds of the sale to the purported transferee and any dividends or other distributions held by the trustee shall be paid to the charitable beneficiary.

110

If we do not buy the shares, the trustee must, within 20 days after receiving notice from us of the transfer of shares to the trust, sell the shares to a person or entity who could own the shares without violating the restrictions described above. Upon such a sale, the trustee must distribute to the purported transferee an amount equal to the lesser of (i) the price paid by the purported transferee for the shares or, if the purported transferee did not give value for the shares in connection with the event causing the shares to be held in trust (e.g., in the case of a gift, devise or other such transaction), the market price of the shares on the day of the event causing the shares to be held in the trust and (ii) the sales proceeds (net of commissions and other expenses of sale) received by the trustee for the shares. The trustee may reduce the amount payable to the purported transferee by the amount of any dividends or other distributions that we paid to the purported transferee before our discovery that the shares had been transferred to the trust and that is owed by the purported transferee to the trustee as described above. Any net sales proceeds in excess of the amount payable to the purported transferee will be immediately paid to the charitable beneficiary, together with any dividends or other distributions held by the trustee with respect to such capital stock. In addition, if prior to discovery by us that shares of CCR capital stock have been transferred to a trust, such shares of capital stock are sold by a purported transferee, then such shares will be deemed to have been sold on behalf of the trust and, to the extent that the purported transferee received an amount for or in respect of such shares that exceeds the amount that such purported transferee was entitled to receive as described above, such excess amount shall be paid to the trustee upon demand and immediately paid to the charitable beneficiary. The purported transferee will have no rights in the shares held by the trustee.

The trustee will be designated by us and must be unaffiliated with us and with any purported transferee. Prior to the sale of any shares by the trust, the trustee will receive, in trust for the beneficiary, all dividends and other distributions paid by us with respect to the shares, and may also exercise all voting rights with respect to the shares.

Subject to the DGCL, effective as of the date that the shares have been transferred to the trust, the trustee will have the authority, at the trustee s sole discretion:

to rescind as void any vote cast by a purported transferee prior to our discovery that the shares have been transferred to the trust; and

to recast the vote in accordance with the desires of the trustee acting for the benefit of the charitable beneficiary of the trust.

However, if we have already taken irreversible corporate action, then the trustee may not rescind and recast the vote.

In addition, if the board of directors determines that a proposed or purported transfer would violate the restrictions on ownership and transfer of CCR capital stock set forth in the CCR Charter, the board of directors may take such action as it deems necessary, appropriate or desirable to refuse to give effect to or to prevent such violation, including causing us to redeem shares of CCR capital stock, refusing to give effect to the transfer on our books or instituting proceedings to enjoin the transfer.

Within 30 days after the end of each taxable year, every owner of more than 5% (or such lower percentage as required by the Code or the Treasury regulations thereunder) of the outstanding shares of CCR capital stock must provide us written notice of the person s name and address, the number of shares of each class and series of CCR capital stock that such person beneficially or constructively owns and a description of the manner in which the shares are held. Each such owner must also provide us with such additional information as we may request in order to determine the effect, if any, of such owner s beneficial or constructive ownership on our qualification as a REIT and to ensure compliance with the aggregate stock ownership limit and common stock ownership limit. In addition, each beneficial

or constructive owner of CCR capital stock, and any person (including the stockholder of record) who is holding shares of CCR capital stock for a beneficial or constructive owner will, upon demand, be required to provide us with such information as we may request in order to determine our

111

qualification as a REIT and to comply with the requirements of any taxing authority or governmental authority or to determine such compliance and to ensure compliance with the aggregate stock ownership limit and common stock ownership limit.

Transfer Agent and Registrar

Computershare Inc. will serve as the transfer agent and registrar for CCR common stock and the transfer agent, registrar and conversion and dividend disbursing agent for the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock.

112

COMPARISON OF RIGHTS OF STOCKHOLDERS OF CROWN CASTLE AND CCR

The following describes some of the differences between the current rights of holders of Crown Castle common stock and Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock and the rights of holders of CCR common stock and CCR Convertible Preferred Stock after the merger. The following summary may not contain all the information that is important to you. We encourage you to carefully read the Crown Castle Charter, the Crown Castle By-Laws, the CCR Charter and the CCR By-Laws. For information on how you can obtain the Crown Castle Charter and the Crown Castle By-Laws, see the section entitled Where You Can Find More Information . A copy of the forms of the CCR Charter and CCR By-Laws are attached as Annex B-1 and Annex B-2, respectively, to this proxy statement/prospectus. We also encourage you to carefully read the CCR Certificate of Designations, a copy of which is attached as Annex B-3 to this proxy statement/prospectus.

General

If the merger is completed, holders of Crown Castle common stock will receive a number of shares of CCR common stock equal to, and in exchange for, the number of shares of Crown Castle common stock that such holders then own. In addition, the holders of Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock will receive a number of shares of CCR Convertible Preferred Stock equal to, and in exchange for, the number of shares of Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock that such holders then own. The rights of the holders of Crown Castle common stock are governed by the DGCL, the Crown Castle Charter and the Crown Castle By-Laws. If the merger is completed, the rights of the holders of Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock are governed by the DGCL, the Crown Castle Charter, the Crown Castle By-Laws and the Crown Castle Certificate of Designations. If the merger is completed, the rights of the holders of Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock will be governed by the DGCL, the CCR Charter, the CCR By-Laws and the CCR Certificate of Designations.

Generally, except as described below, the CCR Charter, the CCR By-Laws and the CCR Certificate of Designations will be the same in all material respects as the current Crown Castle Charter, CCR By-Laws and the Crown Castle Certificate of Designations, respectively, which currently govern your rights as a holder of Crown Castle common stock or Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock, as applicable.

Ownership Limitations and Transfer Restrictions of the CCR Charter

Although the REIT rules do not require the completion of the merger, we intend to complete the merger, subject to approval by the holders of Crown Castle common stock, to facilitate our continued compliance with such rules, which, among other requirements, prohibit more than 50% of our capital stock from being owned by five or fewer individuals and require our capital stock to be beneficially owned by 100 or more persons, during certain periods of the taxable year. By merging Crown Castle with and into CCR, whose charter includes REIT-related provisions limiting the ownership and restricting the transfer of our capital stock, we will ensure the effective adoption of such provisions and facilitate our continued compliance with the REIT rules. See the section entitled Description of CCR Capital Stock Ownership Limitations and Transfer Restrictions .

These provisions of the CCR Charter, as well as other provisions, could have the effect of delaying, deferring, or preventing a transaction or a change in control of us that might involve a premium price for our capital stock or otherwise be in the best interests of our stockholders.

113

MATERIAL UNITED STATES FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS

The following is a summary of the material U.S. federal income tax consequences of the merger and an investment in our capital stock. For purposes of this section, the term—stock—means both the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock and the CCR common stock. This summary is based upon the Code, the regulations promulgated by the Treasury, rulings and other administrative pronouncements issued by the IRS, and judicial decisions, all as currently in effect, and all of which are subject to differing interpretations or to change, possibly with retroactive effect. No assurance can be given that the IRS would not assert, or that a court would not sustain, a position contrary to any of the tax consequences described below. The summary is also based upon the assumption that we and our subsidiaries and affiliated entities will operate in accordance with our and their applicable organizational documents. This summary is for general information only and is not tax advice. It does not discuss any state, local or non-U.S. tax consequences relevant to us or an investment in our stock, and it does not purport to discuss all aspects of U.S. federal income taxation that may be important to a particular investor in light of its investment or tax circumstances or to investors subject to special tax rules, such as:

financial institutions;
insurance companies;
broker-dealers;
regulated investment companies;
passive foreign investment companies;
controlled foreign corporations;
companies that accumulate earnings to avoid U.S. federal income tax;
U.S. expatriates;
former long-term permanent residents of the United States;
partnerships, other pass-through entities and trusts;
persons who hold our stock on behalf of other persons as nominees;

persons who receive our stock in connection with employment or other performance of services;

persons holding our stock as part of a straddle , hedge , conversion transaction , synthetic security or other integrated investment; and, except to the extent discussed below:

real estate investment trusts;

tax-exempt organizations; and

foreign investors.

This summary assumes that investors will hold their stock as a capital asset, which generally means property held for investment.

Your U.S. federal income tax consequences may depend on whether or not you are a U.S. stockholder . For purposes of this summary, a U.S. stockholder is any holder of our stock that is, for U.S. federal income tax purposes:

an individual who is a citizen or resident of the United States;

a corporation (or entity treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes) created or organized in the United States or under the laws of the United States, or of any state thereof, or the District of Columbia;

an estate, the income of which is includable in gross income for U.S. federal income tax purposes regardless of its source; or

a trust if a U.S. court is able to exercise primary supervision over the administration of such trust and one or more U.S. fiduciaries have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust.

114

A non-U.S. stockholder is any holder of our stock other than a partnership or U.S. stockholder. If a partnership, including for this purpose any entity or arrangement that is treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes, holds our stock, the tax treatment of a partner in the partnership will generally depend upon the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership. An investor that is a partnership and the partners in such partnership should consult their tax advisors about the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the acquisition, ownership and disposition of our stock.

The U.S. federal income tax treatment of holders of our stock depends in some instances on determinations of fact and interpretations of complex provisions of U.S. federal income tax law for which no clear precedent or authority may be available. In addition, the tax consequences to any particular stockholder of holding our stock will depend on the stockholder s particular tax circumstances. You are urged to consult your tax advisor regarding the U.S. federal, state, local and foreign income and other tax consequences to you in light of your particular investment in, or tax circumstances of acquiring, holding, exchanging, or otherwise disposing of, our stock.

U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Merger

The merger of Crown Castle with and into CCR is intended to qualify as a reorganization under Section 368(a)(1)(F) of the Code. It is a condition to closing that our special tax counsel, Cravath, Swaine & Moore LLP, deliver an opinion that the merger will be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes as a reorganization under section 368(a)(1)(F) of the Code. The opinion of our special tax counsel is based on the U.S. federal income tax law in effect as of the date issued, relies on certain representations of our management and assumes, among other things, that the merger will be consummated in accordance with the applicable documents and as described herein. An opinion of counsel is not binding on the IRS or any court. The remainder of this discussion assumes that the merger will qualify as a reorganization.

Neither Crown Castle nor CCR will recognize any gain or loss as a result of the merger. Except as described below with respect to non-U.S. stockholders that own or have owned in excess of 5% of the Crown Castle common stock, stockholders will not recognize any gain or loss upon the conversion of shares of Crown Castle common stock into CCR common stock or shares of Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock into CCR Convertible Preferred Stock pursuant to the merger. The initial tax basis of the CCR common stock received by a stockholder pursuant to the merger will be the same as such stockholder s adjusted tax basis in the shares of the Crown Castle common stock being converted pursuant to the merger. The holding period of the CCR common stock received by a stockholder pursuant to the merger will include the stockholder s holding period with respect to the shares of Crown Castle common stock being converted pursuant to the merger. The initial tax basis of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock received by a stockholder s adjusted tax basis in the shares of the Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock being converted pursuant to the merger. The holding period of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock received by a stockholder pursuant to the merger will include the stockholder s holding period with respect to the shares of Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock being converted pursuant to the merger.

If we are not a domestically controlled qualified investment entity within the meaning of the Code, then in the case of non-U.S. stockholders that own or have owned in excess of 5% of Crown Castle common stock or shares of Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock, it may be necessary for those persons to comply with the reporting and other requirements of the Treasury regulations under Section 897 of the Code in order to achieve nonrecognition of gain, carryover tax basis and tacked holding period upon the conversion of shares of the Crown Castle common stock into CCR common stock or shares of Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock into CCR Convertible Preferred Stock pursuant to the merger. If you are such a non-U.S. stockholder, we urge you to consult with your own tax advisor to determine your reporting and other obligations with respect to the conversion of shares of Crown Castle common

stock into CCR common stock or shares of Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock into CCR Convertible Preferred Stock pursuant to the merger.

115

Taxation as a REIT

We expect to elect to be taxed as a REIT commencing with our taxable year ending December 31, 2014, upon the filing of our U.S. federal income tax return for such year. We believe that, as of January 1, 2014, we have been organized, and as of such date we have operated and intend to continue to operate, in such a manner as to qualify for taxation as a REIT under the applicable provisions of the Code.

We have received opinions from our Special Tax Counsel to the effect that we will be organized in conformity with the requirements for qualification and taxation as a REIT under the Code, and that our proposed method of operation will enable us to meet the requirements for qualification and taxation as a REIT, commencing with our taxable year ending December 31, 2014. It must be emphasized that the opinions of our Special Tax Counsel are based on various assumptions relating to our organization and operation, and is conditioned upon fact-based representations and covenants made by our management regarding our organization, assets, and income, and the present and future conduct of our business operations. While we intend to operate so that we will qualify as a REIT, given the highly complex nature of the rules governing REITs, the ongoing importance of factual determinations, and the possibility of future changes in our circumstances, no assurance can be given by our Special Tax Counsel or by us that we will qualify as a REIT for any particular year. The opinions are expressed as of the date issued. Our Special Tax Counsel will have no obligation to advise us or our stockholders of any subsequent change in the matters stated, represented or assumed, or of any subsequent change in the applicable law. You should be aware that opinions of counsel are not binding on the IRS, and no assurance can be given that the IRS will not challenge the conclusions set forth in such opinions.

Qualification and taxation as a REIT depends on our ability to meet on a continuing basis, through actual operating results, distribution levels, and diversity of stock ownership, various qualification requirements imposed upon REITs by the Code, the compliance with which will not be reviewed by our Special Tax Counsel. Our ability to qualify as a REIT also requires that we satisfy certain asset tests, some of which depend upon the fair market values of assets that we own directly or indirectly. Such values may not be susceptible to a precise determination. Accordingly, no assurance can be given that the actual results of our operations for any taxable year will satisfy such requirements for qualification and taxation as a REIT.

Taxation of REITs in General

As indicated above, our qualification and taxation as a REIT depends upon our ability to meet, on a continuing basis, various qualification requirements imposed upon REITs by the Code. The material qualification requirements are summarized below under Requirements for Qualification General. While we intend to operate so that we qualify as a REIT, no assurance can be given that the IRS will not challenge our qualification, or that we will be able to operate in accordance with the REIT requirements in the future. See Failure to Qualify.

Provided that we qualify as a REIT, we will generally be entitled to a deduction for dividends that we pay and therefore will not be subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax on our net taxable income that is distributed to our stockholders. This treatment substantially eliminates the double taxation at the corporate and stockholder levels that generally results from an investment in a C corporation. A C corporation is a corporation that generally is required to pay tax at the corporate level. Double taxation means taxation once at the corporate level when income is earned and once again at the stockholder level when the income is distributed. In general, the income that we generate is taxed only at the stockholder level upon a distribution of dividends to our stockholders.

Most U.S. stockholders that are individuals, trusts or estates are taxed on corporate dividends at a maximum U.S. federal income tax rate of 20% (the same as long-term capital gains). With limited exceptions, however, dividends

from us or from other entities that are taxed as REITs are generally not eligible for this rate and will continue to be taxed at rates applicable to ordinary income. The highest marginal non-corporate U.S. federal income tax rate applicable to ordinary income is 39.6%. See Taxation of Taxable U.S. Stockholders Distributions .

116

Any net operating losses, foreign tax credits and other tax attributes generally do not pass through to our stockholders, subject to special rules for certain items such as the capital gains that we recognize. See Taxation of Taxable U.S. Stockholders Distributions.

If we qualify as a REIT, we will nonetheless be subject to U.S. federal tax in the following circumstances:

We will be taxed at regular corporate rates on any undistributed net taxable income, including undistributed net capital gains.

We may be subject to the alternative minimum tax on our items of tax preference, including any deductions of net operating losses.

If we have net income from prohibited transactions, which are, in general, sales or other dispositions of inventory or property held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business, other than foreclosure property, such income will be subject to a 100% tax. See Prohibited Transactions and Foreclosure Property below.

If we elect to treat property that we acquire in connection with a foreclosure of a mortgage loan or certain leasehold terminations as foreclosure property, we may thereby avoid the 100% tax on gain from a resale of that property (if the sale would otherwise constitute a prohibited transaction), but the income from the sale or operation of the property may be subject to corporate income tax at the highest applicable rate (currently 35%).

If we fail to satisfy the 75% gross income test or the 95% gross income test, as discussed below, but nonetheless maintain our qualification as a REIT because we satisfy other requirements, we will be subject to a 100% tax on an amount based on the magnitude of the failure, as adjusted to reflect the profit margin associated with our gross income.

If we violate the asset tests (other than certain *de minimis* violations) or other requirements applicable to REITs, as described below, and yet maintain our qualification as a REIT because there is reasonable cause for the failure and other applicable requirements are met, we may be subject to a penalty tax. In that case, the amount of the penalty tax will be at least \$50,000 per failure, and, in the case of certain asset test failures, will be determined as the amount of net income generated by the nonqualifying assets in question multiplied by the highest corporate tax rate (currently 35%) if that amount exceeds \$50,000 per failure.

If we fail to distribute during each calendar year at least the sum of (i) 85% of our ordinary income for such year, (ii) 95% of our capital gain net income for such year and (iii) any undistributed net taxable income from prior periods, we will be subject to a nondeductible 4% excise tax on the excess of the required distribution over the sum of (a) the amounts that we actually distributed and (b) the amounts we retained and upon which we paid income tax at the corporate level.

We may be required to pay monetary penalties to the IRS in certain circumstances, including if we fail to meet record-keeping requirements intended to monitor our compliance with rules relating to the composition of a REIT s stockholders, as described below in Requirements for Qualification General.

A 100% tax may be imposed on transactions between us and a TRS that do not reflect arm s length terms.

If we acquire appreciated assets from a corporation that is not a REIT (i.e., a corporation taxable under subchapter C of the Code) in a transaction in which the adjusted tax basis of the assets in our hands is determined by reference to the adjusted tax basis of the assets in the hands of the subchapter C corporation, including assets owned by us at the effective date of our election to be taxed as a REIT, we may be subject to tax on such appreciation at the highest corporate income tax rate then applicable if we subsequently recognize gain on a disposition of any such assets during the ten-year period following their acquisition from the subchapter C corporation.

The earnings of our TRSs may be subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax.

117

In addition, we and our subsidiaries may be subject to a variety of taxes, including payroll taxes and state, local and foreign income, property, gross receipts, franchise and other taxes on our assets and operations. We could also be subject to tax in situations and on transactions not presently contemplated.

Requirements for Qualification General

The Code defines a REIT as a corporation, trust or association:

- 1. that is managed by one or more trustees or directors;
- 2. the beneficial ownership of which is evidenced by transferable shares, or by transferable certificates of beneficial interest;
- 3. that would be taxable as a domestic corporation but for its election to be subject to tax as a REIT;
- 4. that is neither a financial institution nor an insurance company subject to specific provisions of the Code;
- 5. the beneficial ownership of which is held by 100 or more persons;
- 6. in which, during the last half of each taxable year, not more than 50% in value of the outstanding stock is owned, directly or indirectly, by five or fewer individuals (as defined in the Code to include specified tax-exempt entities); and
- 7. that meets other tests described below, including with respect to the nature of its income and assets. The Code provides that conditions (1) through (4) must be met during the entire taxable year, and that condition (5) must be met during at least 335 days of a taxable year of 12 months, or during a proportionate part of a shorter taxable year. Conditions (5) and (6) need not be met during a corporation s initial tax year as a REIT. To help comply with conditions (5) and (6), the CCR Charter will restrict transfers of our capital stock that would result in concentrated ownership positions. See Description of CCR Capital Stock Ownership Limitations and Transfer Restrictions . These restrictions, however, may not ensure that we will, in all cases, be able to satisfy the share ownership requirements described in conditions (5) and (6) above. If we fail to satisfy these share ownership requirements, except as provided in the next sentence, our status as a REIT will terminate. If, however, we comply with the rules contained in applicable Treasury regulations that require us to ascertain the actual ownership of our shares and we do not know, or would not have known through the exercise of reasonable diligence, that we failed to meet the requirement described in condition (6) above, we will be treated as having met this requirement.

To monitor compliance with the stock ownership requirements, we generally are required to maintain records regarding the actual ownership of our stock. To do so, we must demand written statements each year from the record holders of significant percentages of our stock pursuant to which the record holders must disclose the actual owners of the stock (i.e., the persons required to include our dividends in their gross income). We must maintain a list of those

persons failing or refusing to comply with this demand as part of our records. We could be subject to monetary penalties if we fail to comply with these record-keeping requirements. If you fail or refuse to comply with the demands, you will be required by Treasury regulations to submit a statement with your tax return disclosing your actual ownership of our stock and other information.

Effect of Subsidiary Entities

Ownership of Partnership Interests. If we are a partner in an entity that is treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes, Treasury regulations provide that we are deemed to own our proportionate share of the partnership s assets, and to earn our proportionate share of the partnership s income, for purposes of the asset and gross income tests applicable to REITs. Our proportionate share of a partnership s assets and income is based on our capital interest in the partnership (except that for purposes of the 10% value test, described below, our

118

proportionate share of the partnership s assets is based on our proportionate interest in the equity and certain debt securities issued by the partnership). In addition, the assets and gross income of the partnership are deemed to retain the same character in our hands. Thus, our proportionate share of the assets and items of income of any of our subsidiary partnerships will be treated as our assets and items of income for purposes of applying the REIT requirements.

Disregarded Subsidiaries. If we own a corporate subsidiary that is a qualified REIT subsidiary , that subsidiary is generally disregarded as a separate entity for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and all of the subsidiary s assets, liabilities and items of income, deduction and credit are treated as our assets, liabilities and items of income, deduction and credit, including for purposes of the gross income and asset tests applicable to REITs. A qualified REIT subsidiary is any corporation, other than a TRS (as described below), that is directly or indirectly wholly owned by a REIT. Other entities that are wholly owned by us, including single member limited liability companies that have not elected to be taxed as corporations for U.S. federal income tax purposes, are also generally disregarded as separate entities for U.S. federal income tax purposes, including for purposes of the REIT income and asset tests. Disregarded subsidiaries, along with any partnerships in which we hold an equity interest, are sometimes referred to herein as pass-through subsidiaries.

In the event that a disregarded subsidiary of ours ceases to be wholly owned for example, if any equity interest in the subsidiary is acquired by a person other than us or another disregarded subsidiary of ours the subsidiary s separate existence would no longer be disregarded for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Instead, the subsidiary would have multiple owners and would be treated as either a partnership or a taxable corporation. Such an event could, depending on the circumstances, adversely affect our ability to satisfy the various asset and gross income requirements applicable to REITs, including the requirement that REITs generally may not own, directly or indirectly, more than 10% of the securities of another corporation. See Income Tests and Asset Tests.

Taxable REIT Subsidiaries. In general, we may jointly elect with a subsidiary corporation, whether or not wholly owned, to treat such subsidiary corporation as a TRS. We generally may not own more than 10% of the securities of a taxable corporation, as measured by voting power or value, unless we and such corporation elect to treat such corporation as a TRS. The separate existence of a TRS or other taxable corporation is not ignored for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Accordingly, a TRS or other taxable subsidiary corporation generally is subject to corporate income tax on its earnings, which may reduce the cash flow that we and our subsidiaries generate in the aggregate, and may reduce our ability to declare and pay dividends to our stockholders.

We are not treated as holding the assets of a TRS or other taxable subsidiary corporation or as receiving any income that the subsidiary earns. Rather, the stock issued by a taxable subsidiary corporation to us is an asset in our hands, and we treat the dividends paid to us from such taxable subsidiary corporation, if any, as income. This treatment can affect our income and asset test calculations, as described below. Because we do not include the assets and income of TRSs or other taxable subsidiary corporations on a look-through basis in determining our compliance with the REIT requirements, we may use such entities to undertake indirectly activities that the REIT rules might otherwise preclude us from doing directly or through pass-through subsidiaries. For example, we may use TRSs or other taxable subsidiary corporations to perform services or conduct activities that give rise to certain categories of income such as certain fees, or to conduct activities that, if conducted by us directly, would be treated in our hands as prohibited transactions.

The TRS rules limit the deductibility of interest paid or accrued by a TRS to its parent REIT to assure that the TRS is subject to an appropriate level of corporate taxation. Further, the rules impose a 100% excise tax on transactions between a TRS and its parent REIT or the REIT s tenants that are not conducted on an arm s length basis. We intend that all of our transactions with our TRSs, if any, will be conducted on an arm s length basis.

Income Tests

In order to qualify as a REIT, we must satisfy two gross income requirements on an annual basis. First, at least 75% of our gross income for each taxable year, excluding gross income from sales of inventory or dealer property in prohibited transactions , discharge of indebtedness and certain hedging transactions, generally must be derived from rents from real property , gains from the sale of real estate assets, interest income derived from mortgage loans secured by real property (including certain types of mortgage-backed securities), dividends received from other REITs, and specified income from temporary investments. Second, at least 95% of our gross income in each taxable year, excluding gross income from prohibited transactions, discharge of indebtedness and certain hedging transactions, must be derived from some combination of income that qualifies under the 75% gross income test described above, as well as other dividends, interest and gain from the sale or disposition of stock or securities, which need not have any relation to real property. Income and gain from certain hedging transactions will be excluded from both the numerator and the denominator for purposes of both the 75% and 95% gross income tests.

<u>Rents from Real Property</u>. Rents we receive from a tenant will qualify as rents from real property for the purpose of satisfying the gross income requirements for a REIT described above only if all of the conditions described below are met.

The amount of rent is not based in whole or in part on the income or profits of any person. However, an amount we receive or accrue generally will not be excluded from the term—rents from real property—solely because it is based on a fixed percentage or percentages of receipts or sales;

Neither we nor an actual or constructive owner of 10% or more of our stock actually or constructively owns 10% or more of the interests in the assets or net profits of a non-corporate tenant, or, if the tenant is a corporation, 10% or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock entitled to vote or 10% or more of the total value of all classes of stock of the tenant. Rents we receive from such a tenant that is a TRS of ours, however, will not be excluded from the definition of rents from real property as a result of this condition if at least 90% of the space at the property to which the rents relate is leased to third parties, and the rents paid by the TRS are substantially comparable to rents paid by our other tenants for comparable space. Whether rents paid by a TRS are substantially comparable to rents paid by other tenants is determined at the time the lease with the TRS is entered into, extended and modified, if such modification increases the rents due under such lease. Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, if a lease with a controlled TRS is modified and such modification results in an increase in the rents payable by such TRS, any such increase will not qualify as rents from real property. For purposes of this rule, a controlled TRS is a TRS in which the parent REIT owns stock possessing more than 50% of the voting power or more than 50% of the total value of the outstanding stock of such TRS;

Rent attributable to personal property that is leased in connection with a lease of real property is not greater than 15% of the total rent received under the lease. If this condition is not met, then the portion of the rent attributable to personal property will not qualify as rents from real property; and

We generally do not operate or manage the property or furnish or render services to our tenants, subject to a 1% de minimis exception and except as provided below. We are permitted, however, to perform directly

certain services that are usually or customarily rendered in connection with the rental of space for occupancy only and are not otherwise considered rendered to the occupant of the property. In addition, we are permitted to employ an independent contractor from whom we derive no revenue to provide customary services to our tenants, or a TRS, which may be wholly or partially owned by us, to provide both customary and non-customary services to our tenants without causing the rent that we receive from those tenants to fail to qualify as rents from real property. Any amounts that we receive from a TRS with respect to the TRS s provision of non-customary services will, however, be nonqualifying income under the 75% gross income test and, except to the extent received through the payment of dividends, the 95% gross income test.

120

We believe that substantially all of the services we render at our tower sites will be of the type that are usually or customarily performed in connection with the rental of tower space and are not primarily for the benefit or convenience of our tenants. Therefore, we believe that our provision of these services will not cause rents received with respect to our properties to fail to qualify as rents from real property. We intend to cause any services that are not usually or customarily rendered , or that are for the benefit of a particular tenant in connection with the rental of real property, to be provided through a TRS or through an independent contractor . However, no assurance can be given that the IRS will concur with our determination as to whether a particular service is usual or customary, or otherwise in this regard.

Interest Income. Interest income constitutes qualifying mortgage interest for purposes of the 75% gross income test (as described above) to the extent that the obligation upon which such interest is paid is secured by a mortgage on real property. If we receive interest income with respect to a mortgage loan that is secured by both real property and other property, and the highest principal amount of the loan outstanding during a taxable year exceeds the fair market value of the real property on the date that we acquired or originated the mortgage loan, the interest income will be apportioned between the real property and the other collateral, and our income from the arrangement will qualify for purposes of the 75% gross income test only to the extent that the interest is allocable to the real property. Even if a loan is not secured by real property, or is undersecured, the income that it generates may nonetheless qualify for purposes of the 95% gross income test. For these purposes, the term interest generally does not include any amount received or accrued, directly or indirectly, if the determination of all or some of the amount depends in any way on the income or profits of any person. However, an amount received or accrued generally will not be excluded from the term interest solely by reason of being based on a fixed percentage or percentages of receipts or sales.

<u>Dividend Income</u>. We may directly or indirectly receive distributions from TRSs or other corporations that are not REITs or qualified REIT subsidiaries. These distributions generally are treated as dividend income to the extent of the earnings and profits of the distributing corporation. Such distributions will generally constitute qualifying income for purposes of the 95% gross income test, but not for purposes of the 75% gross income test. Any dividends that we receive from another REIT, however, will be qualifying income for purposes of both the 95% and 75% gross income tests.

<u>Fee Income</u>. Certain fee income that we may earn will not be qualifying income for purposes of either gross income test. Any fees earned by a TRS, however, will not be included for purposes of our gross income tests.

Hedging Transactions. Any income or gain that we or our pass-through subsidiaries derive from instruments that hedge certain risks, such as the risk of changes in interest rates, will be excluded from gross income for purposes of both the 75% and 95% gross income tests, provided that specified requirements are met, including the requirement that the instrument is entered into during the ordinary course of our business, the instrument hedges risks associated with indebtedness issued by us or our pass-through subsidiary that is incurred to acquire or carry real estate assets (as described below under Asset Tests), and the instrument is properly identified as a hedge along with the risk that it hedges within prescribed time periods. Income and gain from all other hedging transactions will not be qualifying income for either the 95% or 75% gross income test.

Failure to Satisfy the Gross Income Tests. If we fail to satisfy one or both of the 75% or 95% gross income tests for any taxable year we may still qualify as a REIT for such year if we are entitled to relief under applicable provisions of the Code. These relief provisions will be generally available if (i) our failure to meet these tests was due to reasonable cause and not due to willful neglect and (ii) following our identification of the failure to meet the 75% or 95% gross income test for any taxable year, we file a schedule with the IRS setting forth each item of our gross income for purposes of the 75% or 95% gross income test for such taxable year in accordance with Treasury regulations, which have not yet been issued. It is not possible to state whether we would be entitled to the benefit of these relief

provisions in all circumstances. If these relief provisions are inapplicable to a particular set of circumstances, we will not qualify as a REIT. Even if these relief provisions apply, and we retain our status as a REIT, the Code imposes a tax based upon the amount by which we fail to satisfy the particular gross income test.

121

Asset Tests

At the close of each calendar quarter, we must also satisfy four tests relating to the nature of our assets. First, at least 75% of the value of our total assets must be represented by some combination of real estate assets, cash, cash items, U.S. government securities, and, under some circumstances, stock or debt instruments purchased with new capital. For this purpose, real estate assets include interests in real property and stock of other corporations that qualify as REITs, as well as some kinds of mortgage-backed securities and mortgage loans. Assets that do not qualify for purposes of the 75% asset test are subject to the additional asset tests described below.

Second, the value of any one issuer s securities that we own may not exceed 5% of the value of our total assets.

Third, we may not own more than 10% of any one issuer—s outstanding securities, as measured by either voting power or value. The 5% and 10% asset tests do not apply to securities of TRSs and qualified REIT subsidiaries and the 10% asset test does not apply to—straight debt—having specified characteristics and to certain other securities described below. Solely for purposes of the 10% asset test, the determination of our interest in the assets of a partnership or limited liability company in which we own an interest will be based on our proportionate interest in any securities issued by the partnership or limited liability company, excluding for this purpose certain securities described in the Code.

Fourth, the aggregate value of all securities of TRSs that we hold, together with other non-qualified assets (such as furniture and equipment or other tangible personal property, or non-real estate securities) may not, in the aggregate, exceed 25% of the value of our total assets.

Notwithstanding the general rule, as noted above, that for purposes of the REIT income and asset tests we are treated as owning our proportionate share of the underlying assets of a subsidiary partnership, if we hold indebtedness issued by a partnership, the indebtedness will be subject to, and may cause a violation of, the asset tests unless the indebtedness is a qualifying mortgage asset or other conditions are met. Similarly, although stock of another REIT is a qualifying asset for purposes of the REIT asset tests, any non-mortgage debt that is issued by another REIT may not so qualify (although such debt will not be treated as securities for purposes of the 10% asset test, as explained below).

Certain securities will not cause a violation of the 10% asset test described above. Such securities include instruments that constitute—straight debt—, which term generally excludes, among other things, securities having contingency features. A security does not qualify as straight debt—where a REIT (or a controlled TRS of the REIT) owns other securities of the same issuer which do not qualify as straight debt, unless the value of those other securities constitute, in the aggregate, 1% or less of the total value of that issuer—s outstanding securities. In addition to straight debt, the Code provides that certain other securities will not violate the 10% asset test. Such securities include (i) any loan made to an individual or an estate, (ii) certain rental agreements pursuant to which one or more payments are to be made in subsequent years (other than agreements between a REIT and certain persons related to the REIT under attribution rules), (iii) any obligation to pay rents from real property, (iv) securities issued by governmental entities that are not dependent in whole or in part on the profits of (or payments made by) a non-governmental entity, (v) any security (including debt securities) issued by another REIT and (vi) any debt instrument issued by a partnership if the partnership s income is of a nature that it would satisfy the 75% gross income test described above under—Income Tests—In applying the 10% asset test, a debt security issued by a partnership is not taken into account to the extent, if any, of the REIT—s proportionate interest in the equity and certain debt securities issued by that partnership.

No independent appraisals have been obtained to support our conclusions as to the value of our total assets or the value of any particular security or securities. Moreover, the values of some assets may not be susceptible to a precise determination, and values are subject to change in the future. Furthermore, the proper classification

of an instrument as debt or equity for U.S. federal income tax purposes may be uncertain in some circumstances, which could affect the application of the REIT asset requirements. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the IRS will not contend that our interests in our subsidiaries or in the securities of other issuers will not cause a violation of the REIT asset tests.

However, certain relief provisions are available to allow REITs to satisfy the asset requirements or to maintain REIT qualification notwithstanding certain violations of the asset and other requirements. For example, if we should fail to satisfy the asset tests at the end of a calendar quarter such a failure would not cause us to lose our REIT qualification if (i) we satisfied the asset tests at the close of the preceding calendar quarter and (ii) the discrepancy between the value of our assets and the asset requirements was not wholly or partly caused by an acquisition of non-qualifying assets, but instead arose from changes in the relative market values of our assets. If the condition described in (ii) were not satisfied, we still could avoid disqualification by eliminating any discrepancy within 30 days after the close of the calendar quarter in which it arose or by making use of the relief provisions described above.

In the case of *de minimis* violations of the 10% and 5% asset tests, a REIT may maintain its qualification despite a violation of such requirements if (i) the value of the assets causing the violation does not exceed the lesser of 1% of the REIT s total assets and \$10,000,000 and (ii) the REIT either disposes of the assets causing the failure within six months after the last day of the quarter in which it identifies the failure, or the relevant tests are otherwise satisfied within that time frame.

Even if we did not qualify for the foregoing relief provisions, one additional provision allows a REIT which fails one or more of the asset requirements to nevertheless maintain its REIT qualification if (i) the REIT provides the IRS with a description of each asset causing the failure, (ii) the failure is due to reasonable cause and not willful neglect, (iii) the REIT pays a tax equal to the greater of (a) \$50,000 per failure and (b) the product of the net income generated by the assets that caused the failure multiplied by the highest applicable corporate tax rate (currently 35%) and (iv) the REIT either disposes of the assets causing the failure within six months after the last day of the quarter in which it identifies the failure, or otherwise satisfies the relevant asset tests within that time frame.

Annual Distribution Requirements

In order to qualify as a REIT, we are required to declare and pay dividends, other than capital gain dividends, to our stockholders in an amount at least equal to:

- 1. the sum of
 - a. 90% of our REIT taxable income, computed without regard to our net capital gains and the deduction for dividends paid; and
 - b. 90% of our after tax net income, if any, from foreclosure property (as described below); minus
- 2. the excess of the sum of specified items of non-cash income over 5% of our REIT taxable income, computed without regard to our net capital gains and the deduction for dividends paid.

We generally must declare and pay these dividends in the taxable year to which they relate, or in the following taxable year if declared before we timely file our tax return for the year and if paid with or before the first regular dividend payment after such declaration. These dividends will be treated as received by our stockholders in the year in which paid. In order for dividends to be counted as satisfying the annual dividend requirements for REITs, and to provide us with a REIT-level tax deduction, the dividends must not be preferential dividends. A dividend is not a preferential dividend if the dividend is (i) pro rata among all outstanding shares of stock within a particular class and (ii) in accordance with any preferences among different classes of stock as set forth in our organizational documents.

To the extent that we distribute at least 90%, but less than 100%, of our REIT taxable income, as adjusted, we will be subject to tax at ordinary corporate tax rates on the retained portion. We may elect to retain, rather than pay as dividends, some or all of our net long-term capital gains and pay tax on such gains. In this case, we could elect for our stockholders to include their proportionate shares of such undistributed long-term capital gains in income, and to receive a corresponding credit for their share of the tax that we paid. Our stockholders would then increase the adjusted basis of their stock by the difference between (i) the amounts of capital gain dividends that we designated and that they include in their taxable income, minus (ii) the tax that we paid on their behalf with respect to that income.

We have approximately \$2.2 billion in NOLs, of which approximately \$1.9 billion is available to offset REIT taxable income and reduce the amount of distributions that we must make in order to comply with the REIT distribution requirements. Such losses, however, will generally not affect the tax treatment to our stockholders of any distributions that are actually made. See Taxation of Taxable U.S. Stockholders Distributions .

If we fail to declare and pay dividends during each calendar year at least the sum of (i) 85% of our ordinary income for such year, (ii) 95% of our capital gain net income for such year and (iii) any undistributed net taxable income from prior periods, we will be subject to a non-deductible 4% excise tax on the excess of such required distribution over the sum of (a) the amounts actually distributed, plus (b) the amounts of income we retained and on which we have paid corporate income tax.

We expect that in the future, our REIT taxable income will be less than our cash flow because of our existing NOLs as well as depreciation and other non-cash charges included in computing REIT taxable income. Accordingly, we anticipate that we generally will have sufficient cash or liquid assets to enable us to satisfy the dividend requirements described above. However, from time to time, we may not have sufficient cash or other liquid assets to meet these distribution requirements due to timing differences between the actual receipt of income and actual payment of deductible expenses, and the inclusion of income and deduction of expenses in determining our taxable income. In addition, we may decide to retain our cash, rather than pay it as a dividend, in order to repay debt, acquire assets, or for other reasons. If these timing differences occur, we may borrow funds to pay dividends or pay dividends through the distribution of other property (including shares of our stock) in order to meet the dividend requirements, while preserving our cash.

If our taxable income for a particular year is subsequently determined to have been understated, we may be able to rectify a resultant failure to meet the dividend requirements for a year by paying deficiency dividends to stockholders in a later year, which may be included in our deduction for dividends paid for the earlier year. In this case, we may be able to avoid losing REIT qualification or being taxed on amounts distributed as deficiency dividends, subject to the 4% excise tax described above. We will be required to pay interest based on the amount of any deduction taken for deficiency dividends.

For purposes of the 90% distribution requirement and excise tax described above, any dividend that we declare in October, November or December of any year and that is payable to a stockholder of record on a specified date in any such month will be treated as both paid by us and received by the stockholder on December 31 of such year, provided that we actually pay the dividend before the end of January of the following calendar year.

Prohibited Transactions

Net income that we derive from a prohibited transaction is subject to a 100% tax. The term prohibited transaction generally includes a sale or other disposition of property (other than foreclosure property, as discussed below) that is held as inventory or primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of a trade or business. We intend to conduct our operations so that no asset that we own (or are treated as owning) will be treated as, or as having been, held as

inventory or for sale to customers, and that a sale of any such asset will not be treated as having been in the ordinary course of our business. Whether property is held as inventory or primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of a trade or business depends on the particular facts and circumstances. No assurance can be given that any property that we sell will not be treated as inventory or

124

property held for sale to customers, or that we can comply with certain safe-harbor provisions of the Code that would prevent such treatment. The 100% tax does not apply to gains from the sale of property that is held through a TRS or other taxable corporation, although such income will be subject to tax in the hands of the corporation at regular corporate rates. We intend to structure our activities to avoid prohibited transaction characterization.

Like-Kind Exchanges

We may dispose of properties in transactions intended to qualify as like-kind exchanges under the Code. Such like-kind exchanges are intended to result in the deferral of gain for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The failure of any such transaction to qualify as a like-kind exchange could require us to pay U.S. federal income tax, possibly including the 100% prohibited transaction tax, depending on the facts and circumstances surrounding the particular transaction.

Derivatives and Hedging Transactions

We may enter into hedging transactions with respect to interest rate exposure on one or more of our assets or liabilities. Any such hedging transactions could take a variety of forms, including the use of derivative instruments such as interest rate swap contracts, interest rate cap or floor contracts, futures or forward contracts, and options. Except to the extent provided by Treasury regulations, any income from a hedging transaction we enter into (i) in the normal course of our business primarily to manage risk of interest rate changes or currency fluctuations with respect to borrowings made or to be made, or ordinary obligations incurred or to be incurred, to acquire or carry real estate assets, which is clearly identified as specified in Treasury regulations before the close of the day on which it was acquired, originated or entered into, including gain from the sale or disposition of a position in such a transaction and (ii) primarily to manage risk of currency fluctuations with respect to any item of income or gain that would be qualifying income under the 75% or 95% income tests which is clearly identified as such before the close of the day on which it was acquired, originated, or entered into, will not constitute gross income for purposes of the 75% or 95% gross income test. To the extent that we enter into other types of hedging transactions, the income from those transactions is likely to be treated as non-qualifying income for purposes of both of the 75% and 95% gross income tests. Moreover, to the extent that a position in a hedging transaction has positive value at any particular point in time, it may be treated as an asset that does not qualify for purposes of the REIT asset tests. We intend to structure any hedging transactions in a manner that does not jeopardize our qualification as a REIT. We may conduct some or all of our hedging activities (including hedging activities relating to currency risk) through a TRS or other corporate entity, the income from which may be subject to U.S. federal income tax, rather than by participating in the arrangements directly or through pass-through subsidiaries. No assurance can be given, however, that our hedging activities will not give rise to income or assets that do not qualify for purposes of the REIT tests, or that our hedging activities will not adversely affect our ability to satisfy the REIT qualification requirements.

Foreclosure Property

Foreclosure property is real property and any personal property incident to such real property (i) that we acquire as the result of having bid in the property at foreclosure, or having otherwise reduced the property to ownership or possession by agreement or process of law, after a default (or upon imminent default) on a lease of the property or a mortgage loan held by us and secured by the property, (ii) for which we acquired the related loan or lease at a time when default was not imminent or anticipated and (iii) with respect to which we made a proper election to treat the property as foreclosure property. We generally will be subject to tax at the maximum corporate rate (currently 35%) on any net income from foreclosure property, including any gain from the disposition of the foreclosure property, other than income that would otherwise be qualifying income for purposes of the 75% gross income test. Any gain from the sale of property for which a foreclosure property election has been made will not be subject to the 100% tax

on gains from prohibited transactions described above, even if the property would otherwise constitute inventory or dealer property. We do not anticipate receiving any income from foreclosure property that does not qualify for purposes of the 75% gross income test.

125

Penalty Tax

Any redetermined rents, redetermined deductions or excess interest we generate will be subject to a 100% penalty tax. In general, redetermined rents are rents from real property that are overstated as a result of any services furnished to any of our tenants by a TRS, and redetermined deductions and excess interest represent any amounts that are deducted by a TRS for amounts paid to us that are in excess of the amounts that would have been deducted based on arm s length negotiations. Rents that we receive will not constitute redetermined rents if they qualify for certain safe harbor provisions contained in the Code.

From time to time, our TRS may provide services to our tenants. We intend to set the fees paid to our TRS for such services at arm s length rates, although the fees paid may not satisfy the safe-harbor provisions described above. These determinations are inherently factual, and the IRS has broad discretion to assert that amounts paid between related parties should be reallocated to clearly reflect their respective incomes. If the IRS successfully made such an assertion, we would be required to pay a 100% penalty tax on the excess of an arm s length fee for tenant services over the amount actually paid.

Failure to Qualify

If we fail to satisfy one or more requirements for REIT qualification other than the income or asset tests, we could avoid disqualification as a REIT if our failure is due to reasonable cause and not to willful neglect and we pay a penalty of \$50,000 for each such failure. Relief provisions are also available for failures of the income tests and asset tests, as described above in Income Tests and Asset Tests.

If we fail to qualify for taxation as a REIT in any taxable year, and the relief provisions described above do not apply, we would be subject to tax, including any applicable alternative minimum tax, on our taxable income at regular corporate rates. We cannot deduct dividends paid to stockholders in any year in which we are not a REIT, nor would we be required to declare and pay dividends in such a year. In this situation, to the extent of current and accumulated earnings and profits, dividends paid to stockholders would be taxable as regular corporate dividends. Such dividends paid to U.S. stockholders that are individuals, trusts and estates may be taxable at the preferential income tax rates (i.e., the 20% maximum U.S. federal rate) for qualified dividends. In addition, subject to the limitations of the Code, corporate distributees may be eligible for the dividends received deduction. Unless we are entitled to relief under specific statutory provisions, we would also be disqualified from re-electing to be taxed as a REIT for the four taxable years following the year during which we lost our qualification. It is not possible to state whether, in all circumstances, we would be entitled to this statutory relief.

Taxation of Taxable U.S. Stockholders

<u>Distributions</u>. So long as we qualify as a REIT, the distributions that we make to our taxable U.S. stockholders out of current or accumulated earnings and profits that we do not designate as capital gain dividends will generally be taken into account by such stockholders as ordinary income and will not be eligible for the dividends received deduction for corporations. With limited exceptions, our dividends are not eligible for taxation at the preferential income tax rates (i.e., the 20% maximum U.S. federal rate) for qualified dividends received by most U.S. stockholders that are individuals, trusts and estates from taxable C corporations. Such stockholders, however, are taxed at the preferential rates on dividends designated by and received from REITs to the extent that the dividends are attributable to:

income retained by the REIT in the prior taxable year on which the REIT was subject to corporate level income tax (less the amount of tax);

dividends received by the REIT from TRSs or other taxable C corporations; or

income in the prior taxable year from the sales of built-in gain property acquired by the REIT from C corporations in carryover basis transactions (less the amount of corporate tax on such income).

126

Distributions that we designate as capital gain dividends will generally be taxed to our U.S. stockholders as long-term capital gains, to the extent that such distributions do not exceed our actual net capital gain for the taxable year, without regard to the period for which the stockholder that receives such distribution has held its stock. We may elect to retain and pay taxes on some or all of our net long-term capital gains, in which case we may elect to apply provisions of the Code, which treat our U.S. stockholders as having received, solely for tax purposes, our undistributed capital gains, and the stockholders as receiving a corresponding credit for taxes that we paid on such undistributed capital gains. See

Taxation as a REIT Annual Distribution Requirements . Corporate stockholders may be required to treat up to 20% of some capital gain dividends as ordinary income. Long-term capital gains are generally taxable at maximum U.S. federal rates of 20% in the case of U.S. stockholders that are individuals, trusts and estates, and 35% in the case of U.S. stockholders that are corporations. Capital gains attributable to the sale of depreciable real property held for more than 12 months are subject to a 25% maximum U.S. federal income tax rate for taxpayers who are taxed as individuals, to the extent of previously claimed depreciation deductions.

Distributions in excess of our current and accumulated earnings and profits will generally represent a return of capital and will not be taxable to a stockholder to the extent that the amount of such distributions does not exceed the adjusted basis of the stockholder s shares in respect of which the distributions were made. Rather, the distribution will reduce the adjusted basis of the stockholder s shares. To the extent that such distributions exceed the adjusted basis of a stockholder s shares, the stockholder generally must include such distributions in income as long-term capital gain if the shares have been held for more than one year, or short-term capital gain if the shares have been held for one year or less. In addition, any dividend that we declare in October, November or December of any year and that is payable to a stockholder of record on a specified date in any such month will be treated as both paid by us and received by the stockholder on December 31 of such year, provided that we actually pay the dividend before the end of January of the following calendar year.

To the extent that we have available net operating losses and capital losses carried forward from prior tax years, such losses may reduce the amount of distributions that we must make in order to comply with the REIT distribution requirements. See Taxation as a REIT Annual Distribution Requirements . Such losses, however, are not passed through to stockholders and do not offset income of stockholders from other sources, nor would such losses affect the character of any distributions that we make, which are generally subject to tax in the hands of stockholders to the extent that we have current or accumulated earnings and profits.

Dispositions of Our Stock. Except upon the conversion of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock, if a U.S. stockholder sells or disposes of shares of our stock, it will generally recognize gain or loss for U.S. federal income tax purposes in an amount equal to the difference between the amount of cash and the fair market value of any property received on the sale or other disposition and the stockholder s adjusted tax basis in the shares of stock. In general, capital gains recognized by individuals, trusts and estates upon the sale or disposition of our stock will be subject to a maximum U.S. federal income tax rate of 20% if the stock is held for more than one year, and will be taxed at ordinary income rates (of up to 39.6%) if the stock is held for one year or less. Gains recognized by stockholders that are corporations are subject to U.S. federal income tax at a maximum rate of 35%, whether or not such gains are classified as long-term capital gains. Capital losses recognized by a stockholder upon the disposition of our stock that was held for more than one year at the time of disposition will be considered long-term capital losses, and are generally available only to offset capital gain income of the stockholder but not ordinary income (except in the case of individuals, who may also offset up to \$3,000 of ordinary income each year). In addition, any loss upon a sale or exchange of shares of our stock by a stockholder who has held the shares for six months or less, after applying holding period rules, will be treated as a long-term capital loss to the extent of actual or deemed distributions that we make that are required to be treated by the stockholder as long-term capital gain.

If an investor recognizes a loss upon a subsequent disposition of our stock or other securities in an amount that exceeds a prescribed threshold, it is possible that the provisions of Treasury regulations involving reportable transactions could apply, with a resulting requirement to separately disclose the loss-generating transaction to the IRS. These regulations, though directed towards tax shelters, are broadly written and apply to

127

transactions that would not typically be considered tax shelters. The Code imposes significant penalties for failure to comply with these requirements. You should consult your tax advisor concerning any possible disclosure obligation with respect to the receipt or disposition of our stock or securities or transactions that we might undertake directly or indirectly. Moreover, you should be aware that we and other participants in the transactions in which we are involved (including their advisors) might be subject to disclosure or other requirements pursuant to these regulations.

<u>Passive Activity Losses and Investment Interest Limitations</u>. Distributions that we make and gains arising from the sale or exchange by a U.S. stockholder of our stock will not be treated as passive activity income. As a result, stockholders will not be able to apply any passive losses against income or gain relating to our stock. To the extent that distributions we make do not constitute a return of capital, they will be treated as investment income for purposes of computing the investment interest limitation.

Stock Distributions. We may make distributions to holders of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock that are paid in common stock. These distributions will generally be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes as if the holder received a distribution of cash in an amount equal to the fair market value of the distributed common stock on the date of the distribution and thus would generally be subject to the rules described under Distributions . Accordingly, a U.S. stockholder may have a tax liability on account of such distribution in excess of the cash (if any) that is received. A U.S. stockholder s tax basis in any common stock received as a distribution on the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock will generally equal the fair market value of the common stock on the date of the distribution, and the holding period for that common stock will begin on the day after the distribution.

Adjustments to the Conversion Rate. The conversion rate of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock will be adjusted in certain circumstances. Adjustments (or failure to make adjustments) that have the effect of increasing a U.S. stockholder s proportionate interest in our assets or earnings may, in some circumstances, result in a deemed distribution to the U.S. stockholder. Adjustments to the conversion rate made pursuant to a bona fide reasonable adjustment formula that has the effect of preventing the dilution of the interest of the U.S. stockholder of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock, however, will generally not be considered to result in a deemed distribution to the U.S. stockholder. Certain of the possible conversion rate adjustments provided in the terms of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock (including adjustments in respect of taxable dividends paid to holders of common stock) may not qualify as being pursuant to a bona fide reasonable adjustment formula. If adjustments that do not qualify as being pursuant to a bona fide reasonable adjustment formula are made, U.S. stockholders of CCR Convertible Preferred Stock will be deemed to have received a distribution even though they have not received any cash or property. Any deemed distribution will be taxable as a dividend, return of capital, or capital gain as described above under Distributions.

Conversion into Common Stock. A U.S. stockholder generally will not recognize gain or loss upon the conversion of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock into shares of common stock, except that (1) a U.S. stockholder s receipt of cash (if any) in respect of accrued and unpaid dividends or dividends in arrears will be taxable as described under Distributions above, (2) a U.S. stockholder s receipt of common stock (if any) in respect of accrued and unpaid dividends or dividends in arrears will be taxable as described under Distributions above as if the U.S. stockholder had

received cash in respect of such accrued dividends or dividends in arrears equal to the fair market value of such common stock on the date of conversion and (3) a U.S. stockholder s receipt of cash in lieu of a fractional share of our common stock will result in capital gain or loss (measured by the difference between the cash received in lieu of the fractional share of our common stock and the holder s tax basis in the fractional share of our common stock).

Except as discussed in the next sentence, a U.S. stockholder s basis in shares of common stock received upon conversion of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock (and any fractional shares of our common stock treated as received and then exchanged for cash) will equal the basis of the converted shares of CCR Convertible Preferred

Stock and the holding period of such shares of common stock will include the holding period of the

128

converted shares of CCR Convertible Preferred Stock. Common stock received in payment of dividends in arrears and taxed as a dividend upon receipt, if any, will have a basis equal to their fair market value on the date of conversion, and a new holding period which will commence on the day after the conversion.

Additional Shares of Common Stock Received. Although it is not free from doubt, any additional shares of common stock received by a U.S. stockholder as a result of a fundamental change (see Description of CCR Capital Stock CCR Convertible Preferred Stock Conversion at the Option of the Holder upon Fundamental Change; Fundamental Change Dividend Make-whole Amount) should be treated as part of the consideration received in the conversion. If this treatment is correct, then the U.S. stockholder would be treated in the manner described above under Conversion into Common Stock . U.S. stockholders should consult their own tax advisors to determine the specific tax treatment of such additional shares in their particular circumstances.

<u>Medicare 3.8% Tax on Investment Income</u>. Certain U.S. stockholders who are individuals, estates or trusts and whose income exceeds certain thresholds will be required to pay a 3.8% Medicare tax on dividends and certain other investment income, including capital gains from the sale or other disposition of our stock.

Taxation of Non-U.S. Stockholders

Ordinary Dividends. The portion of dividends received by non-U.S. stockholders that (i) is payable out of our earnings and profits, (ii) is not attributable to capital gains that we recognize and (iii) is not effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business of the non-U.S. stockholder, will be subject to U.S. withholding tax at the rate of 30%, unless reduced or eliminated by treaty.

In general, non-U.S. stockholders will not be considered to be engaged in a U.S. trade or business solely as a result of their ownership of our stock. In cases where the dividend income from a non-U.S. stockholder s investment in our stock is, or is treated as, effectively connected with the non-U.S. stockholder s conduct of a U.S. trade or business, the non-U.S. stockholder generally will be subject to U.S. federal income tax at graduated rates, in the same manner as U.S. stockholders are taxed with respect to such dividends. Such effectively connected income must generally be reported on a U.S. income tax return filed by or on behalf of the non-U.S. stockholder. The income may also be subject to a branch profits tax at the rate of 30% (unless reduced or eliminated by treaty) in the case of a non-U.S. stockholder that is a corporation.

Non-Dividend Distributions. Unless our stock constitutes a U.S. real property interest (USRPI), distributions that we make which are not dividends out of our earnings and profits will generally not be subject to U.S. income tax. If we cannot determine at the time a distribution is made whether or not the distribution will exceed current and accumulated earnings and profits, the distribution (including distributions consisting of common stock received on conversion attributable to undeclared, accumulated and unpaid dividends or dividends in arrears (if any)) will be subject to withholding at the rate applicable to dividends. The non-U.S. stockholder may seek a refund from the IRS of any amounts withheld if it is subsequently determined that the distribution was, in fact, in excess of our current and accumulated earnings and profits. If our stock constitutes a USRPI, as described below, distributions that we make in excess of the sum of (i) the stockholder s proportionate share of our earnings and profits, plus (ii) the stockholder s basis in its stock, will be taxed under the Foreign Investment in Real Property Tax Act of 1980 (FIRPTA), at the rate of tax, including any applicable capital gains rates, that would apply to a U.S. stockholder of the same type (e.g., an individual or a corporation, as the case may be), and the collection of the tax will be enforced by a withholding at a rate of 10% of the amount by which the distribution exceeds the stockholder s share of our earnings and profits.

<u>Capital Gain Dividends</u>. Under FIRPTA, a distribution that we make to a non-U.S. stockholder, to the extent attributable to gains from dispositions of USRPIs that we held directly or through pass-through subsidiaries, or USRPI

capital gains, will, except as described below, be considered effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business of the non-U.S. stockholder and will be subject to U.S. income tax at the rates applicable to U.S. individuals or corporations, without regard to whether we designate the distribution as a capital gain dividend.

129

See above under Ordinary Dividends , for a discussion of the consequences of income that is effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business. In addition, we will be required to withhold tax equal to 35% of the maximum amount that could have been designated as USRPI capital gains dividends. Distributions subject to FIRPTA may also be subject to a branch profits tax at the rate of 30% (unless reduced or eliminated by treaty) in the hands of a non-U.S. stockholder that is a corporation. A distribution is not attributable to USRPI capital gain if we held an interest in the underlying asset solely as a creditor. Capital gain dividends received by a non-U.S. stockholder that are attributable to dispositions of our assets other than USRPIs are not subject to U.S. federal income or withholding tax, unless (i) the gain is effectively connected with the non-U.S. stockholder s U.S. trade or business, in which case the non-U.S. stockholder would be subject to the same treatment as U.S. stockholders with respect to such gain, except that a non-U.S. stockholder that is a corporation may also be subject to a branch profits tax at the rate of 30% (unless reduced or eliminated by treaty), or (ii) the non-U.S. stockholder is a nonresident alien individual who was present in the United States for 183 days or more during the taxable year and has a tax home in the United States, in which case the non-U.S. stockholder will incur a 30% tax on his capital gains. We expect that a significant portion of our assets will be USRPIs.

A capital gain dividend that would otherwise have been treated as a USRPI capital gain will not be so treated or be subject to FIRPTA, and generally will not be treated as income that is effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business, and instead will be treated in the same manner as an ordinary dividend (see Ordinary Dividends), if (i) the capital gain dividend is received with respect to a class of stock that is regularly traded on an established securities market located in the United States and (ii) the recipient non-U.S. stockholder does not own more than 5% of that class of stock at any time during the year ending on the date on which the capital gain dividend is received. We anticipate that our stock will be regularly traded on an established securities exchange.

Stock Distributions. We may make distributions to holders of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock that are paid in common stock. These distributions will generally be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes as if the holder received a distribution of cash in an amount equal to the fair market value of the distributed common stock on the date of the distribution and thus would generally be subject to the rules described under Ordinary Dividends, Non-Dividend Distributions and Capital Gain Dividends. If we are required to withhold an amount in excess of any cash distributed along with the common stock, we will retain and sell some of the common stock that would otherwise be distributed in order to satisfy our withholding obligations.

Adjustments to the Conversion Rate. As described above under Taxation of Taxable U.S. Stockholders Adjustments to the Conversion Rate , adjustments to the conversion rate (or failure to make adjustments) that have the effect of increasing a non-U.S. stockholder s proportionate interest in our assets or earnings may, in some circumstances, result in a deemed distribution to the non-U.S. stockholder that are taxed as described above under Ordinary Dividends , Non-Dividend Distributions and Capital Gain Dividends . Any constructive dividend deemed paid to a non-U.S. stockholder will be subject to U.S. federal withholding tax at the rate of 30%, unless reduced or eliminated by treaty. However, any constructive dividends that are effectively connected with the conduct of a trade or business by a

However, any constructive dividends that are effectively connected with the conduct of a trade or business by a non-U.S. stockholder within the United States will be taxed as described above under Ordinary Dividends. Any withholding tax that we are required to pay on behalf of a non-U.S. stockholder will reduce future amounts otherwise payable to such stockholder.

Conversion into Common Stock. A non-U.S. stockholder will not recognize gain or loss in respect of the receipt of common stock upon the conversion of the CCR Convertible Preferred Stock, except that shares of our common stock received that are attributable to undeclared, accumulated and unpaid dividends or dividends in arrears, if any, will be treated in the manner described above under Ordinary Dividends, Non-Dividend Distributions and Capital Gain Dividends.

<u>Dispositions of Our Stock</u>. Unless our stock constitutes a USRPI, a sale of our stock by a non-U.S. stockholder generally will not be subject to U.S. taxation under FIRPTA. Subject to certain exceptions discussed below, our stock will be treated as a USRPI if 50% or more of our assets throughout a prescribed testing period consist of interests in real property located within the United States, excluding, for this purpose, interests in real property solely in a capacity as a creditor. We expect that 50% or more of our assets will consist of USRPIs.

130

Even if the foregoing 50% test is met, however, our stock will not constitute a USRPI if we are a domestically controlled qualified investment entity includes a REIT, less than 50% of value of which is held, directly or indirectly, by non-U.S. stockholders at all times during a specified testing period. The CCR Charter will contain certain restrictions designed to protect our status as a domestically controlled qualified investment entity , and we intend to be a domestically controlled qualified investment entity, and that a sale of our stock should not be subject to taxation under FIRPTA. However, no assurance can be given that we will be or will remain a domestically controlled qualified investment entity.

In the event that we are not a domestically controlled qualified investment entity, but our stock is regularly traded, as defined by applicable Treasury regulations, on an established securities market, a non-U.S. stockholder is sale of our stock nonetheless also would not be subject to tax under FIRPTA as a sale of a USRPI, provided that the selling non-U.S. stockholder held 5% or less of the relevant class of such stock any time during a prescribed testing period. We expect that our stock will be regularly traded on an established securities market.

If gain on the sale of our stock were subject to taxation under FIRPTA, the non-U.S. stockholder would be required to file a U.S. federal income tax return and would be subject to the same treatment as a U.S. stockholder with respect to such gain, subject to applicable alternative minimum tax and a special alternative minimum tax in the case of non-resident alien individuals. Moreover, in order to enforce the collection of the tax, the purchaser of the stock could be required to withhold 10% of the purchase price and remit such amount to the IRS.

Gain from the sale of our stock (other than a conversion into common stock) that would not otherwise be subject to FIRPTA will nonetheless be taxable in the United States to a non-U.S. stockholder in two cases: (i) if the non-U.S. stockholder is investment in our stock is effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business conducted by such non-U.S. stockholder, the non-U.S. stockholder will be subject to the same treatment as a U.S. stockholder with respect to such gain, except that a non-U.S. stockholder that is a corporation may also be subject to a branch profits tax at a rate of 30% (unless reduced or eliminated by treaty), or (ii) if the non-U.S. stockholder is a nonresident alien individual who was present in the United States for 183 days or more during the taxable year and has a tax home in the United States, the nonresident alien individual will be subject to a 30% tax on the individual s capital gain. In addition, even if we are a domestically controlled qualified investment entity, upon disposition of our stock (subject to the 5% exception applicable to regularly traded stock described above), a non-U.S. stockholder may be treated as having gain from the sale or exchange of a USRPI if the non-U.S. stockholder (a) disposes of our stock within a 30-day period preceding the ex-dividend date of a distribution, any portion of which, but for the disposition, would have been treated as gain from the sale or exchange of a USRPI and (b) acquires, or enters into a contract or option to acquire, other shares of our stock within 30 days after such ex-dividend date.

Estate tax. If our stock is owned or treated as owned by an individual who is not a citizen or resident (as specially defined for U.S. federal estate tax purposes) of the United States at the time of such individual s death, the stock will be includable in the individual s gross estate for U.S. federal estate tax purposes, unless an applicable estate tax treaty provides otherwise, and may therefore be subject to U.S. federal estate tax.

Non-U.S. stockholders are urged to consult their tax advisors regarding the U.S. federal, state, local and foreign income and other tax consequences of owning our stock.

Taxation of Tax-Exempt Stockholders

Tax-exempt entities, including qualified employee pension and profit sharing trusts and individual retirement accounts, generally are exempt from U.S. federal income taxation. However, they may be subject to taxation on their unrelated business taxable income (UBTI). While some investments in real estate may generate UBTI, the IRS has

ruled that dividend distributions from a REIT to a tax-exempt entity do not constitute UBTI. Based on that ruling, and provided that (i) a tax-exempt stockholder has not held our stock as debt

131

financed property within the meaning of the Code (i.e., where the acquisition or holding of the property is financed through a borrowing by the tax-exempt stockholder) and (ii) our stock is not otherwise used in an unrelated trade or business, distributions that we make and income from the sale of our stock generally should not give rise to UBTI to a tax-exempt stockholder.

Tax-exempt stockholders that are social clubs, voluntary employee benefit associations, supplemental unemployment benefit trusts, and qualified group legal services plans exempt from U.S. federal income taxation under sections 501(c)(7), (c)(9), (c)(17) and (c)(20) of the Code are subject to different UBTI rules, which generally require such stockholders to characterize distributions that we make as UBTI.

In certain circumstances, a pension trust that owns more than 10% of our stock could be required to treat a percentage of any dividends received from us as UBTI if we are a pension-held REIT . We will not be a pension-held REIT unless (i) we are required to look through one or more of our pension trust stockholders in order to satisfy the REIT closely-held test and (ii) either (a) one pension trust owns more than 25% of the value of our stock or (b) one or more pension trusts, each individually holding more than 10% of the value of our stock, collectively own more than 50% of the value of our stock. Certain restrictions on ownership and transfer of our stock generally should prevent a tax-exempt entity from owning more than 10% of the value of our stock and generally should prevent us from becoming a pension-held REIT.

Tax-exempt stockholders are urged to consult their tax advisors regarding the U.S. federal, state, local and foreign income and other tax consequences of owning our stock.

Legislative or Other Actions Affecting REITs

The present U.S. federal income tax treatment of REITs may be modified, possibly with retroactive effect, by legislative, judicial or administrative action at any time. The REIT rules are constantly under review by persons involved in the legislative process and by the IRS and the Treasury which may result in statutory changes as well as revisions to regulations and interpretations. Changes to the U.S. federal tax laws and interpretations thereof could adversely affect an investment in our stock.

Other Tax Considerations

Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act

Legislation enacted in 2010 and existing guidance issued thereunder will require, after June 30, 2014, withholding at a rate of 30% on dividends in respect of, and, after December 31, 2016, gross proceeds from the sale of, our stock held by or through certain foreign financial institutions (including investment funds), unless such institution enters into an agreement with the Treasury to report, on an annual basis, information with respect to shares in the institution held by certain U.S. persons and by certain non-U.S. entities that are wholly or partially owned by U.S. persons and to withhold on certain payments. An intergovernmental agreement between the United States and an applicable foreign country, or future Treasury regulations or other guidance may modify these requirements. Accordingly, the entity through which our stock is held will affect the determination of whether such withholding is required. Similarly, dividends in respect of, and gross proceeds from the sale of, our stock held by an investor that is a non-financial non-U.S. entity which does not qualify under certain exemptions will be subject to withholding at a rate of 30%, unless such entity either (i) certifies to us that such entity does not have any substantial United States owners or (ii) provides certain information regarding the entity substantial United States owners, which we will in turn provide to the Secretary of the Treasury. We will not pay any additional amounts to stockholders in respect of any amounts withheld. Non-U.S. stockholders are encouraged to consult their tax advisors regarding the possible implications of

the legislation on their investment in our stock.

State, Local and Foreign Taxes

We and our subsidiaries and stockholders may be subject to state, local or foreign taxation in various jurisdictions including those in which we or they transact business, own property or reside. Our state, local or foreign tax treatment and that of our stockholders may not conform to the U.S. federal income tax treatment discussed above. Our foreign subsidiaries most likely will be subject to foreign income taxation. Any foreign taxes that we incur do not pass through to stockholders as a credit against their U.S. federal income tax liability. Prospective investors should consult their tax advisors regarding the application and effect of state, local and foreign income and other tax laws on an investment in our stock.

LEGAL MATTERS

The validity of the shares of CCR common stock and CCR Convertible Preferred Stock to be issued to the holders of Crown Castle common stock and the holders of Crown Castle Convertible Preferred Stock, respectively, pursuant to the merger will be passed upon for us by Cravath, Swaine & Moore LLP, New York, New York. Certain tax matters will be passed upon by each of Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP, Chicago, Illinois, and Cravath, Swaine & Moore LLP, New York, New York.

EXPERTS

The balance sheet of Crown Castle REIT Inc. as of June 9, 2014 included in this proxy statement/prospectus has been so included in reliance on the report of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, given on the authority of said firm as experts in auditing and accounting.

The consolidated financial statements, the financial statement schedule and management s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting (which is included in Management s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting) of Crown Castle International Corp., incorporated in this proxy statement/prospectus by reference to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, have been so incorporated in reliance on the report of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, given on the authority of said firm as experts in auditing and accounting.

The Statement of Revenues and Certain Expenses of Tower Sites (a component of AT&T Inc.) for the year ended December 31, 2012 included in Exhibit 99.1 of the Crown Castle International Corp. Current Report on Form 8-K/A dated January 17, 2014 has been incorporated herein by reference in reliance upon the report of Ernst & Young LLP, independent auditors, given on the authority of said firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

134

PROPOSALS OF STOCKHOLDERS

Stockholders wishing to have a proposal included in our 2015 proxy statement must submit the proposal so that our Corporate Secretary receives it at our principal executive offices no later than December 9, 2014. If the date of our 2015 annual meeting is changed by more than 30 days from the date of our 2014 annual meeting, the deadline for submitting proposals to be included in our 2015 proxy statement will be a reasonable time before we begin to print and mail our proxy materials for our 2015 annual meeting.

Stockholders may make nominations for directors and introduce proposals or other business to be considered at our 2015 annual meeting, provided such nominations, proposals and other business are made in accordance with our by-laws and involve proper matters for stockholder action. Such stockholder nominations and proposals and other business for our 2015 annual meeting must be received not less than 90 days (March 1, 2015) nor more than 120 days (January 30, 2015) before May 30, 2015 (the first anniversary date of our 2014 annual meeting) at our offices located at Crown Castle International Corp., 1220 Augusta Drive, Suite 600, Houston, TX 77057, Attn: Corporate Secretary. If our 2015 annual meeting is advanced by more than 30 days, or delayed by more than 90 days, from the date of our 2014 annual meeting, the nomination or proposal must be delivered not earlier than the 120th day prior to our 2015 annual meeting and not later than the later of the 90th day prior to our 2015 annual meeting or the 10th day following the announcement of the change in our 2015 annual meeting date. The notice of nominations for the election of directors must set forth certain information concerning the stockholder giving the notice and each nominee. A copy of the applicable by-law provision may be obtained, without charge, upon written request to our Corporate Secretary.

If the date of our 2015 annual meeting is advanced or delayed by more than 30 calendar days from the date of our 2014 annual meeting, we shall, in a timely manner, inform stockholders of such change, by including a notice, under Item 5, in our earliest possible quarterly report on Form 10-Q. The notice will include the new deadline for submitting proposals to be included in our 2015 proxy statement and the new date for determining whether we have received timely notice of a nomination or proposal.

135

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

Crown Castle files annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. Crown Castle s SEC filings are available to the public over the internet at the SEC s website at http://www.sec.gov. You may also read and copy any document Crown Castle files with the SEC at the SEC s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the Public Reference Room. Crown Castle s SEC filings are also available through the investor relations section of Crown Castle s website at http://investor.crowncastle.com. Except for documents incorporated by reference into this proxy statement/prospectus as described below, no information in, or that can be accessed through, Crown Castle s website is incorporated by reference into this proxy statement/prospectus, and no such information should be considered as part of this proxy statement/prospectus.

We are incorporating by reference into this proxy statement/prospectus specific documents that we file with the SEC, which means that we can disclose important information to you by referring you to those documents that are considered part of this proxy statement/prospectus. Information that we file subsequently with the SEC will automatically update and supersede this information. We incorporate by reference the documents listed below, and any future documents that we file with the SEC under Section 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act between the date of this proxy statement/prospectus and the date of the special meeting (other than information furnished under Items 2.02 or 7.01 of any Form 8-K or Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, which is not deemed filed under the Exchange Act).

We are incorporating by reference into this proxy statement/prospectus the following documents filed with the SEC (excluding any portions of such documents that have been furnished but not filed for purposes of the Exchange Act):

our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013;

our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended March 31, 2014 and June 30, 2014;

our Definitive Proxy Statement filed April 7, 2014;

our Current Reports on Form 8-K filed December 16, 2013 (relating to Items 2.01 and 9.01) (as amended by Amendment No. 1 to such Form 8-K, filed on Form 8-K/A, on January 21, 2014), January 6, 2014 (two reports), January 21, 2014, February 21, 2014 (relating to Item 5.02) (as amended by Amendment No. 1 to such Form 8-K, filed on Form 8-K/A, on May 30, 2014), February 26, 2014, April 2, 2014 (relating to Items 1.01, 8.01 and 9.01), April 15, 2014, May 30, 2014 (relating to Item 5.07), June 3, 2014, June 13, 2014, July 1, 2014, September 2, 2014, September 23, 2014 and September 26, 2014; and

the Description of Capital Stock section of our Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed with the SEC on August 4, 1998, the Description of Capital Stock section of our Registration Statement on Form S-3 filed with the SEC on July 10, 2000, as amended by Amendment No. 1 to Form S-3 filed with the SEC on July 17, 2000, the Description of Crown Castle Capital Stock section of our Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed with the SEC on November 6, 2006, as amended by Amendment No. 1 to Form S-4 filed with the

SEC on November 29, 2006, the Description of Capital Stock section of our Registration Statement on Form S-3 filed with the SEC on January 16, 2009, the Description of Capital Stock section of our Registration Statement on Form S-3 filed with the SEC on April 3, 2012, the Description of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock section of our Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed with the SEC on October 28, 2013 and any other amendments and reports filed for the purpose of updating such description.

We will provide to each person, including any beneficial owner, to whom a proxy statement/prospectus is delivered, upon written or oral request and without charge, a copy of the documents referred to above that we have incorporated in this proxy statement/prospectus by reference. You can request copies of such documents if

136

you write or call us at the following address or telephone number: Investor Relations, Crown Castle International Corp., 1220 Augusta Drive, Suite 600, Houston, Texas 77057, (713) 570-3000, or you may visit the investor relations section of our website at http://investor.crowncastle.com for copies of any such document.

This proxy statement/prospectus or information incorporated by reference herein contains summaries of certain agreements that we have filed as exhibits to various SEC filings. The descriptions of these agreements contained in this proxy statement/prospectus or information incorporated by reference herein do not purport to be complete and are subject to, and qualified in their entirety by reference to, the definitive agreements. Copies of the definitive agreements will be made available without charge to you by making a written or oral request to us in the manner provided for above.

Any statement contained herein or in a document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference herein shall be deemed to be modified or superseded for purposes of this proxy statement/prospectus to the extent that a statement contained herein, in any other subsequently filed document which also is or is deemed to be incorporated by reference herein, modifies or supersedes such statement. Any such statement so modified or superseded shall not be deemed, except as so modified and superseded, to constitute a part of this proxy statement/prospectus.

Upon completion of the merger, CCR will be required to file annual, quarterly and special reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC.

137

ANNEX A

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER (this <u>Agreement</u>), dated as of September 19, 2014, by and between Crown Castle International Corp., a Delaware corporation (<u>CCI</u>), and Crown Castle REIT Inc., a Delaware corporation (<u>CCR</u>).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, CCI has completed the steps necessary in order to operate in compliance with the rules governing a real estate investment trust (<u>REIT</u>) and began operating as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes, effective January 1, 2014 (collectively, the <u>REIT Conversion</u>);

WHEREAS, CCR is a wholly owned direct subsidiary of CCI formed in connection with the Merger (as defined below);

WHEREAS, in connection with the REIT Conversion, CCI contemplates, among other things, the merger of CCI with and into CCR pursuant to this Agreement;

WHEREAS, as a result of the Merger, CCR will be renamed Crown Castle International Corp. and will succeed to the assets, continue to operate the business and assume the obligations of CCI;

WHEREAS, Section 251 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (<u>DGC</u>L) authorizes the merger of a Delaware corporation with and into another Delaware corporation;

WHEREAS, for U.S. federal income tax purposes it is intended that the Merger qualify as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a)(1)(F) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (<u>Code</u>); and

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of CCI (<u>CCI Board</u>) and the Board of Directors of CCR (<u>CCR Board</u>) each has determined that the Merger and this Agreement are advisable and in the best interests of each such corporation and its respective stockholders and each has approved this Agreement and the Merger on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement and authorized this Agreement to be submitted to a vote of its respective stockholders entitled to vote hereon.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

THE MERGER; CLOSING; EFFECTIVE TIME; EFFECTS OF MERGER

1.1 *The Merger*. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, at the Effective Time (as defined in Section 1.3) and in accordance with Section 251 of the DGCL, CCI shall be merged with and into CCR and the separate corporate existence of CCI shall thereupon cease (<u>Merger</u>) and CCR shall be the surviving corporation of the Merger (sometimes hereinafter referred to as the <u>Surviving Corporation</u>) and the separate existence of CCR will continue unaffected by the Merger.

A-1

- 1.2 *The Closing*. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the closing of the Merger (<u>Closing</u>) shall take place at such time, date and place as the parties may agree but in no event prior to the satisfaction or waiver, to the extent permitted by law, of the conditions set forth in Section 3.1. The date on which the Closing occurs is hereinafter referred to as the <u>Closing Date</u>.
- 1.3 Effective Time. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, following the Closing, the parties hereto shall, at such time as they deem advisable, cause a certificate of merger (<u>Certificate of Merger</u>) to be executed and filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware and make all other filings or recordings required by Delaware law in connection with the Merger. The Merger shall become effective upon the filing of the Certificate of Merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware or at such later time as CCI and CCR shall agree and specify in the Certificate of Merger (<u>Effective Time</u>).
- 1.4 Certificate of Incorporation and By-laws.
- (a) The Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of CCR, as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time, shall be the certificate of incorporation of the Surviving Corporation, except that Article I shall be amended to read as follows:

The name of the corporation (which is hereinafter referred to as the *Corporation*) is: Crown Castle International Corp.

- (b) The Amended and Restated By-laws of CCR, as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time, shall be the by-laws of the Surviving Corporation until the same shall thereafter be altered, amended or repealed, except that the name of the corporation therein shall be amended to Crown Castle International Corp.
- 1.5 Directors and Officers of the Surviving Corporation. From and after the Effective Time, the directors and officers of CCI serving as directors or officers of CCI immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be the directors and officers of the Surviving Corporation, and each director and officer will continue his or her directorship or employment, as the case may be, with the Surviving Corporation under the same terms as his or her directorship or employment with CCI.
- 1.6 Effects of Merger. The Merger shall have the effects specified in the DGCL and this Agreement.

ARTICLE II

EFFECT ON CAPITAL STOCK; EXCHANGE OF CERTIFICATES

- 2.1 *Effect on Capital Stock*. At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any further action on the part of CCI, CCR or the stockholders of such corporations, the following shall occur:
- (a) The outstanding shares of Common Stock, par value \$0.01 per share, of CCI (<u>CCI Common Stock</u>) issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time, other than those held in CCI s treasury (if any), shall be converted into the same number of validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable shares of Common Stock, par value \$0.01 per share, of the Surviving Corporation (<u>Surviving Corporation Common Stock</u>).
- (b) The outstanding shares of 4.50% Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, Series A, par value \$0.01 per share, of CCI (<u>CCI Preferred Stock</u>) issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time, other than those held in CCI s treasury (if any), shall be converted into the same number of validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable shares of 4.50% Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, Series A, par value \$0.01 per share, of the Surviving Corporation

(<u>Surviving Corporation Preferred Stock</u>).

A-2

- (c) All shares of CCI Common Stock and CCI Preferred Stock shall no longer be outstanding and shall be canceled and shall cease to exist. At the Effective Time, each certificate formerly representing shares of CCI Common Stock (<u>Certificate</u>) shall thereafter only represent the right to receive (i) a certificate representing the same number of shares of Surviving Corporation Common Stock and (ii) an amount equal to any dividend or other distribution pursuant to Section 2.4(c).
- (d) Each share of CCI Common Stock and CCI Preferred Stock held in CCI s treasury at the Effective Time shall, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of the holder thereof, cease to be outstanding, shall be canceled without payment of any consideration therefor and shall cease to exist.
- (e) Each share of Common Stock, par value \$0.01 per share, of CCR issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of CCR or the holder of such share, cease to be outstanding, shall be canceled without payment of any consideration therefor and shall cease to exist.
- 2.2 Dividends or Distributions Declared Prior to the Effective Time. CCI s obligations with respect to any dividends or other distributions to the holders of CCI Common Stock or CCI Preferred Stock that have been declared by CCI but not paid prior to the Effective Time will be assumed by the Surviving Corporation in accordance with the terms thereof (excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, any dividends or other distributions that may be deemed to have accrued, but have not been declared, on CCI Preferred Stock prior to the Effective Time).
- 2.3 CCI Stock Plans. At the Effective Time, the rights and obligations of CCI under the Crown Castle International Corp. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan and the Crown Castle International Corp. 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan (including all amendments or modifications, collectively, the _Plans) and related award agreements will be assumed by the Surviving Corporation in accordance with the terms thereof, and all equity-based awards with respect to shares of CCI Common Stock granted pursuant to the Plans and such agreements will be converted into corresponding equity-based awards with respect to shares of Surviving Corporation Common Stock, in each case, to the extent set forth in, and in accordance with, the terms of such Plans and related award agreements and on the same terms and conditions applicable to such awards prior to the conversion. The number of shares of CCI Common Stock available for grant or subject to outstanding equity-based awards granted under the Plans and certain terms under each of the Plans are set forth in Schedule 2.3. For the avoidance of doubt, CCI Common Stock subject to forfeiture restrictions and other terms of any Plan and related award agreements converted to Surviving Corporation Common Stock pursuant to Section 2.1(a) shall remain subject to the forfeiture restrictions and other such terms of such Plan and agreements.

2.4 Exchange of Certificates.

- (a) As of the Effective Time, the Surviving Corporation shall deposit, or shall cause to be deposited, with Computershare Inc., the transfer agent and registrar for the shares of Surviving Corporation Common Stock and the exchange agent for purposes of the Merger (<u>Exchange Agent</u>), for the benefit of the holders of Certificates, shares of Surviving Corporation Common Stock, in an amount sufficient to effect the exchange of all Certificates for shares of CCI Common Stock pursuant to Section 2.1(a). In addition, the Surviving Corporation shall deposit, or shall cause to be deposited, with the Exchange Agent, for the benefit of holders of Certificates as necessary from time to time after the Effective Time, any dividends or other distributions payable pursuant to Section 2.4(c).
- (b) As soon as reasonably practicable after the Effective Time, the Surviving Corporation shall cause the Exchange Agent to mail to each holder of record of a Certificate (i) a letter of transmittal which shall specify that delivery shall be effected, and risk of loss and title to the Certificate shall pass, only upon delivery of the Certificate to the Exchange Agent and shall be in such form and have such other provisions as the Surviving Corporation may reasonably specify and (ii) instructions for use in effecting the surrender of the Certificates in

A-3

exchange for certificates representing shares of Surviving Corporation Common Stock. Upon surrender of a Certificate for cancellation to the Exchange Agent together with such letter of transmittal, duly executed and completed in accordance with the instructions thereto, the Certificate so surrendered shall forthwith be cancelled, and the holder of such Certificate shall be entitled to receive in exchange therefor (A) a certificate representing the number of shares of Surviving Corporation Common Stock (or evidence of shares in book-entry form) which such holder has the right to receive in respect of the Certificate surrendered pursuant to the provisions of this Article II and (B) the payment of any of dividends and other distributions that such holder has the right to receive pursuant to Section 2.4(c). No interest shall accrue or be paid on any Merger consideration or on unpaid dividends and distributions payable to holders of Certificates. In the event of a surrender of a Certificate representing shares of CCI Common Stock in exchange for a certificate representing shares of Surviving Corporation Common Stock (or evidence of shares in book-entry form) in the name of a person other than the person in whose name such shares of CCI Common Stock are registered, a certificate representing the proper number of shares of Surviving Corporation Common Stock (or evidence of shares in book-entry form) may be issued to such a transferee if the Certificate representing such securities is presented to the Exchange Agent, accompanied by all documents required by the Exchange Agent or the Surviving Corporation to evidence and effect such transfer and to evidence that any applicable transfer taxes have been paid.

- (c) No dividends or other distributions declared by the Surviving Corporation in respect of Surviving Corporation Common Stock, the record date for which is at or after the Effective Time, shall be paid by the Exchange Agent to any holder of any unsurrendered Certificate until such Certificate is surrendered for exchange in accordance with this Article II. Subject to the effect of applicable laws, following surrender of any such Certificate, the Exchange Agent shall release to the holder of the certificates representing whole shares of Surviving Corporation Common Stock (or evidence of shares in book-entry form) issued in exchange therefor, without interest, (A) at the time of such surrender, the previously reserved amount equal to the dividends or other distributions with a record date after the Effective Time theretofore payable with respect to such whole shares of Surviving Corporation Common Stock that had been held by the Exchange Agent for the benefit of such holder, and (B) at the appropriate payment date, the dividends or other distributions payable with respect to such whole shares of Surviving Corporation Common Stock with a record date after the Effective Time but with a payment date subsequent to surrender.
- (d) At and after the Effective Time, there shall be no transfers on the stock transfer books of CCI of shares of CCI Common Stock or CCI Preferred Stock which were outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time. If, after the Effective Time, Certificates are presented to the Surviving Corporation, they shall be canceled and exchanged for certificates representing shares of Surviving Corporation Common Stock (or evidence of shares in book-entry form) in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Article II.
- (e) Any former stockholders of CCI who have not complied with this Article II within one year after the Effective Time shall thereafter look only to the Surviving Corporation for release of (A) their previously reserved shares of Surviving Corporation Common Stock or Surviving Corporation Preferred Stock deliverable in respect of each share of CCI Common Stock or CCI Preferred Stock, as applicable, such stockholder holds as determined pursuant to this Agreement and (B) any dividends or other distributions paid on such shares for the benefit of such stockholders, without any interest thereon.
- (f) In the event any Certificate shall have been lost, stolen or destroyed, upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by the person claiming such Certificate to be lost, stolen or destroyed and, if required by the Surviving Corporation, the posting by such person of a bond in such reasonable amount as the Surviving Corporation may direct as indemnity against any claim that may be made against it with respect to such Certificate, the Exchange Agent or the Surviving Corporation will issue in exchange for such lost, stolen or destroyed Certificate the shares of Surviving Corporation Common Stock deliverable in respect thereof pursuant to this Agreement.

(g) None of CCI, the Surviving Corporation, the Exchange Agent or any other person shall be liable to any former holder of shares or securities of CCI for any amount properly delivered to a public official pursuant to any applicable abandoned property, escheat or similar laws.

A-4

ARTICLE III